
 

AGENDA 
MANDAN CITY COMMISSION 

JULY 21, 2015 
ED “BOSH” FROEHLICH MEETING ROOM, 

MANDAN CITY HALL 
5:30 P.M. 

www.cityofmandan.com 
 

 
 

 
A. ROLL CALL:  

1. Roll call of all City Commissioners. 
 
B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS; 

 
D. MINUTES: 

1. Consider approval of the minutes from the July 7, 2015 Board of 
City Commission Regular Meeting. 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARING: 

1. Conduct public hearing to consider adoption of new city code 
 

F. BIDS: 
1. Consider award of bids for insulation and rehabilitation of windows 

at Northern Pacific Beanery. 
 

G. CONSENT AGENDA: 
1. Consider approval of monthly bills. 
2. Acting as Board of Adjustment, consider lot coverage variance 

request for 1501 4th Ave. NE 
3. Consider approval of the pledge of securities reports as required by 

NDCC 21-04. 
4. Consider approval of temporary road closure at 15th St. NW from 6-

8:30 on September 21st.  
5. Consider approval of Change Order No. 2 to the Engineering 

Service Agreement with Stantec for SID #199. 
6. Consider Supplementary Agreement to Construction Engineering 

Agreement with KLJ for Safe Routes to School project for Red Trail 
sidewalk.  

7. Consider for approval the advertisement of bids for the sale of used 
water meters removed during the Water Meter Improvement 
Project. 

8. Consider approval of the Bond Counsel Agreement from Arntson 
Stewart Wegner. 

9. Consider Proclaiming November 1, 2015 as “Extra Mile Day” in the 
City of Mandan. 

 

  

http://www.cityofmandan.com/government/agenda.html


Agenda 
Mandan City Commission 

July 21, 2015 
Page 2 of 2 

 
10. Consider Approval of Law Enforcement Center Improvement 

Requests.  
11. Consider approval of liquor license transfer for the Old Town 

Tavern. 
 

H. OLD BUSINESS: 
1. Consider new rules and regulations at the Mandan Union Cemetery 

as proposed by the Cemetery Task Force Committee. 
 

I. NEW BUSINESS: 
1. Introduction of Police Officers Michael Breid, Jessica Krosch, 

Dominic Hanson and Code Enforcement Officer, Joseph Camisa. 
2. Consider appointment of new Morton Mandan Public Library Board 

of Trustees members.  
3. Consider recycling proposal options. 
4. Consider joint power agreement with park district 

 
J. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES: 

1. First consideration of Ordinance 1207 adopting new city code 
2. Second Consideration and Final Passage of Ordinance No. 1208 

rezoning Lakewood 8th Addition. 
3. Second Consideration and Final Passage of Ordinance No. 1212; 

An Ordinance to Amend and Re-enact Section 20-14-23(7) of the 
Mandan Code of Ordinances Relating to Parking of Certain 
Vehicles and Unattached Trailers Restricted. 

 
K. OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
L. FUTURE MEETING DATES FOR BOARD OF CITY COMMISSIONERS: 

1. August 4, 2015 
2. August 18, 2015 
3. September 1, 2015 
 

M. ADJOURN 
 
 
Public Communication  
A scheduled time for public participation has been placed on the agenda at Mandan City 
Commission meetings. The Board desires to hear the viewpoints of citizens throughout the City. 
Individuals wishing to address the Board are encouraged to make arrangements with the Board 
President or the City Administrator prior to the meeting. Comments should be made to the Board 
and not to individuals in the audience and be related to City operations and programs. The Board 
will not hear personal complaints against any person connected with the City. If a citizen would 
like to add a topic to the agenda, arrangements must be made in advance with the City 
Administrator or Board President. The Board reserves the right to eliminate or restrict the time 
allowed for public participation. The Board requests that comments are limited to three (3) 
minutes or less. Groups of individuals addressing a common concern are asked to designate a 
spokesperson. 

 



City of Mandan – Board of City Commissioners 

Minutes of July 7, 2015 

Page 1 of 5 

 The Mandan City Commission met in regular session at 5:30 p.m. on July 7, 2015 

in the Ed “Bosh” Froehlich Room at City Hall, Mandan, North Dakota.   

Commissioners present were Van Beek, Tibke (via teleconference), Rohr, Laber, and 

Braun.  Department Heads present were Finance Director Welch, Police Chief Bullinger, 

City Administrator Neubauer, Director of Public Works Wright, Fire Chief Nardello, 

Business Development Communications Director Huber, Planning & Engineering 

Director Froseth, Planner Decker, and Building Official Lalim. Absent: City Attorney 

Brown and Assessor Shaw. 

 

B.         APPROVAL OF AGENDA:   Commissioner Rohr moved to approve the Agenda 

as presented. Commissioner Laber seconded the motion.  The motion received 

unanimous approval of the members present. The motion passed. 

 

C.         PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS:  Mayor Van Beek invited anyone interested to 

speak for or against any items on the Agenda to come forward.  A second announcement 

was made to come forward to speak.  Hearing none, this portion of the Public 

Communications was closed.   

 

D. MINUTES: 

1.        Consider approval of the following minutes from the Board of City Commission 

June 16, 2015 regular meeting; June 22, 2015 – Joint Mtg. w/Park Board;  

June 22, 2015 –Working Session; June 30, 2015 – Special Meeting.  Commissioner 

Braun moved to approve the minutes as presented. Commissioner Laber seconded the 

motion.  The motion received unanimous approval of the members present. The motion 

passed. 

 

E.         PUBLIC HEARING: 

1.         Consider request to vacate portion of 42
nd

 St. NW: Planner Decker stated this is a 

request to vacate an undeveloped right-of-way parcel that is a dead end.  The applicants 

who border on this right-of-way have requested that it be vacated.  There is an existing 

small service sewer line in this right-of-way and the City would create a 30 ft. utility 

easement over that sewer line in replacement of the right-of-way.   

 

Mayor Van Beek invited anyone interested to speak for or against the request to vacate 

portion of 42
nd

 St. NW to come forward.  A second announcement was made to come 

forward to speak.  Hearing none, this portion of the public hearing was closed.   

 

Commissioner Laber commented that she has a concern with vacating a street that has 

been established and knowing that we have infrastructure in this right-of-way.  However,  

after viewing the project, she said she agrees with Mr. Decker’s assessment noting that it 

would not easily join or serve anyone and that consideration should be given to the 

request.   

 

F.         BIDS: 

 

 



City of Mandan – Board of City Commissioners 

Minutes of July 7, 2015 

Page 2 of 5 

G.        CONSENT AGENDA 

1.         Consider for approval Lakewood Commercial Park Fourth Replat. 

2.         Consider plat for West Hills Estates Fourth Addition. 

4.         Consider agreements with Lewis and Clark Regional Development Council for 

origination and servicing of loans associated with Bank of North Dakota PACE and Flex 

PACE interest buy-downs: (i) Developers, LLC (Memorial Square Shopping Center) 

(ii)  National Information Solutions Cooperative (iii) E-C ND Investments, LLC (Malloy 

Electric). 

5.         Consider request from Jay Perkins, Water Meter Maintenance Supervisor, to 

carryover 30.38 hours of annual leave for six months. 

6.         Consider approval of change order for extension of completion deadline for 

Water Treatment Plant Phase II Optimization. 

7.         Consider Proclaiming July, 2015 as Bis-Man Transit Public & Personal Transit 

Appreciation Month in the City of Mandan. 

8.         Consider approval of replat of Lot 9, Block 1, Macedonia Hills. 

9.         Consider Change Order for time extension on Water Meter Improvement Project 

to August 31, 2015. 

10.        Consider waiver of bid irregularity for Northern Pacific “Beanery” – 

Preservation Improvements. 

 

Commissioner Laber moved to approve Consent Agenda 1 thru 10, excluding No. 3 that 

was removed.   Commissioner Tibke seconded the motion.  Roll call vote:  Commissioner 

Rohr: Yes; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner Laber:  Yes; Commissioner Braun:  

Yes; Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion passed. 

 

H.        OLD BUSINESS: 

 

I.          NEW BUSINESS: 

1.         Consider request to de-annex County Parcel No. 65-5784300.  Planner Decker 

stated that this parcel was originally annexed in 2007.  The record shows that there was 

some discussion about needing this parcel for installation of a sewer lift station.  Staff 

comments indicated that further evaluation indicated it was no longer needed.  A Public 

hearing was held and the Ordinance was adopted at two subsequent meetings.  The 

motion at the Public Hearing was to exclude this property but when the Ordinance was 

adopted, it included it.  The property owner has requested that it be de-annexed.  A 

question arises because it is in the flood plain of the Heart River.  This property is mostly 

in the flood plain and some is even in the flood way which brought up the question if this 

should be continued because of future issues with the flood plain.   

 

Commissioner Laber asked if there is water within close proximity of this parcel.  

Planner Decker stated that since it is in the flood plain it is highly unlikely that the 

majority of this would be developed.  The history of this matter is that the applicant was 

originally the developer who developed the parcels to the south.  The City added 

additional parcels and noticed this annexation was allowed a protest because the original 

one was expanded.  It went through several steps which added this parcel then they 

discussed whether they needed it or not.  It stayed in the Ordinance and the actual 



City of Mandan – Board of City Commissioners 

Minutes of July 7, 2015 

Page 3 of 5 

property description was not changed. It was left in even though the motion at the end of 

the hearing was to leave it out. Now the question is should it be taken back out?   

 

Commissioner Rohr commented that the taxes have increased and perhaps there should 

be a minimal tax for the parcel of land that would not be such an increase.  Planner 

Decker mentioned that the primary issue is that the taxes have been lifted for various 

years.  Commissioner Rohr stated he would like to see the taxes at a low level because of 

the situation rather than solve the problem by de-annexation.  This is primarily a flood 

plain.  Commissioner Laber stated that “buildable” is in the imagination of the developer 

and she has a hard time with “not able to be developed” unless there is an easement on it. 

If it was a water way easement that would permanently restrict building on it. Otherwise 

there is a potential to use it.  The tax increase of $160 has happened.  She stated that she 

struggles with an action that happened in 2007.  If it was a recent error and it was brought 

to the City’s attention that would be fair.  However, 8 years later is a long time to not 

address it if it were a concern all these years.   

  

Commissioner Laber moved to deny the request to de-annex County Parcel No. 65-

5784300.  Commissioner Tibke seconded the motion.  Commissioner Rohr inquired if the 

landowner went through any assessment of the value procedures or did they just say this 

is too high?  Planner Decker replied that he is not aware of any action.  He said that it is a 

legitimate action and they could have it reviewed   Roll call vote:  Commissioner Rohr: 

Yes; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner Laber:  Yes; Commissioner Braun:  Yes; 

Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion passed. 

 

J.          RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES:    

1.         First consideration of Ordinance No. 1208 rezoning Lakewood 8th Addition.   

Planner Decker stated that this is the next phase of the Lakewood Project.  This is a 

rezoning to add more residential lots which is consistent with the plan for this 

subdivision. Commissioner Braun moved to approve the First consideration of Ordinance 

No. 1208 rezoning Lakewood 8th Addition.  Commissioner Rohr seconded the motion.  

Roll call vote:  Commissioner Rohr: Yes; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner 

Laber:  Yes; Commissioner Braun:  Yes; Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion 

passed. 

 

2.         Second consideration and final passage of Ordinance No. 1209 rezoning Lots 1-7, 

Block 1, Heart Ridge 2
nd

 Addition. Commissioner Laber moved to approve the Second  

consideration and final passage of Ordinance No. 1209 rezoning Lots 1-7, Block 1, Heart 

Ridge 2
nd

 Addition. Commissioner Braun seconded the motion.  Roll call vote:  

Commissioner Rohr: Yes; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner Laber:  Yes; 

Commissioner Braun:  Yes; Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion passed. 

 

3.         First consideration of Ordinance No. 1211 de-annexing County Parcel No. 65-

5784300.  This was denied in previous discussion.   

 

4.          Consider resolution vacating portion of 42
nd

 St. NW.   

Commissioner Rohr moved to approve the resolution vacating a portion of 42
nd

 St. NW 



City of Mandan – Board of City Commissioners 

Minutes of July 7, 2015 

Page 4 of 5 

and that the applicant file a plat adjusting the property boundaries and creating utility 

easement.  Commissioner Laber seconded the motion.  Roll call vote:  Commissioner 

Rohr: Yes; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner Laber:  Yes; Commissioner Braun:  

Yes; Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion passed. 

 

5.          Consider Introduction and First Consideration of Ordinance No. 1212; An 

Ordinance to Amend and Re-enact Section 20-14-23(7) of the Mandan Code of 

Ordinances Relating to Parking of Certain Vehicles and Unattached Trailers Restricted. 

Police Chief Bullinger presented this request stating that this is the first consideration of a 

proposed amendment to Section 20-14-23(7) of the Mandan Municipal Code of 

Ordinances which relates to parked vehicles and unattached trailers. The current 

ordinance says there is a 12 hr. limit for loading and unloading those vehicles.  Chief 

Bullinger stated that he has visited with the Bismarck Police Department.  He said that 

this request is to designate the period of time between May 15 and September 15 that 

would allow a trailer or vehicle to be parked on a street for a period not to exceed 72 hrs.  

On September 15 the ordinance would revert back to the 12 hr. limit until May 15
 
of the 

next year.  Bismarck has an Ordinance from May 1 thru October 1, wherein these types 

of vehicles can be parked on the street for 48 hrs. and then October 1 to May 1 they 

cannot be on the street at all.   

 

Commissioner Tibke stated a resident contacted her about parking his camper on a 

Thursday who was concerned that they run into problems because of the 12 hr. limit.  So 

it makes sense to allow the additional time of either 48 hrs. or 72 hrs.  Mayor Van Beek 

inquired if during the September 15
 
through May 15 period that residents could park on 

the street for the 12 hr. period and the rest of the time it would be extended to 48 or 72 

hours?  Mayor Van Beek inquired if that is something Mandan should consider for snow 

removal purposes? Chief Bullinger stated that it could be a consideration and he stated 

that the violation fee is $10 in Mandan and $20 in Bismarck. Mayor Bullinger said that 

increasing Mandan’s violation fee could also be looked at.  Commissioner Laber voiced 

concern about making sure safety issues are taken into consideration; in particular, if 

there is view obstruction caused by any parked vehicle.  Commissioner Braun 

commented that he is concerned about enforcement of parking violations and how that 

would be handled.   

 

Commissioner Laber moved to approve the Introduction and First Consideration of 

Ordinance No. 1212; An Ordinance to Amend and Re-enact Section 20-14-23(7) of the 

Mandan Code of Ordinances Relating to Parking of Certain Vehicles and Unattached 

Trailers Restricted to 72 hrs.  Commissioner Tibke seconded the motion.   

 

Tom Kopp, 2412 8
th

 Avenue Southeast, Mandan, came forward to speak.  He identified 

himself as the resident that had called Commissioner Tibke on this matter.  He stated that 

with regard to May 15
 
to September 15, he would like to do away with it all together 

because there are City residents that have no place else to put these vehicles.   He 

mentioned that he worked with another Mandan resident that let him put a camper pad on 

his property.  Kopp said that on his property he has a light pole on one side and a fire 

hydrant on the other side.  There were 2 trees on the boulevard when he purchased his 



City of Mandan – Board of City Commissioners 

Minutes of July 7, 2015 

Page 5 of 5 

house.  Just to get permission to cut the tree down he was able to get a hold of Kaiden 

and that was taken care of.  In order to back his camper in he has to go around the fire 

hydrant. There is an ordinance in place with regard to how far away you have to be from 

fire hydrants.  In essence, he complained that there is no allowance for him to put a 

parking pad on his property.   

 

Roll call vote:  Commissioner Rohr: No; Commissioner Tibke: Yes; Commissioner 

Laber:  Yes; Commissioner Braun:  No; Commissioner Van Beek:  Yes.  The motion 

passed. 

 

K.       OTHER BUSINESS:   

Mayor Van Beek extended a thank you to everyone who came out for the recent 4
th

 of 

July festivities.   

 

There being no further actions to come before the Board of City Commissioners, 

Commissioner Braun moved to adjourn the meeting at 6:05 p.m. Commissioner Laber 

seconded the motion.  The motion received unanimous approval of the members present. 

The motion passed. 

 

   

James Neubauer, 

City Administrator 

 

 Arlyn Van Beek,  

President, Board of City 

Commissioners 
 

 



Board of City Commissioners 
 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

 
PURPOSE. 
 

The city contracted with Municode to prepare an updated municipal code.  Municode produced a 

draft of the recommended new code referred to as a “Proof”.  The proof included both proposed 

deletions and additions and was 700 pages long.  The proof completely reorganized the code.  

The language in the code was edited to reflect current practice and updated language that 

complies with current state law. 

 

Staff reviewed the proof in detail and submitted recommended edits.  Municode incorporated the 

edits and produced a final draft.  That final draft is what is being considered today. 

 

Because of the complexity of this process, additional revisions will be needed.  Some changes 

that correct omissions or obvious errors are proposed to be adopted with the new code.  

Significant changes to policy and procedure will be dealt with by separate ordinances at a later 

date. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS.   
 

 The current code last received a major rewrite in 1994. 

 

 The current code is divided into 15 “Titles”.  The proposed new code is reorganized into 

two parts and contains 22 “Chapters”. 

 

o Subpart A includes chapters devoted to people oriented topics including general 

provisions; administration; alcoholic beverages; animals; emergency services; fire 

prevention and protection; licenses, permits and miscellaneous business 

regulations; municipal court; nuisances; offenses and miscellaneous provisions; 

personnel; taxation; and traffic and vehicles.  Numbers 1 – 100 are reserved for 

Subpart A. 

o Subpart B includes chapters devoted to infrastructure topics including 

administration and planning; cemeteries; district regulations (zoning); drainage 

and stormwater management: land subdivision; regulation of building 

construction; remediation; streets and utilities.  Numbers 101 – 200 are reserved 

MEETING DATE:  July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: June 25, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Engineering and Planning 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Justin Froseth, City Engineer 

PRESENTER: Robert Decker, Principal Planner 

SUBJECT: Conduct public hearing to consider adoption of 

new City Code (Ordinance No. 1207) 

 

  

Public Hearing No. 1  



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 2 of 7 

 

for Subpart B. 

 

 A lot of old language was deleted by Municode.  Much of the old language was in 

conflict with the current language contained in the North Dakota Century Code 

(N.D.C.C.). 

 

 Penalty clauses were standardized.  The old code had more than 50 penalty references 

that mostly repeated the same wording that was outdated.  The new code penalty 

references refer to the primary penalty section that specifies the penalties that the 

municipal judge is authorized by state law to impose. 

 

 A general statement was added to Chapter 1 indicating that the city does not have an 

auditor and that other positions provide those functions. 

 

 Some chapter headings were renamed so they would be in alphabetical order.  Some 

chapters were placed in a different order so they would follow the sequence of steps in 

the development process.  The Public Works chapter was split into 3 chapters since it was 

so long. 

 

SUMMARY OF CHANGES BY CHAPTER. 

 

Charter.  (formerly Home Rule Charter) 

 Only a couple typos have been fixed.  There is no need to re-adopt the charter. 

 

Chapter 1 – General Provisions.  (formerly Title 1 - General) 

 Definitions have been updated and new words added. 

 Lots of outdated or conflicting language removed. 

 New language is included in the appendix to the ordinance to allow the recommended 

penalty amount for selected minor infractions to be set by resolution of the board in order 

to allow for the issuance of citations with a specified penalty amount.  This allows 

someone to just pay the penalty without appearing in court.  The language specifies that 

the municipal judge still has discretion in imposing a penalty if a person choses to contest 

the citation. 

 New language is included in the appendix to the ordinance to designate the police chief 

and the code enforcement officer or their designees as the primary enforcement agents, 

unless another person is specifically named as the enforcement agent. 

 

Chapter 2 – Administration.  (formerly Title 2 – Administration and Governmental Organization) 

 Unnecessary and outdated wording removed.  Much of it was in conflict with N.D.C.C. 

current language. 

 Departments revised to reflect actual organization of city government. 

 Position names and descriptions revised. 

 References to auditor revised to reflect title of staff member responsible for various tasks. 

 Created separate water and sewer accounts for better accounting. 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 List of boards and commissions separated into three categories.  Some updates included 

in the amendments. 

 

Chapter 3 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 4 – Alcoholic Beverages.  (formerly Title 12 – Alcohol and Gaming Licenses and 

Permits) 

 Definitions updated and duplicates removed.  If a definition appeared in chapter 1 it 

didn’t need to be repeated. 

 Wording adjusted to reference N.D.C.C. as is or may be adjusted in future. 

 Penalties clarified. 

 

Chapter 5 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 6 – Animals.  (formerly Title 16 – Animal Control and Licenses) 

 Only minor editing. 

 The Police Chief has proposed some changes that will be dealt with by separate 

ordinance. 

 

Chapter 7 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 8 – Emergency Services.  (formerly Title 6 – Emergency Services) 

 Things that are handled by the county were deleted. 

 City Administrator specified as emergency services coordinator. 

 

Chapter 9 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 10 – Fire Prevention and Protection.  (formerly Title 7 – Fire Protection and Prevention) 

 Removed reference to fire marshal.  Made it fire code official. 

 Removed reference to fire code bureau. 

 

Chapter 11 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 12 – Licenses, Permits and Miscellaneous Business Regulations.  (formerly Title 13 – 

Business Regulations Licenses) 

 Things that are handled by Custer Health were removed 

o Environmental impact section. 

o Requirements for food handling establishments. 

 Fees tied to city commission resolution instead of being listed in code. 

 Appeal process wording modified. 

 Reference to social security number removed. 

 Penalty clauses linked to Chapter 1. 

 

Chapter 13 – Reserved. 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 

Chapter 14 – Municipal Court.  (formerly part of Title 2 – Administration and Governmental 

Organization) 

 All extraneous wording removed. 

 Hours set by judge instead of city commission. 

 Details on clerk position removed since covered by job description. 

 Requirement that judge designate and clerk collect certain fines removed. 

 Requirements for monthly report modified. 

 

Chapter 15 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 16 – Nuisances.  (formerly Title 17 – Public Nuisance) 

 Definitions updated. 

 References to board of health removed. 

 Rat abatement text removed. 

 A sentence was added to allow the city to dispose of surplus property through an on line 

auction. 

 Dutch elm wording updated. 

 Items such as requirements for snow removal on sidewalks moved to this chapter. 

 Beautification Committee considering recommendations for additional changes. 

 

Chapter 17 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 18 – Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions.  (formerly Title 19 – Criminal Code and 

General Offenses) 

 Definitions were edited. 

 Lots of text was deleted as either outdated, in conflict with state or federal law or a 

restatement of N.D.C.C. text, some of it outdated. 

 Because of the way citations are handled, using an N.D.C.C. number will result in the 

fine being directed to district court.  The appendix includes a cross reference section that 

provides a city code section number for each Century Code section number.  The Century 

Code text was included due to court procedures. 

 

Chapter 19 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 20 – Personnel.  (formerly Title 4 – Personnel Regulations) 

 Definitions updated. 

 Removed outdated or incorrect wording and removed wording if covered by N.D.C.C.. 

 Updated position titles. 

 The civil service commission language was revised to reflect current practice. 

 Hiring practices updated. 

 Recent changes to sick leave and pensions added. 

 Some word editing for clarity. 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 5 of 7 

 

 Section 20-8-8 wording updated in appendix to the ordinance. 

 

Chapter 21 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 22 – Taxation.  (formerly Title 3 – Fiscal Procedures) 

 Most editing related to conformance with N.D.C.C.. 

 Recent amendments related to sales tax increase for sports complex included in Appendix 

A. 

 

Chapter 23 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 24 – Traffic and Vehicles.  (formerly Title 20 – Traffic) 

 Much of this chapter was deleted because it restated North Dakota Century Code 

(N.D.C.C.) wording, some of it outdated.  A statement was added adopting N.D.C.C. title 

39 by reference.  However, a different numbering system must be used for municipal 

court.  Using N.D.C.C. numbers will result in fines being sent to district court.  The 

appendix includes a cross reference section that provides a city code section number for 

each N.D.C.C. section number.  The N.D.C.C. text was included due to court procedures.  

A statement was included directing people to the state web site for the official N.D.C.C. 

wording. 

 Fines and fees dollar amounts were removed in favor of specifying the type of penalty. 

 One minor edit has been included in the appendix that was a result of the state changing a 

definition.  What used to be called an all-terrain vehicle is now called an off-highway 

vehicle.  One of the changes was missed. 

 Amended language is included in the appendix to the ordinance to allow the 

recommended penalty amount for selected minor violation to be set by resolution of the 

board.  This allows people to pay the recommended amount without going to court.  If 

they choose to go to court the judge has discretion to impose any penalty allowed by law. 

 

Chapter 25-100 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 101 – Administration and Planning.  (formerly part of Title 21 – Planning and Zoning) 

 Minor edits to update language. 

 

Chapter 102 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 103 – Cemetery.  (formerly part of Title 9 – Public Utilities and Public Services) 

 Updated wording to reflect current practice. 

 

Chapter 104 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 105 – District Regulations (Zoning).  (formerly part of Title 21 – Planning and Zoning) 

 Multiple miscellaneous provisions were grouped together. 

 A section was added relative to sidewalks in new subdivisions. 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 6 of 7 

 

 A section was added to clarify that commercial vehicles are not allowed in residential 

districts except for deliveries. 

 Language was updated to indicate that the board of city commissioners functions as the 

board of adjustment. 

 The list of zoning districts was updated. 

 The LSMHS zone was deleted.  This was actually an overlay zone.  There are only 2 

subdivisions with this zone designation and neither one technically qualifies.  They are 

old subdivisions that have been fully built out.  There are numerous restrictions in this 

district that have not been enforced over the years.  These areas will be defaulted to R7 or 

rezoned to something else at a later date. 

 New flood plain maps will take effect October 16, 2015.  The flood plain district 

regulations have been updated in the appendix to reflect the date of the new maps.  

Additional minor editing was needed throughout the section.  It was easier to replace the 

whole section rather than edit numerous individual subsections. 

 There are proposed changes to district regulations that will be dealt with later by separate 

ordinance since they involve significant modifications to uses, requirements and 

procedures. 

 

Chapter 106 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 107 – Drainage and Stormwater Management.  (formerly part of Title 14 – Construction 

Building Regulations) 

 Reordered sections. 

 Minor editing. 

 

Chapter 108 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 109 – Land Subdivision.  (formerly part of Title 21 – Planning and Zoning) 

 Position titles updated. 

 Text modified to conform to N.D.C.C.. 

 Notification by electronic means added. 

 

Chapter 110 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 111 – Regulation of Building Construction.  (formerly Title 14 – Construction Building 

Regulations) 

 Updated position titles. 

 Standardized penalty clauses. 

 Removed obsolete language. 

 Removed wording in conflict with N.D.C.C.. 

 Sections 111-2-1 and 111-2-10 updates included in the appendix to the ordinance. 

 Additional revisions will be proposed by separate ordinance at a later date. 

 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Memorandum 

Subject: Public Hearing to consider adoption of New City Code 

Meeting Date:  July 21, 2015 

Page 7 of 7 

 

Chapter 112 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 113 –Remediation.  (formerly part of Title 21 – Planning and Zoning) 

 Appendices removed as not needed in code.  Ordinance number cited instead. 

 District boundaries added to text. 

 

Chapter 114 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 115 – Streets.  (formerly Title 10 – Streets Sidewalks Public Places) 

 Removed language related to unimproved parking lots. 

 Removed wording related to establishment of street grades as obsolete. 

 Moved barbed or razor wire limitation to zoning. 

 Numerous restrictions on the use of streets were removed as being more appropriate in 

the traffic or nuisance chapters. 

 Language related to sidewalks and curb and gutter updated. 

 

Chapter 116 – Reserved. 

 

Chapter 117 – Utilities.  (formerly Title 9 – Public Utilities and Public Services) 

 Moved some language to 102 Administration. 

 

ACTIONS. 

 

 Open Public Hearing 

 Close Public Hearing 

 Consider for adoption Resolutions and Ordinances Number 1 Ordinance 1207 

 

 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  To consider bids received for improvements to the Mandan 

Beanery. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  The Visitors Committee consists of Jay Feil, 

Shannon Gangl, Wally Joersz and Jim Mellon with Mayor Van Beek, City Administrator 

Jim Neubauer and Finance Director Greg Welch serving as liaisons. 

 

The Visitor’s Committee met on April 11, 2013.  Shannon Gangl motioned to approve up 

to $100,000 from the Visitors Fund to be used as a matching funds for updates to the 

Depot/Beanery. Jim Mellon Seconded the motion. Motion passes unanimously. 

 

Since that time we have engaged Hepper Olson Architects and applied and received a 

North Dakota Department of Transportation (ND DOT) Grant for preservation 

improvements of $77,772. The project was bid the spring of 2015 with no bidders and 

was rebid later in the spring with one responsive bidder.  The Commission, on July 7 

approved a waiver of an irregularity in the bid, and in turn the ND DOT reviewed the bids 

and has authorized the City to award the project to the low bidder, Paulson Contracting 

LLP, Emerado ND. 

 

Work to be done includes attic insulation, all wood windows rehab, dealing with lead 

paint, all new storm windows & miscellaneous tuck pointing and cleaning. It has been a 

challenging project to get bidders interested as it is a labor intensive project. 

 

ATTACHMENTS:   n/a 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   Bid Amount (base plus alternates) $200,000 

   Architect Fee (10% plus mileage)   $25,000* 

   Total     $225,000 

   Less ND DOT Grant   -$77,772 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 17, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Administration 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Jim Neubauer, City Administrator 

PRESENTER: Jim Neubauer, City Administrator 

SUBJECT: Bids related to improvements Beanery 

 

  

Bids No. 1  



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Visitor’s Fund Recommendation related to Mandan Park District Land 

Acquisition 

Page 2 of 2 

 

   Balance Visitors Fund   $147,228 

*Will depend upon number of trips and incidentals 

Unrestricted balance in the Visitors Fund as of June 30, 2015, $744,354 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  minimal 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  City Attorney Brown will review any and all contracts 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Recommend approving the base bid of $173,000 plus alternates 

$27,000, for a total of $200,000. If alternates are eliminated then only certain storm and 

other windows will be subject to rehab. Accepting the base plus alternates all storms are 

replaced and all wooden windows are rehabilitated. 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: I move to award the base bid plus alternates for rehabilitation 

at the Mandan Beanery, total construction contract of $200,000.  In addition, utilizing the 

Visitors Fund to pay the balance of $147,228. 

 



 

 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 
STATEMENT/PURPOSE: 

This request is to increase the allowable lot coverage from 30% to 34%. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: 

In 2008 the Leiers purchased a building permit to add a 4 season room on their house.  The 

permit was granted and stated that the lot coverage was 28%. 

 

However, whoever did the calculation did not include the storage shed in the back yard that is 

192 square feet.  When adding the shed, the lot coverage comes to 31%. 

 

The property is zoned R-7 which allows a 30% maximum lot coverage. 

 

The Leiers planned to remove the 192 square foot shed and build a garage that is 392 square feet.  

Two weeks prior to the application for the proposed garage permit, one of the building inspectors 

met with the Leiers at their home and discussed the proposed garage.  He told the Leiers that they 

could build the garage. The inspector miscalculated the new percentage because he did not 

include the 4 season room square footage in the calculation. 

 

Based on the conversation with the building inspector, the Leiers started to tear down the shed in 

preparation for building the garage. 

 

When the Leiers formally applied for the permit to build the garage, the lot coverage was 

calculated and the previous errors discovered. Replacing the shed with the garage will bring the 

lot coverage to 33.3%. 

 

  Section 21-06-02.2 of the city code provides a procedure for granting a variance. 

 

Variances.  On appeal from an order, requirement, decision or determination 

made by an administrative official, the board of adjustment may vary or adjust 

the strict application of any of the requirements of this title in the case of an 

exceptionally irregular, narrow, shallow or steep lot or other exceptional 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 8, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Engineering & Planning 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Justin Froseth 

PRESENTER: Robert Decker 

SUBJECT: Acting as the Board of Adjustment, consider for 

approval variance to allow a greater lot coverage 

for 1501 4
th

 Ave. NE 

 

  

Consent No. 2 

 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Variance request to allow a greater lot coverage for 1501 4
th

 Ave. NE 

Page 2 of 3 

physical or topographical condition, by reason of which the strict application of 

the provisions of the title would result in unnecessary hardship that would 

deprive the owner of a reasonable use of the land or building involved, but in no 

other case.  No adjustment in the strict application of any provisions of this title 

shall be granted by the board of adjustment unless it finds: 

a.  That there are special circumstances or conditions, fully 

described in the findings of the board, applying to the land or 

buildings for which the variance is sought, which circumstances 

or conditions are peculiar to such land or building, and do not 

apply generally to land or buildings in the neighborhood, and 

have not resulted from any act of the applicant taken subsequent 

to the adoption of this title, whether in violation of the 

provisions of the title, or not; 

b.  That, for reasons fully set forth in the findings of the board, 

the circumstances or conditions so found are such that the strict 

application of the provisions of this title would deprive the 

applicant of the reasonable use of said land or building, and the 

granting of the variance is necessary for the reasonable use of 

the land or building, and that the variance as granted by the 

board is the minimum variance that will accomplish the relief 

sought by the applicant; 

c.  That the grant of the variance will be in harmony with the 

general purposes and intent of this title, and not be injurious to 

the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Aerial photo location map 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  minimal 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  minimal 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  All of my commission data has been forwarded to the City Attorney for his 

review. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends granting this variance due to the past errors in calculating lot coverage and the 

minimum deviation from the standard that this variance represents. 

 

Granting this variance is the minimum necessary to allow construction of the structure and is in 

harmony with the general purposes and intent of this title and is not injurious to the 

neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION:   

Move to grant variance to allow up to 34% lot coverage for 1501 4
th
 Ave. NE 

 

  

  

 



Board of City Commissioners Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Variance request to allow a greater lot coverage for 1501 4
th

 Ave. NE 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 



::::iiiiiiiriiiill
CITY OJ'

MANDAN
"WHERE THE WEST BEGINS"

CONSENT #3

Board of City Commissioners

Agenda Documentation

MEETING DATE:
PREPARATION DATE:
SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT:
DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR:
PRESENTER:
SUBJECT:

July 21, 2015
July 15, 2015
Finance
Greg Welch, Finance Director
Greg Welch, Finance Director
Pledge of securities reports.

PURPOSE
The City of Mandan is required semiannually to approve pledges of securities
reports.

BACKGROUND
Except for the Bank of North Dakota, financial institutions must pledge security
for all public deposits at a ratio of $1.10 for every $1.00 above the FDIC
coverage amount.

ATTACHMENTS
• Pledge of securities report from Wells Fargo Bank
• Pledge of securities report from Starion Financial

FISCAL IMPACT
None

STAFF IMPACT
None

LEGAL REVIEW
In accordance with the provisions of NDCC 21-04.

RECOMMENDATION
To approve the following pledge of securities reports:

• Wells Fargo Bank
• Starion Financial



Board of City Commissioners
Agenda Documentation
Meeting Date: July 21,2015
Subject: Pledge of securities reports.
Page 2 of 2

SUGGESTED MOTION
Move to approve the following pledge of securities reports:

• Wells Fargo Bank
• Starion Financial



STAGBCOACH SWBBP

WSr.Ls FARGO BANK, N.A.

Confirmation

Repurchase Agreement

CIT'l OF ~1ANDAN

ATTN: GREG I1ELCH

205 2ND AVE ~l'I

~tp..NDi'.N NO 53551-3125

ACCOUNT S,,"NNARY

Oil::" 06/30/2015

Account

ACCOUNT DETA~L

InveStment acpurchas e Agreement

From Date 06nO/2015

To Da::c 07/01/2015

~ar;e .01000000"

Principal S 5,353,096.65

rucere st; S 1 . .,9

"E?U?CllASE AG?E£t·1ENT DETA~L.

Coll"terillizcd 3y s 2,1'07,235 oa
FN-30 AE0478, Ouo 4.00 ,

~l"turi::y Oil:.:e 11/01/2040

CUSI? 31419A083

Sequence 063015

?rice 106.580795

Accrued Interest s 7,157.45

~E?URCllASE: AGR8EN8NT OeTAIL.

Collateralized By s 3,360,368.6',

FN-30 AEO.. 76

'l" Due 1.00 %

Hilturi:::y Date 11/01/20'-.0

CUSE> 31419AQ83

Sequence 063015

"rice 106.580795

Accrued Interest S 11,201.23

INVESTMENTS NOT FDIC INSl,RED

II



II
Public Funds Collateral Unit
333 Market Street, 15th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94105~2102

Phone: 1-877-479-6603
publicfundscollateral@wellsfargo.com

WEllS FARGO BANK, N.A.
PUBLIC FUNDS COLLATERAL UNIT

COLLATERAL ANALYSIS

CITY OF MANDAN

GREG WELCH

205 2ND AVE NW

CPA

MANDAN, ND 58554

DATE COMPLETED:
CONTRA NUMBER:

COLLATERAL WHEREHELD:

July 06, 2015

Bank of New York Melion

COLLATERAL ANALYSIS AS OF: June 30, 2015

COLLATERAL ACCOUNT NUMBER:

Original Face Current Par Market Value Collateral Value

28,877.00 24,844.21 24,830.28 24,830.28

11,238.00 4,283.38 4,576,24 4,576.24

86,173.00 23,774.88 25,152.89 25,152.89

72,957.00 39,119.58 40,721.31 40,721.31

14,503.00 12,728.15 12,774.01 12,774.01

16,494.00 13,868.99 13,923.15 13,923.15

42,892.00 37,009.94 37,137.62 37,137.62

632,896.00 43,441.84 48,093.91 48,093.91

555,300.00 15,567.49 17,234.56 17,234.56

102,821.00 46,244.56 50,297.35 50,297.35

$1,564,151.00 $260,883.02 $274,741.32 $274,741.32

$1,564,151.00 $260,883.02 $274,741.32 $274,741.32

ePN Maturity Date

3.00 31112043

4.00 121112040

2.64 1111/2041

3.00 11/1/2026

3.00 21112043

3.00 31112043

3.00 61112043

5.00 111/2039

5.00 1/1/2039

4.50 3/112041

DescriptionCUSIP

3132J7Q70 FG Q16377 3.000% 03{01/2043

3138A2BQ1 FN AH0946 4.000% 12/01/2040

3138AHQX7 FN AI4069 2.650% 11/01/2041

3138AYLP2 FN AJ6633 3.000% 11/01/2026

3136W33JO FN AR6200 3.000% 02/01/2043

3138W64S2 FN AR8932 3.000% 03/01f2043

3138WWK99 FN AT8419 3.000% 06/01/2043

'1412NWP7 FN 930454 5.000% 01/01/2039

...1416J5J6 FN AA1748 5.000% 01101/2039

31417YW45 FN MA06664.500% 03101/2041

Total for Collateral Account Number:

Total

001408



JUL/Ol/2015/WED 02:32 PM STARION FINANCIAL 20 FAX No, 7012501477 P, 00 I

~Starion
FINANCIAL

333 N 4th St - Bismarck, ND 58501
701-663-6434·701.250·1477 (fax)

FAX
To: Greg Welch

Company: City of Mandan

Fax #:

From:

Pages,

Date:

Janice Richter

4

7-1-15

RE: Pledge Report

• The following is the pledge report for the month ofJune 2015. This report lists
all securities currentlypledgedfor your deposit accountts),

The pledges are reviewed and approved on a monthly basis by the
Stanon Financial AssetlLiability Management Committee and
presented to the Board of Directors.

** Ifthere is an increase in the balance ofyour accounus) prior to the month end check,
please contact us, so that we may increase the amount ofpledging ifnecessary.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me

Thank you.

nvtPORTA1'IT: This message intended only for the use ofthe individualor entity to which it is addressedend may
contain informationthat is privileged, confidential, and exempt from disclosure under applicablelaw, If the reader of
this message is not the intendedrecipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination,distribution, or copyingof
this communicarionis strictlyprohibited, Ifyou receive this communication in error, please :o.otify us immediatelyby
telephone end return the original message to us at the above address via the United States Postal Service. Thank you.



Pledges By Plet e And Maturity [LoA I
~

0=:
r-r-
<,

Pledged To: Cityof Mandan =
<,

Slarion Financial- Mandan, NO c-o

As Of 6/3012015 Page 120f47 =
en

Pledged
<,

Rocelpttt CUSIP ASC 320 Pescrlpllon Pcclrrype Moody Onginal Fate ~

"'"Safekeaping Location Maturity Prerofund Coupon S&P Pledged Pereant Original Faea Par Book Value Market Value
t::::l

=
FNMAAGENCY·1X 1,250,000.00

r0

3138G1F53 AFS
WELL: WELLS FARGO a8128/18 1.25 AA+ 100.00% 1,250,000.00 1,250,000.00 1,250,OOO.ao 1,249,368.75

c.o
c-o
-0

31381U4F1 AFS FNMA Cony <7Acl!380Balloon 471822 993,573.0a ~

WELL: WELLS FARGO 07/01/19 1.86 100.00% 993,673.00 935,751.81 950,34Q.94 942,470.04
Vl
--'l

3138L3AC9 AFS FNMA Cony <7Act/380 Balloon AM2702 1,500,000.00 ::t>

""WELL: WELLS FARGO 03f01120 1.94 100.00% 1,500,000.00 1,435,805.15 1,483,670.02 1,442,481.82 ~

C)
:z

31419GSJ4 AFS FNMA 15YR AE592a 1,725,000.Oa
..,.,

WELL: WELLS FARGO 10101125 3.50 100.00% 1,725,aOO.Oo 595,741.03 522,323.58 830,572.75 :z
::t>
:z

"3138ASS94 AFS FNMA 15YR AJ1443 1,075,000.00 ::t>
WELL: WELLS FARGO 09101126 4.00 100.00% 1,075,000.00 574,276.55 617,192.61 615,195.53 r-'

['0
0

3138EOKF5 AFS' FNMA 15YR AJ7493 1,000,000.00
WELL: WELLS FARGO 12101128 3.00 100.00% 1,OOO,Ooa.oo 532,086.80 551,387.16 555,224.43

3i417AM30 AFS FNMA 15YR AB3977 1,500,00a.ao
WELL: WELLS FARGO 12101128 4.00 100.00% 1,500,000.00 613,a39.13 649,388.15 656,902.06 .

31417ARL5 AfS FNMA 15YR AB4090 2,421,5'13.00
WELL: WELLS FARGO 12101128 3.00 100.00% 2,421,513:00 1,175,451.95 1,207,080.86 1,228,566.11

3138E7TW4 AFS FNMA 15YR AK32f>4 1,000,000.00
WELL: WELLS FARGO 02101127 3.00 100.00% 1,000,000.00 532,f>41.22 550,121,53 558,426.15

3138EMMJ7 AFS FNMA 15YR AL4880 1,500,000.00
WELL: WELLS FARGO 04/01/28 2.50 100.00% 1,500,000.00 1,250,834.44 1,254,806,00 1,279,437.73

3138ElYF4 AFS FNMA 15YR AL4309 1,077,457.00
WELL: WElLS FARGO 10101/28 4.00 100.00% 1,077,457.00 786,642.87 817,559.31 817,179.73

3137AMNN3 AFS FHR 4012JK 1,000,000.00
WELL: WElLS FARGO 12/15/40 3.50 100.00% 1,000,Ooa.00 808,032.49 533,940.32 537,306.83

-0

3i36AGPPl AFS FNR2013-105 PJ '1,575',000.00 =
WELL: WELLS FARGO i1125/41 3.50 100.00% 1,575,000.00 1,200,799.58 1,252,588.i 3 1,265,891.74 =

CD

AIthDUgh the il1formatfrm i; this report has baM obtained from sewces
believed to be reliable, Itsaccuracycannot be- gUManteed.

613012015 2;33 PM· JHKI 815M 471

BBA • Bakor Bond Accounting ®

The Baker Groul3 Software Solutions. Inc.



Pledged To: City of Mandan

As Of 613012015

13 Securities Pledged To:

a And Maturity

17,617,643.00 11,4701903.02 11,820,379.51

[idA I
"--0

c:::::
"<,=
<,
t'-..)

Page 130f47 =
en
<,
~=

MarketValue =
=r-o

11,875,023.67 0.)
0.)

-0
:s:::

Ui
>---3
:e>
PO.........
0:z
<--r;l
.........
:z
:e>:z
n
~

J:>
t-"'
t'-...)
0

Pledged

Par Book ValueOriginal Face

Starlon Flnancial- Mandan, NO

PooltType Moody Onginal Face
Coupon sap Pledged Percent

Pledges By Pled

City of Mandan

Ase 320 Description
Maturity Prerefund

Recelpt# CUS[?
Safekeepin.g Location

==
~

Aith~glr~ih;i"furmatrOlI 'inthis·~rlhas been-ot:Wl/ed from s;urC;s
believed t~ be reliable,lts: accumcycamlotbe guaranteed.

613(}(2fl15 2:~ PM· JHKJ BISM 472

BBA • Baker BondAccaufitlng ®

The Baker Group Software Solutions, Inc.



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 
STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  To consider allowing temporary road closure and parking at the 

Mandan Senior Center on September 21
st
.  

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: Our office received a request by the Mandan Senior Center 

to allow them to close 15
th
 Street NW for 2.5 hours on the evening of September 21

st
 for a classic 

car show. More details are attached on the request letter. Only the Mandan Senior Center and the 

Liberty Heights community is directly affected by this closure. Both approve the plan to 

temporarily close. We checked with other departments, and no others oppose the plan to 

temporarily close.   

 

ATTACHMENTS:   

1) Mandan Senior Center closure request letter with map 

2) Letter approving of closure submitted by the Morton Co. Housing Corporation  

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  minimal     

 

STAFF IMPACT:  minimal 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  n/a 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Our office recommends approving the temporary closure.  

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: I move to approve closure of 15
th
 St. NW from 6-8:30PM on 

September 21
st
 to allow classic car show.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 14, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Planning and Engineering 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Justin Froseth 

PRESENTER: Justin Froseth, Planning and Engineering Director 

SUBJECT: Mandan Senior Center Road Closure Requests 

 

  

Consent No. 4  



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015  

Subject: Mandan Senior Center Road Closure Requests 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015  

Subject: Mandan Senior Center Road Closure Requests 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 
 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015  

Subject: Mandan Senior Center Road Closure Requests 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 
 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  Consider approving Engineering Services Agreement to 

provide construction engineering services for Street Improvement District 199. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  Stantec was selected to provide design engineering 

services for the Street Improvement District No. 199 project (NE Downtown Area). At 

the June 30
th

 special city commission meeting, the board approved awarding the project 

to Mariner Construction who were the low bidders at $2,641,458.69. Given the 

satisfactory work that Stantec did in design engineering, and the fair proposal they have 

put together for construction engineering services, we would recommend extending their 

agreement to include construction engineering services as well.      

 

ATTACHMENTS:    

1) Professional Services Agreement Change Order   

2) Fee Breakdown 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:   As part of the projects’ total cost, these services would be paid for 

by assessments to benefiting properties. The proposed change order for construction 

engineering services is for an amount not to exceed $204,124 without prior approval. 

That would bring the total agreement with Stantec to a not to exceed estimate amount of 

about $410,000 which is 15.5% of the low bid amount. This is a fair amount for an 

estimate of costs to complete a project such as this.       

    

STAFF IMPACT:   Collaboration with Stantec throughout project will be necessary. 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:   All of my commission data has been forwarded to the City 

Attorney for his review. 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 14, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Engineering 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Justin Froseth 

PRESENTER: Justin Froseth, Planning and Engineering Director 

SUBJECT: Consider approving Engineering Service 

Agreement with Stantec for Street Improvement 

District 199 

 

  

Consent No. 5 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider approving Engineering Service Agreement with Stantec for Street 

Improvement District 199 

Page 2 of 5 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Our office recommends approving the Engineering Service 

Agreement Amendment with Stantec to include construction engineering services for SID 

199.   

 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  I move to approve the Engineering Services Agreement 

Amendment with Stantec to include construction engineering services for SID 199. 

 

 

 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider approving Engineering Service Agreement with Stantec for Street 

Improvement District 199 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 
 

 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider approving Engineering Service Agreement with Stantec for Street 

Improvement District 199 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

 
 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider approving Engineering Service Agreement with Stantec for Street 

Improvement District 199 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 
 

 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 
STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  To approve of an engineering service supplementary agreement with 

KLJ Engineering for construction engineering services of the safe routes to school sidewalk 

project 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  The NDDOT Safe Routes To School grant was used for 

the construction and inspection of this project. Construction bids came in under estimate, so the 

inspection of the construction was allowed to be covered under the grant also. The city is acting 

as a sponsoring agency on this project, any costs above the grant amount is to be covered by the 

Mandan School District.  

 

The attached shows the reasons for the additional costs vs. what was provided in the estimate. 

This is necessary to approve in order for the DOT to consider funding the additional amounts.  

 
ATTACHMENTS: DOT Supplementary Agreement with associated actual costs of KLJ 

      

FISCAL IMPACT:   Mandan Public Schools will be funding any portion of the project not 

covered by the SRTS grant. 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  Minimal 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  All of my commission data has been forwarded to the City Attorney for his 

review. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve engineering service supplementary agreement with KLJ and 

NDDOT for safe routes to school project.  

 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  I move to approve engineering service supplementary agreement with 

KLJ and  North Dakota Department of Transportation for safe routes to school project. 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 14, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Planning and Engineering 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Justin Froseth 

PRESENTER: Justin Froseth, Planning and Engineering Director 

SUBJECT: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project 

Engineering Service Supplementary Agreement 

 

  

Consent No. 6 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 2 of 7 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 3 of 7 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 4 of 7 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 5 of 7 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 6 of 7 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary 

Agreement  

Page 7 of 7 

 

 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE: Consider for approval the advertisement of bids for the sale of 

used water meters removed during the Water Meter Improvement Project. 
 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: The water meters are the result of changing out old meters 

that were not compatible with the new water meter reading system installed last year.  The old 

meters are being stored at the Public Works yard in a 20 yd. dumpster.  The meters were weighed 

and the total weight of meters came to over 20,000 lbs.  Thus, we need to put them on a public 

sale and advertise for their sale. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Advertisement for Bid 

   

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Funds received from the sale will be turned back to the Utility Fund. 

 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  N/A  

 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  Attorney Brown has no issues with document.   

 

  

RECOMMENDATION:  Recommend to approve the advertisement of bids for the sale of 

used water meters removed during the Water Meter Improvement Project. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  Move to approve the advertisement of bids for the sale of used 

water meters removed during the Water Meter Improvement Project. 

 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21,2015 

PREPARATION DATE: June 14, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Jeff Wright 

PRESENTER: Jeff Wright, Director of Public Works 

SUBJECT: Consider for approval the advertisement of bids for 

the sale of used water meters removed during the 

Water Meter Improvement Project. 

 

  

Consent  No. 7 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject:  Consider for approval the advertisement of bids for the sale of used water 

meters removed during the Water Meter Improvement Project. 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 



:!:iiiii~
CITY or

MANDAN
"WHERE THE WEST BEGINS"

CONSENT #8

Board of City Commissioners

Agenda Documentation

MEETING DATE:
PREPARATION DATE:
SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT:
DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR:
PRESENTER:
SUBJECT:

July 21,2015
July 15, 2015
Finance
Greg Welch
Greg Welch
Bond Counsel Agreement

PURPOSE
To consider the Bond Counsel Agreement from Arntson Stewart Wegner for the
City of Mandan's Sales Tax Revenue Bonds.

BACKGROUND
On June 9, 2015 the citizens of Mandan voted and approved to amend the
Mandan Code of Ordinances to adopt an additional three fourths a percent
(0.75%) tax on gross receipts of retailers from all sales at retail and use tax as
permitted by NDCC Ch. 57-39.2, to be dedicated to the financing and
construction by the Mandan Park District of a new two-rink hockey arena,
including gymnastics facilities, a new football and track field, and conversion of
Lefty Faris football and track field into ball fields. The estimated cost of the
project is $22,000,000. Such sales and use tax revenues shall be pledged to the
payment of bonds issued for such construction in anticipation of the collection
and receipt of such sales and use tax. The sales and use tax shall expire at the
time all project costs are paid and the bonds issued finance construction of the
project are paid.

An essential member of the City's bond financing team is Bond Counsel. Bond
Counsel renders an opinion on the validity of the bond offering, the security for
the offering, and whether and to what extent interest on the bonds is exempt
from income and other taxation. The opinion of Bond Counsel provides
assurance both to the City and to the City's investors who purchase the bonds
that all legal and tax requirements relevant to the matters covered by the opinion
are met. Arntson Stewart Wegner, Bond Counsel, has the necessary expertise to



Board of City Commissioners
Agenda Documentation
Meeting Date: JUly 21, 2015
Subject: Bond Counsel Services
Page 2 of2

provide an opinion that can be relied on and will be able to assist the City in
completing the transaction in a timely manner.

ATTACHMENT
Bond Counsel Agreement from Arntson Stewart Wegner.

FISCAL IMPACT
Estimated fee = $20,000 to $24,500
Reimbursable costs = $500 to $1,000

According to the Resolution approved by Board of City Commissioners on June
16, 2015 the fees and costs above would be paid by the City from funds on hand
until the City can be reimbursed for these expenditures from the proceeds of
bonds to be issued by the City.

STAFF IMPACT
None

LEGAL REVIEW
Submitted to Malcolm Brown, City Attorney.

RECOMMENDATION
To approve the Bond Counsel Agreement from Arntson Stewart Wegner for the
City of Mandan's Sales Tax Revenue Bonds.

SUGGESTED MOTION
Move to approve the Bond Counsel Agreement from Arntson Stewart Wegner for
the City of Mandan's Sales Tax Revenue Bonds.



ARNTSON STEWART WEGNER PC

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

JON M. ARN'fSON

JAMES H. STEWART

3101 Broadway North, Suite B
Fargo. ND 58102-1485
(701) 280-0195
• Also licensed in Minnesota

June 30, 2015

Greg Welch, Finance Director
City of Mandan
205 2nd Avenue NW
Mandan, ND 58554

Re: Proposed Issuance of$22,000,000 City of Mandan,
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2015

Dear Greg:

SCOTT D. WEGNER"

3801 Lockport Street, Suite 2
Bismarck, ND 58503-5576
(701)255-1008
•• Also licensed in lIlilllle>oln and South Dakota

The purpose of this engagement letter is to set forth certain matters concerning the services we will
perform as bond counsel to the City of Mandan, North Dakota (the "City") in connection with the
issuance of the above-referenced bonds (the "Bonds"), We understand that the Bonds will be issued
to finance certain park and recreation facilities (the "Projects") planned by the Mandan Park District
(the "Park District"). The Bonds will be limited revenue obligations of the City payable solely from
the new sales tax (0,75%). We understand that the Bonds are expected to be purchased through a
negotiated sale by Dougherty & Company LLC, likely sometime in 2016.

SCOPE OF ENGAGEMENT

In this engagement, we expect to perform the following duties:

(I) Subject to the completion of proceedings to our satisfaction, render our legal opinion
(the "Bond Opinion") regarding the validity and binding effect ofthe Bonds, the source ofpaymcnt and
security for the Bonds, and the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal and
State of North Dakota income tax purposes.

(2) Draft preliminary documents including drafts of the Ballot, Joint Powers Agreement,
Reimbursement Resolution and Escrow Agreement.

(3) Draft the basic agreements goveming the issuance and sale of the Bonds,

(4) Prepare and review documents necessary or appropriate to the authorization, issuance
and delivery of the Bonds and coordinate the authorization and execution of such documents.

(5) Review legal issues relating to the structure of the Bond issue.



ARNTSON STEWART WEGNER PC
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

(6) If not already in place, draft procedures for the City regarding ongoing compliance
with federal securities law.

Our Bond Opinion will be addressed to the City and to the purchaser ofthe Bonds and will be delivered
by us on the date the Bonds are exchanged for their purchase price (the "Closing").

The Bond Opinion will be based on facts and law existing as of its date. In rendering our Bond
Opinion, we will rely upon the certified proceedings and other certifications ofpublic officials, officers
of the City and the Park District and other persons furnished to us without undertaking to verify the
same by independent investigation, and we will assume continuing compliance by the City and the
Park District with applicable laws relating to the Bonds. During the course of this engagement, we
will rely on the City and Park District to provide us with complete and timely information on all
developments pertaining to any aspect of the Projects, the Bonds and the security for the Bonds.

FEES

Based upon: (i) our current understanding of the terms, structure, size and schedule of the financing
represented by the Bonds; (ii) the duties we will undertake pursuant to this engagement letter; (iii) the
time we anticipate devoting to the financing; and (iv) the responsibilities we will assume in connection
therewith, our fee is estimated to range from $20,000 - $24,500. Our fee may vary: (a) if the principal
amount of Bonds actually issued differs significantly from the amount stated above; (b) the Bonds are
issued in more than one series; (c) if material changes in the structure or schedule of the financing
occur; or (d) if unusual or unforeseen circumstances arise which require a significant increase in our
time or responsibility. If, at any time, we believe that circumstances require an adjustment of our
original fee estimate, we will advise you. In addition, we will expect to be reimbursed for all client
charges made or incurred on your behalf such as Bond transcript preparation, photocopying, postage
and other expenses. We estimate that such charges will be in the range 01'$500 to $1,000. Our fee is
usually paid at the Closing, and we customarily do not submit any statement until the Closing unless
there is a substantial delay in completing the financing.

If, for any reason, the financing represented by the Bonds is not consummated or is completed without
the delivery of our Bond Opinion as bond counsel or our services are otherwise terminated, we will
expect to be compensated at our normal hourly rate 01'$250 for time actually spent on your behalf, plus
client charges, as described above.

Ifthe foregoing terms are acceptable to you, please so indicate by returning the enclosed copy of this
engagement letter dated and signed by an authorized officer, retaining the original for your files. We
look forward to working with you.

Accepted and Approved:

Its: --------------

CITY OF MANDAN, NORTH DAKOTA

By: _

ARNTSON STEWART WEGNER PC

2~y
/

By: ----,"'-----'----i'-'---'----



CITY 01'
MANDAN

MANDAN CITY HAl.l.· 20S 2nd AWIlU0 NW
MANDAN, NORTH DAKOTA 58';54

70'1-667·3215 o lAX: 70!·6(,7-."!:UJ· www.cityofmandan.com

PROCLAMATION

Extra Mile Day
November .1, 20.15

IConsent NO.9

__--"'CITy ()r.I'tII~ IM(NTS

ADMINISrRMION ('()~.V1S
ASSI'SSINGIHUILDING INSPEClION (;(,7·17.W
Bl/SINESSDEVELOPMENT (,(,7·.1-185
[[MEffRY 667-60'1-1
!,N(,INW~/I'E;\NNING & ZONING (;67-37.1,5
!'INANCE 667·12!3
fiRE r,(,7·32M
lIUMAN IlESOUI~CfS f,67.)J!7
1.,\Nrml.l. 661.0 Ia-I
MlJNICII'A1. couer (,67·.lUO
l'OLlC~ ('(;'·.1'1:,5
PUBliC WO~KS 6(,7-32,10
WIIS',lWATm (Ri,MM[NI' (,("·17.78
51'1'C1111. _\SS~SSMI'NIS /0(;1·.1271
UTILITY lIIL1.ING 667-3119
1NAH!:: rRrAI'MI:NT 6(,1·3/.75

WHEREAS, Mandan, ND is a community which acknowledges that a special vibrancy
exists within the entire community when its individual citizens collectively "go the extra
mile" in personal effort, volunteerism, and service; and

WHEREAS, Mandan, ND is a community which encourages its citizens to maximize

their personal contribution to the community by giving of themselves wholeheartedly and
with total effort, commitment, and conviction to their individual ambitions, family, friends,

and community; and

WHEREAS, Mandan, ND is a community which chooses to shine a light on and celebrate
individuals and organizations within its community who "go the extra mile" in order to make
a difference and lift up fellow members of their community; and

WI-fERft/1S, Mandan, ND acknowledges the mission of Extra Mile America to create

550 Extra Mile cities in America and is proud to support "Extra Mile Day" on November 1,

2015; and.

NOW THEREFORE, I, Arlyn Van Beck, Mayor of Mandan, NO, do hereby

proclaim November 1, 2015, to be Extra Mile Day. I urge each individual in the community to

take time on this day to not only "go the extra mile" in his or her own life, but to

also acknowledge all those who are inspirational in their efforts and commitment to make

their organizations, families, community, country, 01' world a better place.

Signed this 2l~l day of July, 2015.

---------_._--------
Arlyn Van Beek, President
Board of City Commissioners

Attest:

James Neubauer, City Administrator



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  The Morton County Sheriff’s Department is 

requesting approval with replacement of an obsolete barb wire security fence, and  

upgrading the current intercom system used in the correctional portion of the Law 

Enforcement Center.   

 

 BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  The Law Enforcement Center (LEC) 

Building Committee which consists of two members from each governing body 

and together with the County Auditor, County Sheriff, City Administrator, and 

City Police Chief met and reviewed request of the Sheriff and staff for 

replacement of the existing barb tape style security fence which surrounds the 

outdoor rec-area of the jail.  The current security fence is in need of being repaired 

or replaced.  Repair cost would exceed the cost of installing a new Stainless Steel 

Razor Wire fence, for $8,770.00.  The committee voted to approve the purchasing 

of a new security fence for $8,770.00 

 

A second item requested and discussed was the need to upgrade the current 

intercom system used on the jail floor.  The current system is obsolete with parts 

no longer available.  A quote of $25,905.00 was presented to the Building 

Committee.  The committee voted to obtain additional quotes and approved the 

upgrading of the intercom system with a cap not to exceed $25,905.00.  

 

The advisory board approved moving forward with the requested expenditures to 

the Boards of the County and City, for their approval.  Expenditures are paid out 

of a capital improvement fund which the county and city contribute to annually. 

 

 

 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 16, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Police 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Chief Dennis A. Bullinger 

PRESENTER: Chief Dennis A. Bullinger 

SUBJECT: Law Enforcement Center Improvement Requests  

 

  

Consent No.  10 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Law Enforcement Center Building Improvement Requests   

Page 2 of 4 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Dakota Fence, Bismarck, proposal. Electronic Communications, 

Bismarck, proposal.        

   

FISCAL IMPACT:  $34,675.00 to be expenditures from the LEC Capital Improvement 

Fund.   

 

STAFF IMPACT: N/A  

 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  Move to approve the requested purchases and repairs of the 

LEC correctional security fence, and the jail inter-com system as requested for a total cost 

of $34,675.00.               

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Law Enforcement Center Building Improvement Requests   

Page 3 of 4 

 
 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Law Enforcement Center Building Improvement Requests   

Page 4 of 4 

 
 

 



idSiiii
CITY OJ'

MANDAN
· W H E RE THE WEST BEGINS"

Consent # 11

Board of City Commissioners

Agenda Documentation

MEETING DATE:
PREPARATION DATE:
SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT:
DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR:
PRESENTER:
SUBJECT:

July 21,2015
July 17,2015
City Administrator
Jim Neubauer

New Corporation liquor License Application

STATEMENT/PURPOSE: Transfers of Class A liquor licenses must be
approved by the Board of City Commissioners at time of new application.

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: The application and fees have been received and
background checks have been run.

AITACHMENTS: Application and letter stating that previse owner is willing to transfer
his Class A liquor license for the Old Town Tavern to the new applicant.

FISCAL IMPACT: $150.00 transfer fee

STAFF IMPACT: N/A

LEGAL REVIEW: N/A

RECOMMENDATION: Approval contingent upon the establishment meeting all Fire
Code, Health & Safety Code, Building Inspections and all property taxes paid.

SUGGESTED MOTION: I would ask that the board approve the liquor license transfer
for Old Town Tavern at 109 1st Ave NW. Contingent upon the establishment meeting all
Fire Codes, Health & Safety Code, Building Inspection Codes and all property taxes and
fees are paid.



Corporation Liquor License Application

I. Type of License:

Liquor On-Sale.--i. Off-Sale_L . Class : ABC D Dl E F WB MP DY

~OOOOOOOOO

Beer On-Sale .5 Off-Sale._1_ Class: ABC D DIE F WB MP DY

GOOOOOO OOO

2. Duration of license: Annual: July 1, '-oj :-/ to June 30, ~ cJI b

Part ofyear from: ,20,-_- to_ _ ._ , 20_ - _

3. Name of business establishment at which license will be used:

4. Corporate Identification Information: Please complete all ofthe following:

J]:l V e r J'1

I {tJ~

Q,t }{ ,1-;."\

\OLU V\Name ofcorporation: _-=--'-=--_.:.....;:.--=-'--'-----'---=-.:...>00.._ '--_ _ -'-'="'----- _

Date of incorporation: ---,.:;...<.-<..........:_--"--'-'- ....::..--::...-<-....:...... _

State ofincorporation: _ ,.,:./-,il,-/ _/'.::;:.d -=.I_T -,--~_1t_l _ _ =-----'-""""-0..--"- _

b.

a.

c.

d.

e.

Amount ofauthorized capital stock: .5'0 0 t i <) ~ 0 i7 ,;' (.' (;' ()

Amount ofpaid capital: I/'[) c:' () rJ'() ()

f. If, subsidiary, name ofparent corporation: _

Purpose ofincorporation: _ ·I..:........:.lCJ_...><S:..;:c....'. ..::..t ,-I_---"""-=~_ _'__..:....>:;.;~"-- _g.

5. Description of licensed premises

Address: / (/ '1 YT "" vf /t."'" be/' Pl4/i da "

Legal description

Lot & block: _

Also submit on an attached page a diagram of the physical layout of the licenses premises
including, a minimum of doors, storage areas and areas wbere liquorlbeer is purchased and
consumed.



6. List names, current addresses, dates of birth, ages and citizenship of all the officers, directors,
managers, agents, and all persons holding 1% or more of the capital stock in the corporation (may attach).
Note: A separate notarized list of each individual's name, social security number and addresses for
the last five years is required, the privacy of which will be maintained by the City, but is required
for background checks:

tJic,.h!\(:' ,SoL~Olr50;" L.(O Yll5 D (- &j9·e-

~ Lva..Sf f"~ljn 51n.e&t

(Y\Gl nc1'tY'- IVa f)"8 !),lj

7. List names, current addresses, dates of birth, ages & citizenship of all persons who will have charge,
'\. management or control of the establishment for which the license is requested (may attac h). Note: A

separate notarized list of each individual's name, social security number and addresses for the last
five years is required, the privacy of which wiJI be maintained by the City, but is required for
background checks:

t\ <,<h~l ~ I S. 1hOi~=-O.<..:./,, l!ii\yq IPha'so /\
JM~ We-Sr I'\Oj ;1\ 5tit 5-~·t ,so« €v'~5-r 1111'/\ JTf<l.-eet

Sf'
"Citizenship: __ OOB :---"",-Age: ~

\ 8. Name of the individual who is to be in charge of the day-to-day operations and management of the
licensed premises and will be responsible for complying with the municipal ordinances and state laws
covering the operation ofthe premises:

Name:]!l n Y'i J(; 1\1\ 5<J -,

City:~ State: ;V[)
If naturalized, give date and place of naturalization: _

List all other places ofresidence within thelast five years: ;):.0.8 T~lI1 tt' So Av~l fV\"1111& / 1I ;30
~¥ §,....,

9. List theoccupations and employers of each of the individuals listed in answer to Questions 6, 7 and 8
during the last five years. Use a separate page to answer tbis question.

10. Ownership/Lease: If the licensed premises is owned by the applicant, provide date of purchase.

.~Cl%W---



1l. 9oes-~oplicant certify that all property taxes have been paid to date on the licenses premises?
~ _ No .. _

12. Have any of the individuals identified in answer to Questions 6, 1, and 8 ever engaged in the sale or
distribution of alcoholic beverages (as an owner, manager, 0/ employee) at a location other than in the
City of Mandan at any time prior to this application. Yes:.K _ No:__ If yes, explain in detail
on a separate page location, type of business and dates of license or employment.

13. Have any of the individuals identified in answer to Questions 6, 7 and 8 ever had a license of any
kind (including alcoholic beverage license, other business licenses or motor vehicle license) suspended,
revoked or non-renewed by any political subdivision, state or federal agency. Yes:$. _ No: _ _
If yes, explain in detail on a separate page.

14. Have any of the individuals identified in answer to Questions 6, 7 and 8 ever been convicted of a
violation of any law of the United States, or of any state or political subdivision. other than minor traffic
violations, (but including reckless driving or driving under the influence). Yes X-- No If yes,
explain the violation in detail on a separate page.

15. Do any ofthe individuals named in answer to Questions 5, 6 or 7 have any interest whatsoever in any
other liquor establishment, either at wholesale or retail, within or without the state of North Dakota. (The
interest which must disclose also includes a right of inheritance by law or by will). Yes NoX _
If, yes please explain in detail on a separate page.

16. Does anyone other than the Corporation applying for this alcoholic beverage license or the business
owing the premises have any right, estate, or interest in the lease hold.. building, or furniture, fixtures or
equipment, in the premises for which the license is requested. Yes No-X... If yes, explain in
detail on a separate page.

17. Does the Corporation applying for this alcoholic beverage license have any agreement, contract,
understanding or intention to have any agreement, contract or understanding, with any person,
partnership, or corporation to obtain for any other person, partnership or corporation, or to transfer to any
other person, partnership or corporation the license for which this applications is made or to obtain for
any other person. oartnershin or corporation, for any other purpose other than for the specified use of the
applicant. Yes _ _ No -f{...- Ifyes, explain in detail 00 a separate page.

18. Does the Corporation applying for this license or the person, partnership or corporation owing the
premises named herein, engage in any business other than that for which the license is sought or intending
to engage in any business other than for the sale of alcoholic beverages under the license for which this
application is made. Yes: No:_X_ If yes, c. plain, in detail 00 a separate page giving the type
of business and identification ofany aod all owners.

19. List the names and addresses of all officers, directors and stockholders of the Corporation who are
engaged or employed in a capacity in the conduct or operation of the business at which the alcoholic
beverage license is to be used.

tl'i"hc.\,Q 1 5 nlJmR3<>1\

20. The corporation must have a valid Certificate of authority issued by the North Dakota Secretary of
state and a valid Alcoholic Beverage License issued by the NO Attorney General's Office. A copy of the
Certificate of Authority and ND Alcoholic Beverage License must be attached hereto.



21. List the names, addresses ofat least 3 business references, _

Uv\ e..11 Att10 l\~eq ,(\ >& l/~ I"!l_~
C . 5Atl/(' / C-Qrl reA..

i

';t·il-- 501.-1th 8" I! d..f, !JI lot~vlL 5<.- J.o i ('I ;Vl ~/Y\M j'q f Hw!'

I) ;S,"'\ >J/\,C..!t( ,I! 0 {rr 'Pf f\qt\o(V\ )If) IfJ ,,1./ /JI~I/\t;/fll\ I/O &1lf '>7

22. Does the building or structure in which the business is to be conducted meet all applicable state and
local building, health and zoning regulations and requirements? Yes_ .X- No _., . _ Applicant must
attach certifications of compliance from each state andlor local agency or department responsible
for building, health and zoning regulations.

23. List all the names of individuals who are authorized to make purchases for the business at which the
license is to be used and located.

Note: These individuals must submit their names, current address and social security numbers on
the forms which will protect there rights of privacy, but allow the appropriate police department
background checks to be done. If nat attached, the application will be deemed incomplete.

24. List the names of all individuals who are authorized to sign checks used to pay the payroll and
expense bills of the business at which the license is to be used.

t1 ;c.. hy,{.: I 11\ j1-"1PkA--'-- ,-1--'=-'--- ----- - - - - - --- - - - - - - - ---

~-r;;" \f~ ·10 t\ 1\ SO,.\.
I



STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA )
) 55.

COUNTY OF MORTON )

Affidavit ofApplication Completeness and Accuracy,
Sworn Statement ofConditions of Licensure,
and Agreement to Right of Entry of City Personnel

I, ((,·,.-blt! ;J I ,) TJ\O '~I.jJ.sd. , having been sworn and under oath, state that I am a
duly autho~izedofficer a/ director, namely . of the above named
corporation which hereby applies for the above referenced alcoholic beverage license in the City of
Mandan, and I do hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my
knowledge and beliefs.

I do further certify that said corporation and its officers, directors and employees will abide by the
provisions of Chapter 12-01, 12-02 and 12-03 of the Mandan Code of Ordinances and any amendments
thereto, as well as al applicable laws of the State of North Dakota, and the United States Government and
that said Corporation, its officers, directors and employees will not permit the violation ofany law, rule or
regulation on the premises at which the license is authorized. I further certify that the corporation, its
officers and directors acknowledge that this license will only authorize the retail sale of liquor, including
beer, wine and other spirits as defined by the North Dakota Century Code, at the premises designated in
this application and depicted on the attached diagram.

I do further certify and affirm on behalf of the corporation, its officers, directors and employees that the
corporation will not sell or permit the sale of alcoholic beverages to a minor, incompetent person, or
anyone who is under the influence or an habitual drunkard and that I will accept any penalty including,
suspension or revocation of license for any violation ofsaid prohibited sales.

I do further certify and affirm that the applicant corporation, its officers and directors understand and
acknowledge that any license granted under this application confers no property right to the applicant or
licensee, and that said license will not be transferable except by specific authority 0 fthe Mandan Board
of City Commissioners.

I do further certify and affirm that the applicant corporation, its officers, directors and employees do
hereby consent to the entry of any city official (including administrative, building, zoning health and fir
officials) and its police officers upon the premises described herein at any hour of the day or night and
that they shall have free access to the described premises and every part thereof for the purpose of
inspecting the premises and the records of this applicant relating to the operation of the premises, and
purchase and sale of alcoholic beverages. I further certify and affirm that the corporation, its officers,
directors and employees do hereby waive any and all rights that they may have under the Constitution of
the United States and the State of North Dakota, relative to searches and seizures without issuance of a
search warrant, and the applicant does hereby agree that such immunities shall never be claimed by them,
and that such entry, inspection, search and seizure may be made at any time without a search warrant,
which waiver ofrights is acknowledged to be a condition of licensure.

Dated at Mandan, North Dakota, on this .-..1.f1- day of L"(Iy , 201.(

By: &l-.&U/~~
I~: I

Attest:

By: _

Its:



(Notary Seal)

MARK SANDERSON
~ Notary Public
l State of North Dakota
I My Commission Expires May 18. 201e

~

'--S--LA ('1

~cL:-..~-'\

l~



'V iJr1 S P'<'7( 1he

! o q' 15-T ct v -e

TO pl/{:j~7P/

///2/4/."- ~/C.<;'?Y>~· P 7/'O.lYI 0 /.J !b{..(./I'I 'r;; (,.':./A -r;'
/ _.. .J/I

fi,/?J ; -11 /jdel t1 /1 /t/ 0 .5'/1S:5 t/' '

~'1 /7t/ /71r S' c.~ ..' 1





 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 
STATEMENT/PURPOSE: Consider updating the rules and regulations at the Mandan Union 

Cemetery as reviewed by the Cemetery Task Force Committee. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: The existing rules and regulations for the Mandan Union 

Cemetery have not been updated for years and do not effectively address the commemorative 

items that are being placed throughout the Cemetery.  Suggested rules and regulations were 

brought to the Commission on May 19, 2015, where concerned patrons voiced their opinions of 

the proposed rules.  As a result of those concerns the Cemetery Task Force Committee was 

formed by Commissioner Tibke, 6 members were chosen to represent the committee, 3 whom 

supported the changes and 3 that did not. Committee members are: Sharon Huettl, Becky Hilfer, 

Mandy Dendy, Marsha Boehm, Cindy Rebenitsch and JoAnn Hodny. 

 

On June 24, 2015 the committee met at the cemetery to meet the staff, walk through the cemetery 

and view items of concern, see things that work and see things that do not.  The committee and 

staff then sat at the table to discuss and figure out what can work and how to make it work.  The 

committee members worked very well together and compromises were made on both sides of the 

table.  As a result a proposed set of rules were drafted.  The draft copy was sent to all members 

for review and on July 13, 2015, the members and staff met to further discuss the changes.  

Everyone had additional ideas of ways to improve the rules, adjust or compromise where they 

could, and continued to work well together.  

 

The proposed rule changes are the direct result of both sides making a number of compromises 

that really shows up in the final rules and regulations before you tonight. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Proposed Rules and Regulations 

   

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  N/A 

 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 13, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Jeff Wright 

PRESENTER: Jeff Wright, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Consider new rules and regulations at the Mandan 

Union Cemetery as proposed by the Cemetery 

Task Force Committee. 

 

  

Old Business No. 1 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject:  Consider new rules and regulations at the Mandan Union Cemetery as proposed 

by the Cemetery Task Force. 

Page 2 of 4 

 
STAFF IMPACT:  N/A  

 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  Attorney Brown has reviewed the document.   

 

  

RECOMMENDATION:  Recommend to approve the new Rules and Regulations for the 

Mandan Union Cemetery as proposed by the Cemetery Task Force. 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  Move to approve the new Rules and Regulations for the Mandan 

Union Cemetery as proposed by the Cemetery Task Force. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject:  Consider new rules and regulations at the Mandan Union Cemetery as proposed 

by the Cemetery Task Force. 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

MANDAN UNION CEMETERY 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 

 The Mandan Union Cemetery is open from 7 a.m. to sunset. 

 Open for interments daily with 48 hour notice, with the exception of Sundays and the 

following observed holidays listed: New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Day, 

President’s Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 

Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Eve (4 hours), and Christmas Day. 

 Vehicles are restricted to established roads. 

 Pets are welcome, however, they must be leashed and please pick up after them. 

 Please do not leave food or drink items at the grave site. 

 Ground maintenance and grave openings and closings are done by grounds 

maintenance staff. 

 Placing or repairing of monuments and other ground concerns must be authorized by 

the grounds maintenance staff. 

 The Mandan Union Cemetery is not responsible for any items that may be damaged or 

missing and reserves the right to remove items at any time.  

  

FRESH CUT AND ARTIFICIAL FLOWERS:   

 Floral items may be placed on graves no earlier than 7 days from the following 

Holidays: Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas and 

Easter, these items must be removed within 14 days after the Holiday.  The Mandan 

Union Cemetery is an all Faith cemetery and respects all special days. 

 Floral items that are attached to the headstones and placed in a manner that allows for 

unobstructed mowing and trimming and can be placed anytime, but will be removed 

when they become unsightly or faded. 

 Fresh flowers may be placed on the gravesite at any time (no wrapping, plastic or 

glass containers). 

 Annuals will be allowed, in a ground level planting area, on the east side of the 

headstone. The maximum planting area can be the length of the headstone and no 

wider than eight inches. 

 Borders or rocks are not permitted on cemetery grounds. 

 Ground mount memorial vase holders are allowed to be placed on the southwest 

corner of a flat marker. 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject:  Consider new rules and regulations at the Mandan Union Cemetery as proposed 

by the Cemetery Task Force. 

Page 4 of 4 

 

PERMANENT PLANTINGS:  Permanent plantings will not be permitted on gravesites at 

any time. 

COMMEMORATIVE ITEMS:  Commemorative items that are attached to or placed 

above the headstone in a manner that allows for unobstructed mowing and trimming are 

allowed. The cement pad on which the monument sits must remain unobstructed. No 

benches are allowed unless an integral part of the monument. 

Note: New regulations will go into effect September 1, 2015. Previous permanent 

plantings will be grandfathered in; however, plantings that impede grounds maintenance 

will be cut back or removed. Patrons can remove permanent planting by contacting the 

grounds maintenance staff. 

Patrons will have until October 15, 2015 to collect unpermitted items. Grounds 

maintenance staff will begin to remove items after this date and hold until June 1, 2016 

for anyone who wishes to collect them. 

Any and all memorabilia/plantings that do not comply with the regulations will be 

relocated, or removed and discarded at the discretion of the grounds maintenance staff. 

 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

  

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:   

Introductions of new staff, Police Officers, Michael Breid, Jessica Krosch, 

Dominic Hanson, and Code Enforcement Officer, Joseph Camisa.. 

  

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: 

Michael Breid, is a native of Minnesota.  Michael is a graduate of the Law Enforcement 

Skills Training Certification in Alexandria Minnesota, and has an Associate Degree in 

Criminal Justice.  Mike worked as a Deputy Sheriff in Adams County from October 2013 

and up to his start of employment with the Mandan Police Department.                 

 

Jessica Krosch, is a native of Minnesota.  Jessica is a graduate of the Law Enforcement 

Skills Training Certification with Hibbing Community College.  She has earned her 

Bachelor Degree in Criminal Justice with a Minor in Psychology from Minnesota State 

University, Mankato.  She is an active Reservist with the Army Reserves and performs 

the duties of Human Resource Specialist.        

 

Dominic Hanson, is a native of North Dakota.  He is a graduate of LaMoure High, and is 

currently working on his Associate of Arts Degree with the University of Phoenix.  He 

served with the United States Marine Corp from 2010 to 2014.  He was deployed to 

Afghanistan where he served as an Infantry Team Leader.  Dominic is also a recipient of 

a Purple Heart.             

 

Joseph Camisa, is a native of New York.  He has earned both his BS and MA degrees in 

American History at Central Michigan.  He will be completing his Masters in Public 

Administration (MPA), in early August from Penn State.  Joseph is a Code Enforcement 

Officer with the city.  Joseph has recently worked with the National Park Services where 

he performed various duties to include Park Ranger.       

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 15, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Police 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Chief Dennis A. Bullinger 

PRESENTER: Chief Dennis A. Bullinger 

SUBJECT: Introduction of Police Officers, Michael Breid, 

Jessica Krosch, Dominic Hanson and Code 

Enforcement Officer, Joseph Camisa 

 

  

New Business No. 1 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Introduction of Police Officers, Michael Breid, Jessica Krosch, Dominic Hanson, 

and Code Enforcement Officer Joseph Camisa. 

Page 2 of 2 

 

ATTACHMENTS:    

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  N/A 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  N/A 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  N/A 

 

RECOMMENDATION:N/A   

 

SUGGESTED MOTION:  



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  To have the Board of City Commissioners appoint 

two City representatives to the Morton Mandan Public Library (MMPL) Board of 

Trustees. 

  

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  Per the Memorandum of Understanding signed by 

both Commissions, MMPL operates with an equal number of city and county 

representatives.  Since the joint board has equal representation per the Memorandum of 

Understanding, both the City and County Commissions should approve MMPL trustee 

appointments.   

 

The MMPL had four positions open as of July 2015; two County and two City vacancies.  

The positions have been advertised since May.  Two City responses were received.  The 

Board still needs two interested County applicants.  (Go to 

www.mortonmandanlibrary.org for details)  Trustee terms are for a three-year period and 

may be renewed once, thus serving a total of six years maximum.   

 

ATTACHMENTS:   Letters of interest: Ashley Portra and David Leingang 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  N/A 

 

STAFF IMPACT:  N/A 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  N/A 

 

RECOMMENDATION: The MMPL Board of Trustees recommends appointing Ashley 

Portra to her first term as a new trustee on the Morton Mandan Public Library Board of 

Trustees.  She was appointed to her first term by the MMPL Board of Trustees at their 

June 22, 2015 meeting. 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 16, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Morton Mandan Public Library 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Kelly Steckler, Director 

PRESENTER: Sarah Warneke, Assistant Director 

SUBJECT: Appoint trustees 

 

  

New Business No. 2 

http://www.mortonmandanlibrary.org/


Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Appoint two City representatives to the Morton Mandan Public Library 

(MMPL) Board of Trustees. 

Page 2 of 4 

 

The MMPL Board of Trustees also recommends appointing David Leingang to a second 

term as trustee on the Morton Mandan Public Library Board of Trustees.  He has served 

from July 2012-June 2015.  The MMPL Board of Trustees recommended re-appointment 

of Mr. Leingang at their June 22, 2015 meeting. 

 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  1. To appoint Ashley Portra to the Morton Mandan Public 

Library Board of Trustees to a three-year term to be held July 2015-June 2018.   

 

2. To re-appoint David Leingang to the Morton Mandan Public Library Board of Trustees 

for a second three-year term to be held July 2015-June 2018.   

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Appoint two City representatives to the Morton Mandan Public Library 

(MMPL) Board of Trustees. 

Page 3 of 4 

 

May 13, 2015 

 

 

Kelly Steckler 

Morton Mandan Public Library 

609 W Main Street 

Mandan, ND 58554 

 

 

Dear Ms. Steckler: 

 

I would like to submit my interest in serving as a volunteer on the Morton Mandan 

Public Library Board of Trustees. I moved to Mandan two years ago, and although I am 

relatively new to the community, my fiancé was born and raised in Mandan. As he is an 

attorney at a family-owned law firm in Mandan, we plan to stay in the community, where 

we have strong family ties and will no doubt begin our own family in the near future. 

 

Although I have yet to serve on a board of directors or trustees, I have provided 

administrative support for two such entities over the past two years – first, for the Ruth 

Meiers Hospitality House Board of Directors and most recently for the North Dakota 

Higher Education Challenge Fund Grant Committee. In both positions, it has been my 

responsibility to communicate with board members ensuring their knowledge of meeting 

dates and agendas, to make sure they have appropriate materials for each meeting, and to 

take detailed meeting minutes. Because of my experience with both entities, I am also 

comfortable making presentations to board members and have become familiar with 

parliamentary procedure.  

 

I have a Bachelor of Arts degree in English from the University of North Dakota 

and a Master of Arts degree in Creative Writing from Minnesota State University-

Mankato. I am currently working as a member of the communications team in the Office 

of Governor Jack Dalrymple. I would very much like to contribute the knowledge I have 

acquired over the years and would be honored to serve my community through the 

Morton Mandan Public Library Board of Trustees. 

 

I can be available to you at any time if you should have questions or would like to 

meet with me. You may reach me by calling (701) 516-3320 or by e-mailing me at 

aportra@gmail.com. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Ashley Portra 

 

mailto:aportra@gmail.com


Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Appoint two City representatives to the Morton Mandan Public Library 

(MMPL) Board of Trustees. 

Page 4 of 4 

 
 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE: Open up discussion on curb side single sort recycling and 

review options presented in the bid proposals. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES: On May 6, 2015 we received recycling and hauling 

proposals from Waste Management, Dakota Sanitation and Armstrong Sanitation and on 

June 2, 2015 the commission awarded Armstrong Sanitation the contract to haul our 

household garbage directly to Bismarck. 

 

The recycling bid proposals included residential curb side single sort recycling including 

2 and 3-plex units, single sort recycling drop off sites and apartment single sort recycling 

for apartments over 4 units.  All proposals were bid at a 5 year term.  Curb side single sort 

recycling costs do include a 96 gallon tote and pick up every other week.  See attached 

bid tab. 

 

Bids for residential curb side single sort recycling ranged from $4.38/month/unit to 

$5.80/month/unit.  The low bid was based on using the Mandan Transfer Station to 

compact materials into boxes then haul to a recycling center in Minnesota.  If the existing 

transfer station cannot be used the cost would be $4.79/month/unit. 

 

Bids for apartment single sort recycling ranged from $3.71/month/unit to 

$6.43/month/unit. Again low bid was based on using the transfer station at the landfill, if 

not cost would be $4.12/month/unit.  Apartment units would be provided a 300 gallon 

tote for each current 8 yard dumpster on site. 

 

The last bid option for single sort recycling was to only provide 4 drop off sites 

throughout the city for residents to put their recyclables.  These bids varied based on 

service needed, but ranged from$16,650 per year to $53,207.04 per year.  Low bid being 

4-20 yard dumpsters picked up once a month to 16-8 yard dumpsters picked up twice a 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 14, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Public Works 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Jeff Wright, Public Works Director 

PRESENTER: Jeff Wright, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Discuss recycling proposal options. 

 

  

New Business #3 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 2 of 7 

 

week.  A substantial difference in service, would expect to pay somewhere in the middle 

based on demand from the residents. 

 

Options to consider could be: 

 

1. Do nothing; continue to haul all household garbage to Bismarck at a 

projected garbage rate increase for 2016 of $0.85/month/unit. 

2. Do curb side single sort recycling for residents living in 1-3 unit 

homes/apartments at a projected recycling rate increase for 2016 of $5.50-

$6.00/month/unit (recycling rate = recycling fee of $4.38-$4.79 + 25% 

operations and maintenance coverage ratio) depending on the use of the 

transfer station. Bismarck’s recycling program just started last year saw a 

14% reduction in household garbage taken to the landfill, with similar 

results in Mandan; we could see a reduction in our hauling contract. 

Would suggest no opt out option to residents, or approximately 7,340 

units.    

3. Do curb side single sort recycling for residents living in 1-3 unit 

homes/apartments and apartments with 4 or more units at the same 

projected rate increase and proportionate reductions and savings as Option 

2.  Would suggest no opt out option to residents or approximately 9,660 

units.  

4. No curb side recycling, but setup 4 drop off sites throughout the city for 

residents to drop off single sort recycling items at a projected cost of 

$16,650-$26,100 depending on the demand to recycle and need for pick 

up.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: Bid Tabs, Rate Senario 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Option 1 – Do nothing; 

 No increased recycling rates, but a hauling rate 

increase of $0.95/month/unit to the current $10.05 

garbage-base rate or $11.00/month/unit. 

   Option 2/3 – Curb side single sort recycling; 

 Recycling rate increase of $5.50/month/unit for 

2016 ($4.38 recycling fee + 25% operations and 

maintenance coverage ratio) with our transfer 

station. 

 Phase in year one recycling rate increase of $5.50 

over 3 years and subsidize with Landfill reserve 

fund. See Finance Director Welch’s utility rate 

scenario. This option allows for proposed utility 

projects that effect utility rates while minimizing the 

increases seen on resident’s monthly billing. 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 Reduce the hauling rate increase to 

$0.85/month/unit or $10.90/month/unit. 

 Recycling rate increase of $6.00/month/unit for 

2016 ($4.79 recycling fee + 25% operations and 

maintenance coverage ratio) without our transfer 

station. 

 Phase in year one recycling rate increase of $6.00 

over 3 years and subsidize with Landfill reserve 

fund. See Finance Director Welch’s utility rate 

scenario. This option allows for proposed utility 

projects that effect utility rates while minimizing the 

increases seen on resident’s monthly billing.  

 Reduce the hauling rate increase to 

$0.85/month/unit or $10.90/month/unit. 

   Option 4 – Drop off sites; 

 $16,650-$26,100 increase in O&M budget and an 

estimated smaller impact on hauling reduction of 

household garbage. Cardboard and metal sales 

could offset some of this cost, depends on the 

market. 

 

STAFF IMPACT: N/A 

 

LEGAL REVIEW: N/A 

 

RECOMMENDATION: N/A 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: None needed at this time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 
 
 

 
 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 5 of 7 

 

 
 
 

 
 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 6 of 7 

 

 
 
 

 
 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Consider Discuss recycling proposal options. 

Page 7 of 7 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 



 

Board of City Commissioners 
 

 

Agenda Documentation 
 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT/PURPOSE:  To consider a Joint Powers Agreement between the City of 

Mandan and the Mandan Park District for the site preparation, construction, 

improvement, maintenance, operation and financing of the sales tax authorized by City 

Ordinance 1210. 

 

BACKGROUND/ALTERNATIVES:  As a result of the voters of the City of Mandan 

passing a ballot measure increasing the local sales tax by three quarters of a percent to 

fund a new two rink hockey arena, including gymnastic facilities; a new football and track 

field and the conversion of Lefty Faris football and track field into ball fields a joint 

powers agreement is desired to enter into to provide for the site preparation, construction, 

improvement, maintenance, operation and financing of the project. The agreement 

outlines the responsibilities of the City and Park District. 

 

Should the City Commission approve the agreement, it will move to the Mandan Park 

Board for their consideration. Should this agreement be approved, next, an Escrow 

Agreement will be entered into between the City, Park District and Bank of North Dakota 

for the purposes of holding the revenues, and distribution of bond proceeds etc. 

 

ATTACHMENTS:   Joint Powers Agreement 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  100% of the additional sales tax approved will be utilized to fund the 

project. 

 

STAFF IMPACT: minimal 

 

LEGAL REVIEW:  City Attorney Brown and Attorney Scott Wegner have authored the 

agreement in consultation with the Park District. 

 

MEETING DATE: July 21, 2015 

PREPARATION DATE: July 17, 2015 

SUBMITTING DEPARTMENT: Administration 

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: Jim Neubauer, City Administrator 

PRESENTER: Malcolm Brown, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

 

  

New Business No. 4 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

Page 2 of 6 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  I recommend approving the Joint Powers Agreement between 

the City of Mandan and the Mandan Park District related to the sales tax authorized by 

City Ordinance 1210. 

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: I move to approve the Joint Powers Agreement between the 

City of Mandan and the Mandan Park District related to the sales tax authorized by City 

Ordinance 1210. 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

Page 3 of 6 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

Page 4 of 6 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

Page 5 of 6 

 

 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 



 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 1207 

 

An Ordinance to Adopt the Re-Codification of the 

Mandan Code of Ordinances 

 

WHEREAS, The City of Mandan contracted with Municode Corporation to draft and 

revise the current Mandan Code of Ordinances; and 

 

WHEREAS, Municode Corporation has completed their work and submitted a revised 

version of the Mandan Code of Ordinances; and 

 

WHEREAS, Edits to what Municode Corporation prepared are listed in Appendix A; and 

 

WHEREAS, Updates to the FEMA FIRM maps have been received by the city and 

language recognizing those updates has been incorporated in the new code language. 

  

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of City Commissioners of the City 

of Mandan, Morton County, North Dakota, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Adoption of code.  The revised Mandan Code of Ordinances as prepared by 

Municode Corporation is hereby adopted including the edits listed in Appendix A. 

 

Section 2.  Penalties.  Section 1-9 of the revised Mandan Code of Ordinances relating to 

penalties provides as follows:  

 

 (c) All violations of this Code other than non-criminal traffic violations are an offense 

unless stated otherwise.  Except as otherwise provided: 

 

(1) A person convicted of a violation of this Code that is an offense shall be punished 

by a fine not exceeding $1,500.00 and imprisonment not to exceed 30 days, or by 

both such fine and imprisonment. 

 

(2) A person convicted of a violation of this Code that is a Class B misdemeanor shall 

be punished by a fine not exceeding $1,500.00 and imprisonment not to exceed 30 

days, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

 

(3) A person convicted of a violation of this Code that is an infraction shall be punished 

by a fine not exceeding $1,000.00; provided that any person convicted of an 

infraction who has, within one year prior to commission of the infraction for which 

convicted, been previously convicted of an offense classified as an infraction of 

state statutes or the ordinances of this or any other state municipality may be 

sentenced as though convicted of an offense. 

 

(4) A person convicted of a violation of this Code regulating the operation or 

Resolutions and Ordinances No. 1 



equipment of motor vehicles or regulating traffic shall be punished as provided in 

state law. 

 

(5) With respect to violations of this Code that are continuous with respect to time, 

each day the violation continues is a separate offense. 

 

(6) As to other violations, each act is a separate offense. 

 

 (d) Violations of this Code that are continuous with respect to time may be abated by 

injunctive or other equitable relief.  The imposition of a penalty does not prevent equitable relief. 

 

 (e) This section shall not be construed to prohibit the utilization of the sentencing 

alternatives, other than a fine or imprisonment, provide by N.D.C.C. Title 12.1. 

 

 (f) The imposition of a penalty shall not prevent the city from revoking or suspending 

any license, franchise or permit. 

 

 (g) When an organization, as defined in N.D.C.C. § 12.1-03-04, is convicted of an 

offense, the court may, in addition to any other sentence imposed, require the organization to give 

notice of its conviction to the persons or class of persons ostensibly harmed by the offense by mail 

or by advertising in designated areas or by designated media or otherwise. 

 

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect on October 1, 2015. 

 

 

 

 _________________________________ 

President, Board of City Commissioners  

Attest: 

 

 

________________________ 

City Administrator 

 

First Consideration:     July 21, 2015   

Second Consideration 

and Final Passage:        

Publication Date:         

 

  



Appendix A to Ordinance 1207 

 

Subsections (h) and (i) are added to Section 1-9 as follows: 

 

(h) The board of city commissioners, at its discretion, may set, by resolution, a fixed amount 

for various penalties listed within this code that the police department shall use in issuing citations.  

The amount listed on the citation is the recommended penalty and the municipal judge has full 

discretion to modify the recommended penalty when imposing sentence. 

 

(i) Unless otherwise specified, the primary enforcement agents for the city are the police chief 

and code enforcement officer or their designees. 

 

Article 4 is added to Chapter 18 to read: 

 

Chapter 18 Article 4.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 18-4-1.  Aiding consummation of crime. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-08-04. 

 

12.1-08-04.  Aiding consummation of crime. 

1. A person is guilty of aiding consummation of crime if he intentionally aids another to 

secrete, disguise, or convert the proceeds of a crime or otherwise profit from a crime. 

2. Aiding consummation of a crime: 

a. Is a class C felony if the actor knows of the conduct of the other and such conduct 

constitutes a class A or class B felony. 

b. Is a class A misdemeanor if the actor knows of the conduct of the other and such 

conduct constitutes a class C felony or class A misdemeanor. 

Otherwise aiding consummation of a crime is a class B misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 18-4-2.  Refusing to halt. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-08-11. 

 

12.1-08-11. Refusing to halt. 

Any person, other than the driver of a motor vehicle under section 39-10-71, who willfully fails 

or refuses to stop or who otherwise flees or attempts to elude, in any manner, a pursuing peace 

officer, when given a visual or audible signal to stop, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor for a first 



or second offense and a class A misdemeanor for a subsequent offense. A signal to stop complies 

with this section if the signal is perceptible to the person and: 

1. If given from a vehicle, the signal is given by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren, and 

the vehicle is appropriately marked showing it to be an official law enforcement vehicle; or 

2. If not given from a vehicle, the signal is given by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren, 

and the officer is in uniform or prominently displays the officer's badge of office. 

 

Sec. 18-4-3.  Impersonating officials. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-13-04. 

 

2.1-13-04.  Impersonating officials. 

1. A person is guilty of an offense if he falsely pretends to be: 

a. A public servant, other than a law enforcement officer, and acts as if to exercise the 

authority of such public servant. 

b. A public servant or a former public servant and thereby obtains a thing of value. 

c. A law enforcement officer. 

2. It is no defense to prosecution under this section that the pretended capacity did not exist or 

the pretended authority could not legally or otherwise have been exercised or conferred. 

3. An offense under subdivision b or c of subsection 1 is a class A misdemeanor.  An offense 

under subdivision a of subsection 1 is a class B misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 18-4-4.  Simple assault. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-17-01. 

 

12.1-17-01.  Simple assault. 

1. A person is guilty of an offense if that person: 

a. Willfully causes bodily injury to another human being; or 

b. Negligently causes bodily injury to another human being by means of a firearm, 

destructive device, or other weapon, the use of which against a human being is likely to 

cause death or serious bodily injury. 

2. The offense is: 

a. A class C felony when the victim is a peace officer or correctional institution employee 

acting in an official capacity, which the actor knows to be a fact; an employee of the 

state hospital acting in the course and scope of employment, which the actor knows to 

be a fact, and the actor is an individual committed to or detained at the state hospital 

pursuant to chapter 25-03.3; a person engaged in a judicial proceeding; or a member of 

a municipal or volunteer fire department or emergency medical services personnel unit 

or emergency department worker in the performance of the member's duties. 

b. A class B misdemeanor for the first offense when the victim is an actor's family or 

household member as defined in subsection 4 of section 14-07.1-01 and a class A 

misdemeanor for a second or subsequent offense when the victim is an actor's family or 

household member as defined in subsection 4 of section 14-07.1-01 and the actor has a 



prior conviction for simple assault under this section or an assault offense under section 

12.1-17-01.1 or 12.1-17-02 involving the commission of domestic violence as defined 

in subsection 2 of section 14-07.1-01.  For purposes of this subdivision, a prior 

conviction includes a conviction of any assault offense in which a finding of domestic 

violence was made under a law or ordinance of another state which is equivalent to this 

subdivision. 

c. A class B misdemeanor except as provided in subdivision a or b. 

 

Sec. 18-4-5.  Harassment. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-17-07. 

 

12.1-17-07.  Harassment. 

1. A person is guilty of an offense if, with intent to frighten or harass another, the person: 

a. Communicates in writing or by electronic communication a threat to inflict injury on 

any person, to any person's reputation, or to any property; 

b. Makes a telephone call anonymously or in offensively coarse language; 

c. Makes repeated telephone calls or other electronic communication, whether or not a 

conversation ensues, with no purpose of legitimate communication; or 

d. Communicates a falsehood in writing or by electronic communication and causes 

mental anguish. 

2. The offense is a class A misdemeanor if it is under subdivision a of subsection 1 or 

subsection 4.  Otherwise it is a class B misdemeanor. 

3. Any offense defined herein and committed by use of electronic communication may be 

deemed to have been committed at either the place at which the electronic communication 

was made or at the place where the electronic communication was received. 

4. A person is guilty of an offense if the person initiates communication with a 911 

emergency line, public safety answering point, or an emergency responder communication 

system with the intent to annoy or harass another person or a public safety agency or who 

makes a false report to a public safety agency. 

a. Intent to annoy or harass is established by proof of one or more calls with no legitimate 

emergency purpose. 

b. Upon conviction of a violation of this subsection, a person is also liable for all costs 

incurred by any unnecessary emergency response. 

5. Any offense defined herein is deemed communicated in writing if it is transmitted 

electronically, by electronic mail, facsimile, or other similar means.  Electronic 

communication means transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data, or 

intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a wire, radio, electromagnetic, 

photo-electronic, or photo-optical system. 

 

Sec. 18-4-6.  Criminal mischief. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-21-05. 

 



12.1-21-05.  Criminal mischief. 

1. A person is guilty of an offense if that person: 

a. Willfully tampers with tangible property of another so as to endanger person or 

property; or 

b. Willfully damages tangible property of another. 

2. The offense is: 

a. A class B felony if the actor intentionally causes pecuniary loss in excess of ten 

thousand dollars. 

b. A class C felony if the actor intentionally causes pecuniary loss in excess of two 

thousand dollars but not in excess of ten thousand dollars or damages tangible property 

of another by means of an explosive or a destructive device. 

c. A class A misdemeanor if the actor recklessly causes pecuniary loss in excess of two 

thousand dollars or if the actor intentionally causes pecuniary loss of from one hundred 

dollars through two thousand dollars. 

Otherwise the offense is a class B misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 18-4-7.  Criminal trespass. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-22-03. 

 

12.1-22-03.  Criminal trespass. 

1. An individual is guilty of a class C felony if, knowing that that individual is not licensed or 

privileged to do so, the individual enters or remains in a dwelling or in highly secured 

premises. 

2. An individual is guilty of a class A misdemeanor if, knowing that that individual is not 

licensed or privileged to do so, the individual: 

a. Enters or remains in or on any building, occupied structure, or storage structure, or 

separately secured or occupied portion thereof; or 

b. Enters or remains in any place so enclosed as manifestly to exclude intruders. 

3. An individual is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if, knowing that that individual is not 

licensed or privileged to do so, the individual enters or remains in any place as to which 

notice against trespass is given by actual communication to the actor by the individual in 

charge of the premises or other authorized individual or by posting in a manner reasonably 

likely to come to the attention of intruders.  The name of the person posting the premises 

must appear on each sign in legible characters.  An individual who violates this subsection 

is guilty of a class A misdemeanor for the second or subsequent offense within a two-year 

period. 

4. An individual is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if that individual remains upon the 

property of another after being requested to leave the property by a duly authorized 

individual.  An individual who violates this subsection is guilty of a class A misdemeanor 

for the second or subsequent offense within a two-year period. 

5. This section does not apply to a peace officer in the course of discharging the peace 

officer's official duties. 

 

Sec. 18-4-8.  Theft of property. 



 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-23-02. 

 

12.1-23-02.  Theft of property. 

A person is guilty of theft if he: 

1. Knowingly takes or exercises unauthorized control over, or makes an unauthorized transfer 

of an interest in, the property of another with intent to deprive the owner thereof; 

2. Knowingly obtains the property of another by deception or by threat with intent to deprive 

the owner thereof, or intentionally deprives another of his property by deception or by 

threat; or 

3. Knowingly receives, retains, or disposes of property of another which has been stolen, with 

intent to deprive the owner thereof. 

 

Sec. 18-4-9.  Theft of services. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-23-03. 

 

12.1-23-03.  Theft of services. 

A person is guilty of theft if: 

1. He intentionally obtains services, known by him to be available only for compensation, by 

deception, threat, false token, or other means to avoid payment for the services; or 

2. Having control over the disposition of services of another to which he is not entitled, he 

knowingly diverts those services to his own benefit or to the benefit of another not entitled 

thereto.  Where compensation for services is ordinarily paid immediately upon their 

rendition, as in the case of hotels, restaurants, and comparable establishments, absconding 

without payment or making provision to pay is prima facie evidence that the services were 

obtained by deception. 

 

Sec. 18-4-10.  Inciting riot or engaging in a riot. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-25-01 and 12.1-25-03. 

 

12.1-25-01.  Inciting riot. 

1. A person is guilty of an offense if he: 

a. Incites or urges five or more persons to create or engage in a riot; or 

b. Gives commands, instructions, or directions to five or more persons in furtherance of a 

riot. 

2. "Riot" means a public disturbance involving an assemblage of five or more persons which 

by tumultuous and violent conduct creates grave danger of damage or injury to property or 

persons or substantially obstructs law enforcement or other government function. 

3. A person shall be convicted under section 12.1-06-01, 12.1-06-03, or 12.1-06-04 of 

attempt, solicitation, or conspiracy to commit an offense under this section only if he 

engages in the prohibited conduct under circumstances in which there is a substantial 



likelihood that his conduct will imminently produce a violation of this section. 

4. The offense is a class C felony if it is under subdivision b of subsection 1 and the riot 

involves one hundred or more persons.  Otherwise it is a class A misdemeanor. 

 

12.1-25-03.  Engaging in a riot. 

1. A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if he engages in a riot, as defined in section 

12.1-25-01. 

2. The provisions of subsection 3 of section 12.1-25-01 are applicable to attempt, solicitation, 

and conspiracy to commit an offense under this section.  Mere presence at a riot is not an 

offense under this section. 

 

Sec. 18-4-11.  Disorderly conduct. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-31-01. 

 

12.1-31-01.  Disorderly conduct. 

1. An individual is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if, with intent to harass, annoy, or alarm 

another person or in reckless disregard of the fact that another person is harassed, annoyed, 

or alarmed by the individual's behavior, the individual: 

a. Engages in fighting, or in violent, tumultuous, or threatening behavior; 

b. Makes unreasonable noise; 

c. In a public place, uses abusive or obscene language, knowingly exposes that 

individual's penis, vulva, or anus, or makes an obscene gesture; 

d. Obstructs vehicular or pedestrian traffic or the use of a public facility; 

e. Persistently follows a person in or about a public place or places; 

f. While loitering in a public place for the purpose of soliciting sexual contact, the 

individual solicits the contact; 

g. Creates a hazardous, physically offensive, or seriously alarming condition by any act 

that serves no legitimate purpose; 

h. Engages in harassing conduct by means of intrusive or unwanted acts, words, or 

gestures that are intended to adversely affect the safety, security, or privacy of another 

person; or 

i. Uses a fixed optical device that enhances or records a visual occurrence to view 

through any window of another person's property; or uses a surveillance camera to 

capture an image from the dwelling or accessory structure of another person; however, 

an individual using a surveillance camera has seven days from notice by a law 

enforcement officer to direct or shield the camera so as to not capture an image from 

another person's dwelling or accessory structure before there is an offense. 

2. This section does not apply to constitutionally protected activity.  If an individual claims 

to have been engaged in a constitutionally protected activity, the court shall determine the 

validity of the claim as a matter of law and, if found valid, shall exclude evidence of the 

activity. 

 

Sec. 18-4-12.  Disorderly conduct at a funeral - Penalty. 

 



Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-31-01.1. 

 

12.1-31-01.1. Disorderly conduct at a funeral - Penalty. 

1. For purposes of this section: 

a. "Funeral" means the ceremonies, rituals, processions, and memorial services held at a 

funeral site in connection with the burial, cremation, or memorial of a deceased 

individual. 

b. "Funeral site" means a church, synagogue, mosque, funeral home, mortuary, cemetery, 

gravesite, mausoleum, or other place at which a funeral is conducted or is scheduled to 

be conducted within the next hour or has been conducted within the last hour. 

2. An individual is guilty of disorderly conduct at a funeral if the individual: 

a. Engages, with knowledge of the existence of a funeral site, in any loud singing, playing 

of music, chanting, whistling, yelling, or noisemaking within one thousand feet 

[300.48 meters] of any ingress or egress of that funeral site if the volume of the singing, 

music, chanting, whistling, yelling, or noisemaking is likely to be audible at and 

disturbing to the funeral site; or 

b. Displays, with knowledge of the existence of a funeral site and within one thousand 

feet [300.48 meters] of any ingress or egress of that funeral site, any visual images that 

convey fighting words or actual or veiled threats against any other individual. 

3. Disorderly conduct at a funeral is a class B misdemeanor. A second or subsequent violation 

of this section is a class A misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 18-4-13.  Sale of tobacco, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products 

to minors and use by minors prohibited. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-31-03. 

 

12.1-31-03. Sale of tobacco, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products to 

minors and use by minors prohibited. 

1.  a.  It is an infraction for any person to sell or furnish to a minor, or procure for a minor, 

cigarettes, cigarette papers, cigars, snuff, tobacco in any other form in which it may be 

utilized for smoking or chewing, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine 

products. As used in this subdivision, "sell" includes dispensing from a vending 

machine under the control of the actor. 

    b. It is an infraction for any person to display or offer for sale cigarettes, cigarette papers, 

cigars, snuff, tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or 

chewing, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products through a 

self-service display. This subdivision does not apply to a: 

(1) Vending machine or other coin-operated machine that is permitted under section 

12.1-31-03.1; or 

(2) Self-service display that is located in a tobacco specialty store. 

2. It is a noncriminal offense for a minor to purchase, possess, smoke, or use cigarettes, 

cigars, cigarette papers, snuff, tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for 

smoking or chewing, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products. 



However, an individual under eighteen years of age may purchase and possess tobacco, 

electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products as part of a compliance survey 

program when acting with the permission of the individual's parent or guardian and while 

acting under the supervision of any law enforcement authority. A state agency, city, 

county, board of health, tobacco, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine 

products retailer, or association of tobacco, electronic smoking devices, or alternative 

nicotine products retailers may also conduct compliance surveys, after coordination with 

the appropriate local law enforcement authority. 

3. It is a noncriminal offense for a minor to present or offer to another individual a purported 

proof of age which is false, fraudulent, or not actually the minor's own proof of age, for the 

purpose of attempting to purchase or possess cigarettes, cigars, cigarette papers, snuff, 

tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, electronic 

smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products. 

4. A city or county may adopt an ordinance or resolution regarding the sale of tobacco, 

electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products to minors and use of tobacco, 

electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products by minors which includes 

prohibitions in addition to those in subsection 1, 2, or 3. Any ordinance or resolution 

adopted must include provisions deeming a violation of subsection 2 or 3 a noncriminal 

violation and must provide for a fee of not less than twenty-five dollars for a minor 

fourteen years of age or older who has been charged with an offense under subsection 2 or 

3. The failure to post a required bond or pay an assessed fee by an individual found to have 

violated the ordinance or resolution is punishable as a contempt of court, except a minor 

may not be imprisoned for the contempt. 

5. A minor fourteen years of age or older found to have violated subsection 2 or 3 must pay a 

fee of twenty-five dollars. 

a. Any individual who has been cited for a violation of subsection 2 or 3 may appear 

before a court of competent jurisdiction and pay the fee by the time scheduled for a 

hearing, or if bond has been posted, may forfeit the bond by not appearing at the 

scheduled time. An individual appearing at the time scheduled in the citation may make 

a statement in explanation of that individual's action and the judge may waive, reduce, 

or suspend the fee or bond, or both. If the individual cited follows the procedures of this 

subdivision, that individual has admitted the violation and has waived the right to a 

hearing on the issue of commission of the violation. The bond required to secure 

appearance before the court must be identical to the fee. This subdivision does not 

allow a citing officer to receive the fee or bond. 

b. If an individual cited for a violation of subsection 2 or 3 does not choose to follow the 

procedures provided under subdivision a, that individual may request a hearing on the 

issue of the commission of the violation cited. The hearing must be held at the time 

scheduled in the citation or at some future time, not to exceed ninety days later, set at 

that first appearance. At the time of a request for a hearing on the issue on commission 

of the violation, the individual cited shall deposit with the court an appearance bond 

equal to the fee for the violation cited. 

c. The failure to post bond or to pay an assessed fee is punishable as a contempt of court, 

except a minor may not be imprisoned for the contempt. 

6. The prosecution must prove the commission of a cited violation under subsection 2 or 3 by 

a preponderance of the evidence. 



7. A law enforcement officer that cites a minor for violation of this section shall mail a notice 

of the violation to the parent or legal guardian of the minor within ten days of the citation. 

8. A person adjudged guilty of contempt for failure to pay a fee or fine may be sentenced by 

the court to a sanction or order designed to ensure compliance with the payment of the fee 

or fine or to an alternative sentence or sanction including community service. 

9. As used in this section: 

a. "Alternative nicotine product" means any noncombustible product containing nicotine 

that is intended for human consumption, whether chewed, absorbed, dissolved, or 

ingested by any other means. The term does not include any cigarette, cigar, snuff, 

tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, any 

electronic smoking device, or any product regulated as a drug or device by the United 

States Food and Drug Administration under chapter V of the federal Food, Drug, and 

Cosmetic Act [21 U.S.C 501 et seq.]. 

b. "Electronic smoking device" means any electronic product that delivers nicotine or 

other substances to the individual inhaling from the device, including, an electronic 

cigarette, e-cigar, e-pipe, vape pen, or e-hookah. Electronic smoking device includes 

any component, part, or accessory of such a product, whether or not sold separately. 

Electronic smoking device does not include drugs, devices, or combination products 

approved for sale by the United States food and drug administration, as those terms are 

defined in the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act [52 Stat. 1040; 21 U.S.C. 301 et 

seq.]. 

c. "Self-service display" means a display that contains cigarettes, cigarette papers, cigars, 

snuff, tobacco in any other form which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, 

electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products and is located in an area 

that is openly accessible to the retailer's customers, and from which customers can 

readily access those products without the assistance of a salesperson. A display case 

that holds those products behind locked doors does not constitute a self-service display. 

d. "Tobacco specialty store" means a retail store that: 

(1) Derives at least seventy-five percent of its revenue from the sale of cigarettes, 

cigarette papers, cigars, snuff, tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized 

for smoking or chewing, electronic smoking devices, or alternative nicotine 

products; and 

(2) Does not permit minors to enter the premises unless accompanied by a parent or 

legal guardian. 

e. "Vending machine" means a machine, appliance, or other mechanical device operated 

by currency, token, debit card, credit card, or other means of payment that is designed 

or used for vending purposes, including machines or devices that use remote control 

locking mechanisms. 

 

Sec. 18-4-14.  Vending machines prohibited - Penalty. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

12.1-31-03.1. 

 

12.1-31-03.1. Vending machines prohibited - Penalty. 

1. It is an infraction for any person to sell or furnish cigarettes, cigarette papers, cigars, snuff, 



tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, electronic 

smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products through a vending machine, except as 

provided in subsection 2. 

2. Subsection 1 does not apply to: 

a. A vending machine that is located in an area in which minors are not permitted access; 

or 

b. A vending machine that dispenses cigarettes, cigarette papers, cigars, snuff, tobacco in 

any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, electronic smoking 

devices, or alternative nicotine products through the operation of a device that requires 

a salesperson to control the dispensation of such product. 

3. It is an infraction for any person to sell or furnish cigarettes, cigarette papers, cigars, snuff, 

tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing, electronic 

smoking devices, or alternative nicotine products through any vending machine, if those 

products are placed together with any nontobacco product, other than matches, in the 

vending machine. 

4. As used in this section, "electronic smoking devices" and "alternative nicotine products" 

have the same meaning as in section 12.1-31-03. 

 

Sec. 18-4-15.  Retail theft act. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 51-21. 

 

Chapter 51-21 Retail Theft Act 

 

51-21-01. Definitions. 

As used in this chapter, unless the context requires otherwise: 

1. An item is "concealed" within the meaning of this chapter if, even though there is some 

notice of its presence, the item itself is not visible through ordinary observation. 

2. "Full retail value" means the merchant's stated or advertised price of the merchandise. 

3. "Merchandise" means any item of tangible personal property and specifically includes 

shopping carts. 

4. "Merchant" means an owner or operator of any retail mercantile establishment or any 

agent, employee, lessee, consignee, officer, franchisee, or independent contractor or such 

owner or operator. 

5. "Person" means any natural person or individual. 

6. "Premises of a retail mercantile establishment" includes, but is not limited to, the retail 

mercantile establishment, any common-use areas in shopping centers, and all parking areas 

set aside by a merchant, or on behalf of a merchant, for the parking of vehicles for the 

convenience of the patrons of said retail mercantile establishment. 

7. "Retail mercantile establishment" means any place where merchandise is displayed, held, 

offered, or stored for sale to the public. 

8. "Shopping cart" means those pushcarts of the type or types which are commonly provided 

by grocery stores, drugstores, or other retail mercantile establishments for the use of the 

public in transporting commodities in stores and markets and, incidentally, from the stores 

to a place outside the store. 

 



51-21-02. Presumption. 

Any person concealing upon that person's person or among that person's belongings, or 

causing to be concealed upon the person or among the belongings of another, unpurchased 

merchandise displayed, held, offered, or stored for sale in a retail mercantile establishment and 

removing it to a point beyond the last station for receiving payments in that retail mercantile 

establishment shall be prima facie presumed to have so concealed such merchandise with the 

intention of permanently depriving the merchant of possession or of the full retail value of such 

merchandise. 

 

51-21-03. Detention of suspect - Procedure. 

Any peace officer or merchant who reasonably believes that a person has committed, or is in 

the process of committing, theft may detain such person, on or off the premises of a retail 

mercantile establishment, in a reasonable manner and for a reasonable length of time for all or any 

of the following purposes: 

1. To require the person to identify oneself. 

2. To verify such identification. 

3. To determine whether such person has in the person's possession unpurchased merchandise 

and, if so, to recover such merchandise. 

4. To inform a peace officer of the detention of the person and surrender custody of that 

person to a peace officer. 

5. In the case of a minor, to inform a peace officer, the parents, guardian, or other private 

person interested in the welfare of that minor of this detention and to surrender custody of 

said minor to the person informed. 

 

51-21-04. Civil and criminal immunity for acts of detention. 

Any peace officer or merchant who detains any person as permitted under section 51-21-03 

may not be held civilly or criminally liable for any claim for relief allegedly arising from such 

detention. 

 

51-21-05. Civil remedy against adult shoplifters or the parent of a minor shoplifter. 

1. An adult who commits the offense of theft from a merchant is civilly liable to the merchant 

for the retail value of the merchandise, plus exemplary damages of not more than two 

hundred fifty dollars, costs of the civil action, and reasonable attorney's fees. 

2. The parent or legal guardian of an unemancipated minor who while living with the parent 

or legal guardian commits the offense of theft from a merchant is civilly liable to the 

merchant for the retail value of the merchandise, plus exemplary damages of not more than 

two hundred fifty dollars, costs of the civil action, and reasonable attorney's fees. If the 

merchant knows or reasonably should know that the individual believed to have committed 

theft is a minor, the merchant may not request that the individual sign an admission of theft 

or other similar declaration unless the minor's parent, guardian, or attorney is present. An 

admission in violation of this subsection is not valid and is inadmissible in a civil or 

criminal action. 

3. A conviction or plea of guilty for the theft is not a prerequisite to the bringing of a civil 

action under this section. However, if a criminal theft charge is filed against the individual, 

the merchant may not pursue civil damages until completion of the criminal action. 



4. A parent or legal guardian of an unemancipated minor is not civilly liable under this section 

if it is determined by the court that one of the principal rationales for the shoplifting was a 

desire on the part of the minor to cause the minor's parent or legal guardian to be liable 

under this section. 

 

Sec. 18-4-16.  Discharge of firearm within city. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

62.1-02-6. 

 

62.1-02-06.  Discharge of firearm within city - Penalty - Application. 

A person who discharges a firearm within a city is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.  This 

section does not apply to the lawful discharge of firearms by law enforcement officers, by citizens 

in defense of person or property, or by participants in lawful activities in which discharge of 

firearms is a recognized part of the activity, including shooting galleries and ranges. 

 

Sec. 18-4-17.  Carrying loaded firearm in vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

62.1-02-10. 

 

62.1-02-10.  Carrying loaded firearm in vehicle - Penalty - Exceptions. 

An individual may not keep or carry a loaded firearm in or on any motor vehicle in this state.  

An individual violating this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.  This prohibition does not 

apply to: 

1. A member of the armed forces of the United States or national guard, organized reserves, 

state defense forces, or state guard organizations while possessing the firearm issued to the 

member by the organization and while on official duty. 

2. A law enforcement officer, except while the officer is engaged in hunting or trapping 

activities with a rifle or shotgun. 

3. An individual possessing a valid North Dakota concealed weapons license or a valid 

license issued by another state authorizing the individual to carry a firearm or dangerous 

weapon concealed if that state permits a holder of a valid North Dakota concealed weapons 

license to carry a firearm or dangerous weapon concealed in that state without obtaining a 

similar license from that state, except while that individual is in the field engaged in 

hunting or trapping activities. 

4. An individual in the field engaged in lawful hunting or trapping of nongame species or 

fur-bearing animals. 

5. A security guard or private investigator properly licensed to carry firearms. 

6. An individual possessing a valid special permit issued pursuant to section 20.1-02-05. 

 

Section 20-8-8 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 20-8-8.  Computation of benefit distributions. 

 

(a) Retirement or disability.  If a participant's employment with the city is terminated at or 



after the participant attains 65 years of age or if the participant's employment is terminated at an 

earlier age because of disability, the participant shall be vested in and entitled to receive the entire 

amount of contributions in each of the participant's accounts.  The entire amount in a participant's 

account at termination of employment shall include any city contributions. 

 

(b) Death.  In the event of a participant's death, the beneficiary shall be vested in and paid the 

entire amount of the participant's accounts. 

 

(c) Termination for other reasons.  If a participant's employment with the city is terminated 

before 65 years of age for any reason other than disability or death, the participant shall be entitled 

to: 

 

(1) The entire amount credited to the participant's employee contribution account. 

 

(2) The participant shall be vested in and entitled to receive an amount equal to a percentage of 

the value of the participant's employer contribution account, if any.  Such percentage is to 

be determined in accordance with the following schedule: 

 

Years of Service Vesting Percentage 

Less than 1 0% 

1 25% 

2 50% 

3 75% 

4 100% 

 

(d) Normal participant retirement age. 

 

(1) A participant attains normal retirement age under the plan when the participant attains the 

age of 65 years. 

 

(2) The plan designates attainment of age 55 years for sworn police officers and career 

firefighters. 

 

The following is added to Section 22-2-2: 

 

There is imposed an additional tax of three-fourths percent upon the gross receipts of retailers 

from all sales at retail, including the leasing and renting of tangible personal property, within the 

corporate limits of the city, of those items subject to taxation under N.D.C.C. ch. 57-39.2, until 

such time as bonds for the construction of certain Park District improvements, subject of a June 9, 

2015 special election are paid in full, at which time the additional tax of three-fourths percent shall 

terminate.  

 

Section 24-1-2 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 24-1-2.  Penalties. 

 



(a) Any person violating any of the provisions of this chapter for which another criminal 

penalty is not provided specifically is guilty of an infraction.  As used in this section, the term 

"another criminal penalty" includes provision for payment of a fixed fee for violating another 

section in this chapter, but does not include any other administrative sanction which may be 

imposed. 

 

(b) Except for article 7 of this chapter or as provided by state law, the fine for violating this 

chapter shall be $20.00 unless another amount for a specific infraction is established by resolution 

of the board of city commissioners. 

 

(c) The fine for violating article 7 of this chapter is $10.00 unless another amount for a specific 

infraction is established by resolution of the board of city commissioners. 

 

Section 24-5-1 (3) is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 24-5-1.  Additional rules for operation of off-highway vehicles. 

 

(c) Passing another off-highway vehicle while such off-highway vehicle is in operation and 

underway on any street, alley, highway, or other public ground or place in the city. 

 

Article 11 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 11.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – criminal offenses. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-11-1.  Violations of registration provisions. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-04-37. 

 

39-04-37.  Violations of registration provisions. 

It is unlawful for any person to commit any of the following acts: 

1. To operate, or for the owner thereof knowingly to permit anyone to operate, upon a 

highway any vehicle the registration of which has been canceled or revoked, or for which 

the registration fees required in this title have not been paid, or which does not have 

attached thereto and displayed thereon a number plate, plates, or validation tabs assigned 

thereto by the director for the current registration period, subject to the exemptions allowed 

in this title. 

2. To display or cause or permit to be displayed, or to have in possession, any registration 

card, registration number plate, or validation tabs knowing the same to be fictitious or to 

have been canceled, revoked, suspended, or altered. 



3. To lend any registration number plate, registration card, or validation tabs to any person 

not entitled thereto, or knowingly permit the use of any registration number plate or 

registration card by any person not entitled thereto. 

4. To fail or refuse to surrender to the department, upon demand, any registration card, 

registration number plate, or validation tab which has been suspended, canceled, or 

revoked as is provided in this chapter. 

5. To use a false or fictitious name or address in any application for the registration of any 

vehicle, or for any renewal or duplicate thereof, or knowingly to make a false statement or 

knowingly to conceal a material fact or otherwise to commit a fraud in any application 

 

Sec. 24-11-2.  Penalty for driving while license suspended or revoked. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-42. 

 

39-06-42.  Penalty for driving while license suspended or revoked - Impoundment of vehicle 

number plates - Authority of cities. 

1. Except as provided in section 39-06.1-11, an individual who operates a motor vehicle on a 

highway or on public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular 

use in this state while an individual's operator's license is suspended or revoked in any 

jurisdiction is guilty of a class B misdemeanor for the first, second, or third offense within 

a five-year period.  Any subsequent offense within the same five-year period is a class A 

misdemeanor. 

2. If the suspension or revocation was imposed for violation of section 39-08-01 or equivalent 

ordinance or was governed by section 39-06-31 or chapter 39-20, the sentence must be at 

least four consecutive days' imprisonment and a fine as the court deems proper.  The 

execution of sentence may not be suspended or the imposition of sentence deferred under 

subsection 3 or 4 of section 12.1-32-02.  Forfeiture of bail is not permitted in lieu of the 

defendant's personal appearance in open court for arraignment on a charge under this 

subsection. 

3. A court may dismiss a charge under this section upon motion by the defendant if the 

defendant's operator's license is reinstated within sixty days of the date of the offense and 

the defendant provides to the court satisfactory evidence of the reinstatement. 

4. In addition to any other punishment imposed, the court may order the number plates of the 

motor vehicle owned and operated by the offender at the time of the offense to be destroyed 

by the sheriff.  If a period of suspension has been extended under subsection 6 of section 

39-06-17, the court may order the number plates to be destroyed under this subsection.  

The offender shall deliver the number plates to the court without delay at a time certain as 

ordered by the court following the conviction.  The court shall deliver the number plates to 

the sheriff and notify the department of the order.  An offender who does not provide the 

number plates to the court at the appropriate time is subject to revocation of probation. 

5. A city may authorize, by ordinance, its municipal judge to order destruction of motor 

vehicle number plates by the office of the police officer that made the arrest in the manner 

provided in subsection 4. 

 

Sec. 24-11-3.  Persons under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any other drugs or 



substances not to operate vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-01. 

 

39-08-01.  Persons under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any other drugs or substances 

not to operate vehicle - Penalty. 

1. A person may not drive or be in actual physical control of any vehicle upon a highway or 

upon public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in 

this state if any of the following apply: 

a. That person has an alcohol concentration of at least eight one-hundredths of one 

percent by weight at the time of the performance of a chemical test within two hours 

after the driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle. 

b. That person is under the influence of intoxicating liquor. 

c. That person is under the influence of any drug or substance or combination of drugs or 

substances to a degree which renders that person incapable of safely driving. 

d. That person is under the combined influence of alcohol and any other drugs or 

substances to a degree which renders that person incapable of safely driving. 

e. That individual refuses to submit to any of the following: 

(1) A chemical test, or tests, of the individual's blood, breath, or urine to determine the 

alcohol concentration or presence of other drugs, or combination thereof, in the 

individual's blood, breath, or urine, at the direction of a law enforcement officer 

under section 39-06.2-10.2 if the individual is driving or is in actual physical 

control of a commercial motor vehicle; or 

(2) A chemical test, or tests, of the individual's blood, breath, or urine to determine the 

alcohol concentration or presence of other drugs, or combination thereof, in the 

individual's blood, breath, or urine, at the direction of a law enforcement officer 

under section 39-20-01; or 

(3) An onsite screening test, or tests, of the individual's breath for the purpose of 

estimating the alcohol concentration in the individual's breath upon the request of a 

law enforcement officer under section 39-20-14. 

The fact that any person charged with violating this section is or has been legally entitled to 

use alcohol or other drugs or substances is not a defense against any charge for violating 

this section, unless a drug which predominately caused impairment was used only as 

directed or cautioned by a practitioner who legally prescribed or dispensed the drug to that 

person. 

2. An individual who operates a motor vehicle on a highway or on public or private areas to 

which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in this state who refuses to submit to 

a chemical test, or tests, required under section 39-06.2-10.2, 39-20-01, or 39-20-14, is 

guilty of an offense under this section. 

3. An individual violating this section or equivalent ordinance is guilty of a class B 

misdemeanor for the first or second offense in a seven-year period, of a class A 

misdemeanor for a third offense in a seven-year period, of a class C felony for any fourth or 

subsequent offense regardless of the length of time since the previous offense.  The 

minimum penalty for violating this section is as provided in subsection 5.  The court shall 

take judicial notice of the fact that an offense would be a subsequent offense if indicated by 



the records of the director or may make a subsequent offense finding based on other 

evidence. 

4. Upon conviction of a second or subsequent offense within seven years under this section or 

equivalent ordinance, the court may order the motor vehicle number plates of all of the 

motor vehicles owned and operated by the offender at the time of the offense to be 

destroyed by the office of the police officer that made the arrest.  The offender shall 

deliver the number plates to the court without delay at a time certain as ordered by the court 

following the conviction.  The court shall deliver the number plates to the office and 

notify the department of the order.  An offender who does not provide the number plates 

to the court at the appropriate time is subject to revocation of probation.  The court may 

make an exception to this subsection, on an individual basis, to avoid undue hardship to an 

individual who is completely dependent on the motor vehicle for the necessities of life, 

including a family member of the convicted individual and a coowner of the motor vehicle, 

or if the offender is participating in the twenty-four seven sobriety program. 

5. A person convicted of violating this section, or an equivalent ordinance, must be sentenced 

in accordance with this subsection.  For purposes of this subsection, unless the context 

otherwise requires, "drug court program" means a district court-supervised treatment 

program approved by the supreme court which combines judicial supervision with alcohol 

and drug testing and chemical addiction treatment in a licensed treatment program.  The 

supreme court may adopt rules, including rules of procedure, for drug courts and the drug 

court program. 

a. (1) For a first offense, the sentence must include both a fine of at least five hundred 

dollars and an order for addiction evaluation by an appropriate licensed addiction 

treatment program. 

(2) In addition, for a first offense when the convicted person has an alcohol 

concentration of at least sixteen one-hundredths of one percent by weight, the 

offense is an aggravated first offense and the sentence must include a fine of at least 

seven hundred fifty dollars and at least two days' imprisonment. 

b. For a second offense within seven years, the sentence must include at least ten days' 

imprisonment, of which forty-eight hours must be served consecutively; a fine of one 

thousand five hundred dollars; an order for addiction evaluation by an appropriate 

licensed addiction treatment program; and at least twelve months' participation in the 

twenty-four seven sobriety program under chapter 54-12 as a mandatory condition of 

probation. 

c. For a third offense within seven years, the sentence must include at least one hundred 

twenty days' imprisonment; a fine of at least two thousand dollars; an order for 

addiction evaluation by an appropriate licensed addiction treatment program; at least 

one year's supervised probation; and participation in the twenty-four seven sobriety 

program under chapter 54-12 as a mandatory condition of probation. 

d. For a fourth or subsequent offense, the sentence must include at least one year and one 

day's imprisonment; a fine of at least two thousand dollars; an order for addiction 

evaluation by an appropriate licensed treatment program; at least two years' supervised 

probation; and participation in the twenty-four seven sobriety program under chapter 

54-12 as a mandatory condition of probation. 

e. The imposition of sentence under this section may not be deferred under subsection 4 

of section 12.1-32-02 for an offense subject to this section. 



f. If the offense is subject to subdivision a or b, a municipal court or district court may not 

suspend a sentence, but may convert each day of a term of imprisonment to ten hours of 

community service for an offense subject to paragraph 2 of subdivision a.  If the 

offense is subject to subdivision c, the district court may suspend a sentence, except for 

sixty days' imprisonment, under subsection 3 of section 12.1-32-02 on the condition 

that the defendant first undergo and complete an evaluation for alcohol and substance 

abuse treatment and rehabilitation and upon completion of the twenty-four seven 

sobriety program.  If the offense is subject to subdivision d, the district court may 

suspend a sentence, except for one year's imprisonment, under subsection 3 of section 

12.1-32-02 on the condition that the defendant first undergo and complete an 

evaluation for alcohol and substance abuse treatment and rehabilitation.  If the 

defendant is found to be in need of alcohol and substance abuse treatment and 

rehabilitation, the district court may order the defendant placed under the supervision 

and management of the department of corrections and rehabilitation and is subject to 

the conditions of probation under section 12.1-32-07.  The district court may require 

the defendant to complete alcohol and substance abuse treatment and rehabilitation 

under the direction of the drug court program as a condition of probation in accordance 

with rules adopted by the supreme court.  If the district court finds that a defendant has 

failed to undergo an evaluation or complete treatment or has violated any condition of 

probation, the district court shall revoke the defendant's probation and shall sentence 

the defendant in accordance with this subsection. 

g. For purposes of this section, conviction of an offense under a law or ordinance of 

another state which is equivalent to this section must be considered a prior offense if 

such offense was committed within the time limitations specified in this section. 

h. If the penalty mandated by this section includes imprisonment or placement upon 

conviction of a violation of this section or equivalent ordinance, and if an addiction 

evaluation has indicated that the defendant needs treatment, the court may order the 

defendant to undergo treatment at an appropriate licensed addiction treatment program 

under subdivision g of subsection 1 of section 12.1-32-02 and the time spent by the 

defendant in the treatment must be credited as a portion of a sentence of imprisonment 

or placement under this section.  A court may not order the department of corrections 

and rehabilitation to be responsible for the costs of treatment in a private treatment 

facility. 

i. If the court sentences an individual to the legal and physical custody of the department 

of corrections and rehabilitation, the department may place the individual in an alcohol 

treatment program designated by the department.  Upon the individual's successful 

completion of the alcohol treatment program, the department shall release the 

individual from imprisonment to serve the remainder of the sentence of imprisonment 

on probation, which may include placement in another facility or treatment program.  

If an individual is placed in another facility or treatment program after release from 

imprisonment, the remainder of the individual's sentence of imprisonment must be 

considered time spent in custody. 

6. As used in subdivisions b and c of subsection 5, the term "imprisonment" includes house 

arrest.  As a condition of house arrest, a defendant may not consume alcoholic beverages.  

The house arrest must include a program of electronic home detention and the defendant 

shall participate in the twenty-four seven sobriety program.  The defendant shall defray all 



costs associated with the electronic home detention.  For an offense under subdivision b or 

c of subsection 5, no more than ninety percent of the sentence may be house arrest. 

7. As used in this title, participation in the twenty-four seven sobriety program under chapter 

54-12 means compliance with sections 54-12-27 through 54-12-31, and requires sobriety 

breath testing twice per day seven days per week or electronic alcohol monitoring, urine 

testing, or drug patch testing.  The offender is responsible for all twenty-four seven 

sobriety program fees and the court may not waive the fees. 

 

Sec. 24-11-4.  Reckless driving - Aggravated reckless driving. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-03. 

 

39-08-03.  Reckless driving - Aggravated reckless driving - Penalty. 

Any person is guilty of reckless driving if the person drives a vehicle: 

1. Recklessly in disregard of the rights or safety of others; or 

2. Without due caution and circumspection and at a speed or in a manner so as to endanger or 

be likely to endanger any person or the property of another. 

Except as otherwise herein provided, any person violating the provisions of this section is 

guilty of a class B misdemeanor.  Any person who, by reason of reckless driving as herein 

defined, causes and inflicts injury upon the person of another, is guilty of aggravated reckless 

driving, and is guilty of a class A misdemeanor. 

 

Article 12 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 12.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – miscellaneous offenses. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-12-1.  Display of number plates and tab. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-04-11. 

 

39-04-11.  Display of number plates and tabs. 

Except as otherwise specifically provided, a person may not operate or drive a vehicle on the 

public highways of this state unless the vehicle has a distinctive number assigned to it by the 

department, and two number plates, bearing the distinctive number conspicuously displayed, 

horizontally and in an upright position, one on the front and one on the rear of the vehicle, each 

securely fastened, except number plates assigned to a motorcycle, trailer, housetrailer must be 

attached to the rear thereof.  When only one number plate is furnished for an apportioned vehicle 

licensed under the international registration plan as authorized in section 39-19-04, truck tractor, 

or semitrailer, the plate must be attached to the front of the apportioned vehicle or truck tractor and 



the rear of the semitrailer.  The bottom of each number plate must be at a height of not less than 

twelve inches [30.48 centimeters] above the level surface upon which the vehicle stands.  Each 

plate must be mounted in a manner that does not cover any words, letter, or number on the plate.  

As far as is reasonably possible, the plates must at all times be kept free and clear of mud, ice, or 

snow so as to be clearly visible and all number plates, markers, or evidence of registration or 

licensing except for the current year must be removed from the vehicle.  All vehicle license plates 

issued by the department continue to be the property of the state of North Dakota for the period for 

which the plates are valid.  An annual registration tab or sticker for the current registration year 

must be displayed on each number plate, in the area designated by the department for the tab or 

sticker, in those years for which tabs or stickers are issued in lieu of number plate. 

 

Sec. 24-12-2.  License to be carried and exhibited on demand. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-16. 

 

39-06-16.  License to be carried and exhibited on demand. 

An individual licensed to operate a motor vehicle shall have the operator's license in the 

individual's immediate possession at all times when operating a motor vehicle and shall physically 

surrender the operator's license, upon demand of any court, police officer, or a field deputy or 

inspector of the department.  However, an individual charged with violating this section may not 

be convicted or assessed any court costs if the individual produces in court or in the office of the 

arresting officer a valid operator's license issued to that individual that is not under suspension, 

revocation, or cancellation at the time of the individual's arrest. 

 

Sec. 24-12-3.  Permitting unauthorized minor to drive. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-44. 

 

39-06-44.  Permitting unauthorized minor to drive. 

An individual may not cause or knowingly permit the individual's minor child or ward to 

operate a motor vehicle upon any highway if the minor is not authorized under this chapter or in 

violation of this chapter. 

 

Sec. 24-12-4.  Permitting unauthorized individual to drive. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-45. 

 

39-06-45.  Permitting unauthorized individual to drive. 

An individual may not authorize or knowingly permit a motor vehicle owned by the individual 

or under the individual's control to be operated upon any highway by any individual who is not 

authorized under this chapter or in violation of this chapter. 

 



Sec. 24-12-5.  Garages to report, wrecker and towing services to report, immediate notice of 

accident, when driver unable to report. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-07-12, 39-07-13, 39-08-09 or 39-08-11. 

 

39-07-12.  Garages to report. 

The person in charge of any garage or repair shop to which is brought any motor vehicle which 

shows evidence of having been involved in a reportable accident as provided in section 39-08-09 

or of being struck by any bullet shall report or cause a report to be made to a police officer within 

twenty-four hours after such motor vehicle is received, and before any repairs are made to such 

vehicle, giving the registration number, and the name and address of the owner, operator, or person 

in control of such vehicle with a description of the location and type of damage to the vehicle, or 

any missing parts, if the vehicle does not have a sticker on a window thereof issued by a police 

officer, sheriff, or highway patrolman, bearing information to show that the accident in which the 

vehicle was involved has been investigated.  The police officer investigating any reportable 

accident shall attach a sticker to the window of any damaged vehicle showing that the accident in 

which such vehicle was involved has been investigated.  If the vehicle does bear such a sticker, 

the garage or repair shop need not make the report this section requires and may begin repairs 

immediately.  After repairs have been made and before the vehicle is released, the sticker 

provided herein must be removed. 

 

39-07-13.  Wrecker and towing services to report. 

The person in charge or the operator of any commercial towing or wrecker service which 

causes any motor vehicle to be transported to a private residence or business other than a garage or 

repair shop which shows evidence of having been involved in a reportable accident as provided in 

section 39-08-09 or of being struck by any bullet shall report or cause a report to be made to a 

police officer within twenty-four hours after such motor vehicle is transported.  The report must 

give the registration number, and the name and address of the owner, operator, or person in control 

of such vehicle with a description of the location and type of damage to the vehicle, or any missing 

parts, along with the location such vehicle was transported to, if the vehicle does not have a sticker 

on a window thereof issued by a police officer, sheriff, or highway patrolman, bearing information 

to show that the accident in which the vehicle was involved has been investigated.  If the vehicle 

does bear such a sticker, the towing or wrecker service need not make the report this section 

requires. 

 

39-08-09.  Immediate notice of accident - Penalty. 

1. The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to or death of any person, 

or property damage to an apparent extent of at least one thousand dollars, shall 

immediately give notice of the accident to the local police department if the accident 

occurs within a municipality, otherwise to the office of the county sheriff or the state 

highway patrol.  Any person who violates this section must be assessed a fine of fifty 

dollars.  The name of the motor vehicle insurance policy carrier and the policy number of 

the driver, or if the driver is not the owner of the vehicle, then the motor vehicle insurance 

policy carrier and the policy number of the owner of the vehicle, must be furnished to the 

law enforcement officer investigating the accident.  If the driver does not have the 



required information concerning insurance to furnish to the investigating law enforcement 

officer, then within five days of the accident the driver shall supply that information to the 

driver's license division in the form the division requires. 

2. The director may suspend the license or permit to drive and any nonresident operating 

privileges of any person failing to comply with the duties as provided in sections 39-08-06 

through 39-08-09 until those duties have been fulfilled, and the director may extend the 

suspension not to exceed thirty days. 

3. The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident with an undomesticated animal resulting in 

property damage only to the driver's vehicle is exempt from the notice requirements of this 

section, regardless of the amount of damage to the driver's vehicle. 

 

39-08-11.  When driver unable to report. 

1. An accident notice is not required from any person who is physically incapable of making 

the report during the period of such incapacity. 

2. Whenever the driver of a vehicle is physically incapable of giving an immediate notice of 

an accident and there was another occupant in the vehicle at the time of the accident 

capable of doing so, such occupant shall make or cause to be given the notice not given by 

the driver. 

3. Whenever the driver is physically incapable of giving notice of an accident and such driver 

is not the owner of the vehicle, then the owner of the vehicle involved shall within five days 

after learning of the accident give such notice and insurance information not given by the 

drive. 

 

Sec. 24-12-6.  Exhibition driving and drag racing. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-03.1. 

 

39-08-03.1.  Exhibition driving and drag racing - Definitions - Penalty. 

1. No person may engage in exhibition driving of any vehicle on a highway, street, alley, 

sidewalk, or any public or private parking lot or area, nor may any person engage in a race, 

a speed competition, drag race or acceleration contest, test of physical endurance, or 

exhibition of speed or acceleration.  Any person who violates this section by engaging in 

an act defined by subdivision b of subsection 2 must be assessed a fee of fifty dollars.  Any 

person who violates this section by engaging in an act defined by subdivision a or c of 

subsection 2 must be assessed a fee of one hundred dollars. 

2. As used in this section: 

a. "Drag race" means the operation of two or more vehicles from a point side by side by 

accelerating rapidly in a competitive attempt to cause one vehicle to outdistance the 

other; or the operation of one or more vehicles over a common selected course from the 

same point to the same point for the purpose of comparing the relative speed or powers 

of acceleration of such vehicle or vehicles within a certain distance or time limit. 

b. "Exhibition driving" means driving a vehicle in a manner which disturbs the peace by 

creating or causing unnecessary engine noise, tire squeal, skid, or slide upon 

acceleration or braking; or driving and executing or attempting one or a series of 

unnecessarily abrupt turns. 



c. "Race" means the use of one or more vehicles in an attempt to outgain, outdistance, or 

to arrive at a given distance ahead of another vehicle or vehicles; or the use of one or 

more vehicles to willfully prevent another vehicle from passing the racing vehicle or 

vehicles, or to test the physical stamina or endurance of the persons driving the vehicles 

over a long-distance driving route. 

3. Nothing in this section shall be construed as prohibiting drag racing, exhibition driving, or 

similar events when carried out in an organized manner on a track or other privately owned 

area specifically set aside and used solely for such purposes by drivers of motor vehicles, 

including snowmobiles. 

 

Sec. 24-12-7.  Open container law. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-18. 

 

39-08-18.  Open container law - Penalty. 

1. A person may not drink or consume alcoholic beverages, as defined in section 5-01-01, in 

or on any motor vehicle when the vehicle is upon a public highway or in an area used 

principally for public parking.  A person may not have in that person's possession on that 

person's person while in or on a private motor vehicle upon a public highway or in an area 

used principally for public parking, any bottle or receptacle containing alcoholic beverages 

which has been opened, or the seal broken, or the contents of which have been partially 

removed.  It is unlawful for the owner of any private motor vehicle or the driver, if the 

owner be not then present in or on the motor vehicle, to keep or allow to be kept in a motor 

vehicle when such vehicle is upon the public highway or in an area used principally for 

public parking any bottle or receptacle containing such alcoholic beverages which has been 

opened, or the seal broken, or the contents of which have been partially removed except 

when such bottle or receptacle is kept in the trunk of the motor vehicle when such vehicle is 

equipped with a trunk, or kept in some other area of the vehicle not normally occupied by 

the driver or passengers, if the motor vehicle is not equipped with a trunk.  A utility 

compartment or glove compartment must be deemed to be within the area occupied by the 

driver and passengers.  This subsection does not prohibit the consumption or possession 

of alcoholic beverages in a house car if the consumption or possession occurs in the area of 

the house car used as sleeping or living quarters and that area is separated from the driving 

compartment by a solid partition, door, curtain, or some similar means of separation; 

however, consumption is not authorized while the house car is in motion.  Any person 

violating this subsection must be assessed a fee of fifty dollars; however, the licensing 

authority may not record the violation against the person's driving record unless the person 

was the driver of the motor vehicle at the time that the violation occurred. 

2. Subsection 1 does not apply to a public conveyance that has been commercially chartered 

for group use, any passenger for compensation in a for-hire motor vehicle, or a privately 

owned motor vehicle operated by a person in the course of that person's usual employment 

transporting passengers at the employer's direction.  This subsection does not authorize 

possession or consumption of an alcoholic beverage by the operator of any motor vehicle 

described in this subsection while upon a public highway or in an area used principally for 

public parking. 



 

Sec. 24-12-8.  Driving without liability insurance prohibited. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-20. 

 

39-08-20.  Driving without liability insurance prohibited - Penalty. 

1. A person may not drive, or the owner may not cause or knowingly permit to be driven, a 

motor vehicle in this state without a valid policy of liability insurance in effect in order to 

respond in damages for liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of that 

motor vehicle in the amount required by chapter 39-16.1. 

2. Upon being stopped by a law enforcement officer for the purpose of enforcing or 

investigating the possible violation of an ordinance or state law, the person driving the 

motor vehicle shall provide to the officer upon request satisfactory evidence, including 

written or electronic proof of insurance, of the policy required under this section.  If 

unable to comply with the request, that person may be charged with a violation of this 

section.  If that person produces satisfactory evidence, including written or electronic 

proof of insurance, of a valid policy of liability insurance in effect at the time of the alleged 

violation of this section to the office of the court under which the matter will be heard, that 

person may not be convicted or assessed any administration fee for violation of subsection 

1. 

3. Notwithstanding section 26.1-30-18, a person may be convicted for failure to have a valid 

policy of liability insurance in effect under this section if the time of acquisition of the 

policy was after the time of the alleged incidence of driving without liability insurance.  If 

the time of acquisition of the policy comes into question, the driver or owner has the 

burden of establishing the time of acquisition.  If the driver is not an owner of the motor 

vehicle, the driver does not violate this section if the driver provides the court with 

evidence identifying the owner of the motor vehicle and describing circumstances under 

which the owner caused or permitted the driver to drive the motor vehicle. 

4. Violation of subsection 1 is an infraction and the sentence imposed must include a fine of at 

least one hundred fifty dollars which may not be suspended.  A person convicted for a 

second or subsequent violation of driving without liability insurance within a three-year 

period must be fined at least three hundred dollars which may not be suspended.  For a 

second or subsequent conviction for a violation of subsection 1 or equivalent ordinance, 

the court shall order the motor vehicle number plates of the motor vehicle owned and 

operated by the person at the time of the violation to be impounded until that person 

provides proof of insurance and a twenty dollar fee to the court.  The person shall deliver 

the number plates to the court without delay at a time certain as ordered by the court 

following the conviction.  The court shall deliver the number plates to the office of the 

police officer that made the arrest and notify the department of the order.  A person who 

does not provide the number plates to the court at the appropriate time is guilty of a class B 

misdemeanor. 

5. Upon conviction for a violation of subsection 1 or equivalent ordinance, the person who 

has been convicted shall provide proof of motor vehicle liability insurance to the 

department in the form of a written or electronically transmitted certificate from an 

insurance carrier authorized to do business in this state.  This proof must be provided for a 



period of three years and kept on file with the department.  If the person fails to provide 

this information, the department shall suspend that person's driving privileges and may not 

issue or renew that person's operator's license unless that person provides proof of 

insurance. 

6. A person who has been convicted for violation of subsection 1 or equivalent ordinance 

shall surrender that person's operator's license and purchase a duplicate operator's license 

with a notation requiring that person to keep proof of liability insurance on file with the 

department.  The fee for this license is fifty dollars and the fee to remove this notation is 

fifty dollars. 

7. When an insurance carrier has certified a motor vehicle liability policy, the insurance 

carrier shall notify the director no later than ten days after cancellation or termination of the 

certified insurance policy by filing a notice of cancellation or termination of the certified 

insurance policy; except that a policy subsequently procured and certified shall, on the 

effective date of its certification, terminate the insurance previously certified with respect 

to any motor vehicle designated in both certificates. 

 

Sec. 24-12-9.  Care required in operating vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-09-01.1. 

 

39-09-01.1.  Care required in operating vehicle. 

Any person driving a vehicle upon a highway shall drive the vehicle in a careful and prudent 

manner, having due regard to the traffic, surface, and width of the highway and other conditions 

then existing, and shall give such warnings as are reasonably necessary for safe operation under 

the circumstances.  No person may drive any vehicle upon a highway in a manner to endanger the 

life, limb, or property of any person. 

 

Article 13 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 13.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – pedestrians. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-13-1.  Pedestrian's right of way in crosswalk. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-28. 

 

39-10-28.  Pedestrian's right of way in crosswalk. 

1. When traffic-control signals are not in place or not in operation, the driver of a vehicle shall 

yield the right of way, slowing down or stopping if need be to so yield, to a pedestrian 

crossing the roadway within a crosswalk when the pedestrian is upon the half of the 



roadway upon which the vehicle is traveling, or when the pedestrian is approaching so 

closely from the opposite half of the roadway as to be in danger. 

2. No pedestrian may suddenly leave a curb or other place of safety and walk or run into the 

path of a vehicle which is so close as to constitute an immediate hazard. 

3. Subsection 1 does not apply under the conditions stated in subsection 2 of section 

39-10-29. 

4. Whenever any vehicle is stopped at a marked crosswalk or at any unmarked crosswalk at 

an intersection to permit a pedestrian to cross the highway, the driver of any other vehicle 

approaching from the rear may not overtake and pass such stopped vehicle. 

 

Sec. 24-13-2.  Crossing at other than crosswalk. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-29. 

 

39-10-29.  Crossing at other than crosswalk. 

1. Every pedestrian crossing a roadway at any point other than within a marked crosswalk or 

within an unmarked crosswalk at an intersection shall yield the right of way to all vehicles 

upon the roadway. 

2. Any pedestrian crossing a roadway at a point where a pedestrian tunnel or overhead 

pedestrian crossing has been provided shall yield the right of way to all vehicles upon the 

roadway. 

3. Between adjacent intersections at which traffic-control devices are in operation, 

pedestrians may not cross at any place except in a marked crosswalk. 

4. No pedestrian may cross a roadway intersection diagonally unless authorized by official 

traffic-control devices; and, when authorized to cross diagonally, pedestrians shall cross 

only in accordance with the official traffic-control devices pertaining to such crossing 

movements. 

 

Sec. 24-13-3.  Pedestrian on roadway. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-33. 

 

39-10-33.  Pedestrian on roadway. 

1. Where a sidewalk is provided and its use is practicable, it is unlawful for any pedestrian to 

walk along and upon an adjacent roadway. 

2. Where a sidewalk is not available, any pedestrian walking along and upon a highway shall 

walk only on a shoulder, as far as practicable from the edge of the roadway. 

3. Where neither a sidewalk nor a shoulder is available, any pedestrian walking along and 

upon a highway shall walk as near as practicable to an outside edge of the roadway, and, if on a 

two-way roadway, shall walk only on the left side of the roadway. 

4. Except as otherwise provided for in this chapter, any pedestrian upon a roadway shall yield 

the right of way to all vehicles upon the roadway. 

 

Sec. 24-13-4.  Pedestrian's right of way on sidewalk. 



 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-33.1. 

 

39-10-33.1.  Pedestrian's right of way on sidewalk. 

The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right of way to any pedestrian on a sidewalk. 

 

Sec. 24-13-5.  Pedestrian to yield to authorized emergency vehicles. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-33.2. 

 

39-10-33.2.  Pedestrian to yield to authorized emergency vehicles. 

1. Upon the immediate approach of an authorized emergency vehicle making use of an 

audible signal by bell, siren, or exhaust whistle and displaying a visible flashing, revolving, 

or rotating blue, white, or red light, every pedestrian shall yield the right of way to the 

authorized emergency vehicle. 

2. This section does not relieve the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle from the duty 

to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons using the highway nor from the duty to 

exercise due care to avoid colliding with any pedestrian. 

 

Sec. 24-13-6.  Blind pedestrian right of way. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-33.3. 

 

39-10-33.3.  Blind pedestrian right of way. 

The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right of way to an individual who is blind or visually 

impaired and carrying a clearly visible white cane or to an individual with a disability who is 

accompanied by an assistance dog. 

 

Sec. 24-13-7.  Pedestrian under influence of alcohol or drugs. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-33.4. 

 

39-10-33.4.  Pedestrian under influence of alcohol or drugs. 

A pedestrian who is under the influence of alcohol or any drug to a degree which renders the 

pedestrian a hazard may not walk or be upon a roadway. 

 

Sec. 24-13-8.  Pedestrian soliciting ride or business. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-34. 

 

39-10-34.  Pedestrian soliciting ride or business. 



1. No person may stand in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting a ride. 

2. No person may stand in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting employment, business, or 

contributions from the occupant of any vehicle. 

3. No person may stand on or in proximity to a street or highway for the purpose of soliciting 

the watching or guarding of any vehicle while parked or about to be parked on a street or 

highway. 

 

Sec. 24-13-9.  Required position and method of turning. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-35. 

 

39-10-35. Required position and method of turning. 

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn shall do so as follows: 

1. Right turns. Both the approach for a right turn and a right turn must be made as close as 

practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway. 

2. Left turns. The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme 

left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. 

Whenever practicable, the left turn must be made to the left of the center of the intersection and 

so as to leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available 

to traffic moving in the same direction as such vehicle on the roadway being entered. 

3. The director and local authorities in their respective jurisdictions may cause official 

traffic-control devices to be placed and thereby require and direct that a different course from 

that specified in this section be traveled by turning vehicles, and when such devices are so 

placed, no driver of a vehicle may turn it other than as directed and required by such devices. 

 

Article 14 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 14.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – traffic rules and regulations. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-14-1.  Accidents involving damage to vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-05. 

 

39-08-05.  Accidents involving damage to vehicle - Penalty. 

The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting only in damage to a vehicle which is 

driven or attended by any person shall immediately stop such vehicle at the scene of such accident 

or as close thereto as possible but shall forthwith return to and in every event shall remain at the 

scene of such accident until the driver has fulfilled the requirements of section 39-08-06.  Every 

such stop must be made without obstructing traffic more than is necessary.  Any person failing to 



stop or comply with said requirements under such circumstances is guilty of a class B 

misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 24-14-2.  Duty upon striking highway fixtures or other property. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-08-08. 

 

39-08-08.  Duty upon striking highway fixtures or other property. 

The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting only in damage to highway fixtures 

or other property shall take reasonable steps to locate and notify the owner or person in charge of 

such property of such fact and of the driver's name and address and of the registration number of 

the vehicle the driver is driving and shall upon request and if available exhibit the driver's 

operator's or chauffeur's license and shall make report of such accident when and as required in 

section 39-08-09. 

 

Sec. 24-14-3.  Obedience to police officer or firefighter. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-02. 

 

39-10-02. Obedience to police officer or firefighter. 

No person may willfully refuse to comply with any lawful order or direction of any police 

officer or firefighter invested by law with authority to direct, control, or regulate traffic. 

 

Sec. 24-14-4.  Obedience to and required traffic - control devices. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-04. 

 

39-10-04.  Obedience to and required traffic-control devices. 

1. The driver of any vehicle shall obey the instructions of any official traffic-control device 

applicable thereto placed in accordance with the provisions of this chapter, unless 

otherwise directed by a traffic or police officer, subject to the exceptions granted the driver 

of an authorized emergency vehicle in this chapter. 

2. No provision of this chapter for which traffic-control devices are required may be enforced 

against an alleged violator if at the time and place of the alleged violation an official device 

is not in proper position and sufficiently legible to be seen by an ordinarily observant 

person.  Whenever a state statute does not state that devices are required, such statute is 

effective even though no devices are erected or in place. 

3. Whenever official traffic-control devices are placed in positions approximately 

conforming to the requirements of this title, such devices must be presumed to have been 

so placed by the official act or direction of lawful authority, unless the contrary is 

established by competent evidence. 

4. Any official traffic-control device placed pursuant to the provisions of this title and 

purporting to conform to the lawful requirements pertaining to such devices must be 



presumed to comply with the requirements of this title, unless the contrary is established by 

competent evidence. 

 

Sec. 24-14-5.  Traffic - control signal legend. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-05. 

 

39-10-05.  Traffic-control signal legend. 

Whenever traffic is controlled by traffic-control signals exhibiting different colored lights, or 

colored lighted arrows, successively one at a time or in combination, only the colors green, red, 

and yellow may be used, except for special pedestrian signals carrying a word or legend, and said 

lights must indicate and apply to drivers of vehicles and pedestrians as follows: 

1. Green indications: 

a. Vehicular traffic facing a circular green indication may proceed straight through or turn 

right or left unless a sign at such place prohibits either such turn.  But vehicular traffic, 

including vehicles turning right or left, shall yield the right of way to other vehicles and 

to pedestrians lawfully within the intersection or an adjacent crosswalk at the time such 

signal is exhibited. 

b. Vehicular traffic facing a green arrow indication, shown alone or in combination with 

another indication, may cautiously enter the intersection only to make the movement 

indicated by such arrow or such other movement as is permitted by other indications 

shown at the same time.  Such vehicular traffic shall yield the right of way to 

pedestrians lawfully within an adjacent crosswalk and to other traffic lawfully using 

the intersection. 

c. Unless otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 

39-10-06, pedestrians facing any green indication, except when the sole green 

indication is a turn arrow, may proceed across the roadway within any marked or 

unmarked crosswalk. 

2. Steady yellow indication: 

a. Vehicular traffic facing a steady circular yellow or yellow arrow indication is thereby 

warned that the related green movement is being terminated or that a red indication will 

be exhibited immediately thereafter when vehicular traffic may not enter the 

intersection. 

b. Pedestrians facing a steady circular yellow or yellow arrow indication, unless 

otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 39-10-06, 

are thereby advised that there is insufficient time to cross the roadway before a red 

indication is shown and no pedestrian may then start to cross the roadway. 

3. Steady red indication: 

a. Vehicular traffic facing a steady circular red indication alone shall stop at a clearly 

marked stop line, but if none, before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the 

intersection, or if none, then before entering the intersection and shall remain standing 

until an indication to proceed is shown, except as provided for in subdivision c. 

b. Vehicular traffic facing a steady red arrow indication may not enter the intersection to 

make the movement indicated by the arrow and, unless entering the intersection to 

make a movement permitted by another indication, must stop at a clearly marked stop 



line, but if none, before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection, or if 

none, then before entering the intersection and must remain standing until an indication 

permitting the movement indicated by the red arrow is shown except as provided for in 

subdivision c. 

c. Except when a sign is in place prohibiting a turn, vehicular traffic facing any steady red 

indication may cautiously enter the intersection to turn right, or to turn left from a 

one-way street into a one-way street, after stopping as required by subdivisions a and b.  

Such vehicular traffic shall yield the right of way to pedestrians lawfully within 

adjacent crosswalk and to other traffic lawfully using the intersection. 

d. Unless otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 

39-10-06, pedestrians facing a steady circular red or red arrow indication alone may not 

enter the roadway. 

4. In the event an official traffic-control signal is erected and maintained at a place other than 

an intersection, the provisions of this section are applicable, except as to those provisions 

which by their nature can have no application.  Any stop required must be made at a sign 

or marking on the pavement indicating where the stop must be made, but in the absence of 

any such sign or marking the stop must be made at the signal. 

 

Sec. 24-14-6.  Flashing signals. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-07. 

 

39-10-07.  Flashing signals. 

1. Whenever an illuminated flashing red or yellow light is used in a traffic signal or with a 

traffic sign, it requires obedience by vehicular traffic as follows: 

a. Flashing red (stop indication).  When a red lens is illuminated with rapid intermittent 

flashes, drivers of vehicles shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, before 

entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection, or, if none, then at the point 

nearest the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on 

the intersecting roadway before entering it, and the right to proceed is subject to the 

rules applicable after making a stop at a stop sign. 

b. Flashing yellow (caution indication).  When a yellow lens is illuminated with rapid 

intermittent flashes, drivers of vehicles may proceed through the intersection or past 

such indication only with caution. 

c. Flashing red arrow and flashing yellow arrow indications have the same meaning as the 

corresponding flashing circular indications, except that they apply only to drivers of 

vehicles intending to make the movement indicated by the arrow. 

2. This section does not apply at railroad grade crossings.  Conduct of drivers of vehicles 

approaching railroad grade crossings is governed by the requirements set forth in section 

39-10-41. 

 

Sec. 24-14-7.  Interference with official traffic - control device or railroad sign or signal. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-07.3. 



 

39-10-07.3.  Interference with official traffic-control device or railroad sign or signal. 

A person may not, without lawful authority, attempt to or in fact alter, deface, injure, knock 

down, remove, or interfere with the operation of any official traffic-control device or any railroad 

sign or signal or any inscription, shield, or insignia thereon, or any other part thereof. 

 

Sec. 24-14-8.  Drive on right side of roadway. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-08. 

 

39-10-08.  Drive on right side of roadway - Exceptions. 

1. Upon all roadways of sufficient width a vehicle must be driven upon the right half of the 

roadway, except as follows: 

a. When overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction under 

the rules governing such movement; 

b. When an obstruction exists making it necessary to drive to the left of the center of the 

highway; provided, any person so doing shall yield the right of way to all vehicles 

traveling in the proper direction upon the unobstructed portion of the highway within 

such distance as to constitute an immediate hazard; 

c. Upon a roadway divided into three marked lanes for traffic under the rules applicable 

thereon; or 

d. Upon a roadway restricted to one-way traffic. 

2. Upon all roadways any vehicle proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic at the 

time and place and under the conditions then existing must be driven in the right-hand lane 

then available for traffic, or as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the 

roadway, except when overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same 

direction or when preparing for a left turn in an intersection or into a private road or 

driveway. 

3. Upon any roadway having four or more lanes for moving traffic and providing for two-way 

movement of traffic, no vehicle may be driven to the left of the centerline of the roadway, 

except when authorized by official traffic-control devices designating certain lanes to the 

left side of the center of the roadway for use by traffic not otherwise permitted to use such 

lanes, or except as permitted under subdivision b of subsection 1.  However, this 

subsection may not be construed as prohibiting the crossing of the centerline in making a 

left turn into or from an alley, private road, or driveway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-9.  Overtaking a vehicle on the left. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-11. 

 

39-10-11.  Overtaking a vehicle on the left. 

The following rules govern the overtaking and passing of vehicles proceeding in the same 

direction, subject to those limitations, exceptions, and special rules hereinafter stated: 



1. The driver of a vehicle overtaking another vehicle proceeding in the same direction shall 

pass to the left thereof at a safe distance and may not again drive to the right side of the 

roadway until safely clear of the overtaken vehicle. 

2. Except when overtaking and passing on the right is permitted, the driver of an overtaken 

vehicle shall give way to the right in favor of the overtaking vehicle on audible signal and 

may not increase the speed of that driver's vehicle until completely passed by the 

overtaking vehicle. 

 

Sec. 24-14-10.  When overtaking on the right is permitted. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-12. 

 

39-10-12.  When overtaking on the right is permitted. 

1. The driver of a vehicle may overtake and pass upon the right of another vehicle only under 

the following conditions: 

a. When the vehicle overtaken is making or about to make a left turn; or 

b. Upon a roadway with unobstructed pavement of sufficient width for two or more lines 

of vehicles moving lawfully in the direction being traveled by the overtaking vehicle. 

2. The driver of a vehicle may overtake and pass another vehicle upon the right only under 

conditions permitting such movement in safety.  Such movement may not be made by 

driving off the roadway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-11.  Limitations on overtaking on the left. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-13. 

 

39-10-13.  Limitations on overtaking on the left. 

No vehicle may be driven to the left side of the center of the roadway in overtaking and passing 

another vehicle proceeding in the same direction unless such left side is clearly visible and is free 

of oncoming traffic for a sufficient distance ahead to permit such overtaking and passing to be 

completely made without interfering with the operation of any vehicle approaching from the 

opposite direction or any vehicle overtaken.  In every event the overtaking vehicle must return to 

an authorized lane of travel as soon as practicable, and in the event the passing movement involves 

the use of a lane authorized for vehicles approaching from the opposite direction, before coming 

within two hundred feet [60.96 meters] of any approaching vehicle. 

 

Sec. 24-14-12.  Further limitations on driving on left of center of roadway. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-14. 

 

39-10-14.  Further limitations on driving on left of center of roadway. 

1. No vehicle may be driven to the left side of the roadway under any of the following 

conditions: 



a. When approaching or upon the crest of a grade or a curve in the highway where the 

driver's view is obstructed within such distance as to create a hazard in the event 

another vehicle might approach from the opposite direction. 

b. When approaching within one hundred feet [30.48 meters] of or traversing any 

intersection or railroad grade crossing. 

c. When the view is obstructed upon approaching within one hundred feet [30.48 meters] 

of any bridge, viaduct, or tunnel. 

2. The foregoing limitations do not apply upon a one-way roadway, nor under the conditions 

described in section 39-10-08, nor to the driver of a vehicle turning left into or from an 

alley, private road, or driveway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-13.  No - passing zones. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-15. 

 

39-10-15.  No-passing zones. 

1. The director and local authorities are hereby authorized to determine those portions of any 

highway under their respective jurisdiction where overtaking and passing or driving on the 

left side of the roadway would be especially hazardous and may by appropriate signs or 

markings on the roadway indicate the beginning and end of such zones and when such 

signs or markings are in place and clearly visible to an ordinarily observant person, every 

driver of a vehicle shall obey the directions thereof. 

2. Where signs or markings are in place to define a no-passing zone as set forth in subsection 

1, no driver may at any time drive on the left side of the roadway within such no-passing 

zone or on the left side of any pavement striping designed to mark such no-passing zone 

throughout its length. 

3. This section does not apply under the conditions described in section 39-10-08 nor to the 

driver of a vehicle turning left into or from an alley, private road, or driveway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-14.  One-way roadways and rotary traffic islands. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-16. 

 

39-10-16. One-way roadways and rotary traffic islands. 

1. The director and local authorities with respect to highways under their respective 

jurisdictions may designate any highway, roadway, part of a roadway, or specific lanes 

upon which vehicular traffic shall proceed in one direction at all or such times as shall be 

indicated by official traffic-control devices. 

2. Upon a roadway so designated for one-way traffic, a vehicle shall be driven only in the 

direction designated at all or at such times as shall be indicated by official traffic-control 

devices. 

3. A vehicle passing around a rotary traffic island must be driven only to the right of such 

island. 

 



Sec. 24-14-15.  Driving on roadways laned for traffic. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-17. 

 

39-10-17.  Driving on roadways laned for traffic. 

Whenever any roadway has been divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic, the 

following rules in addition to all others consistent herewith apply: 

1. A vehicle must be driven as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and may not 

be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be 

made with safety. 

2. Upon a roadway which is divided into three lanes and provides for two-way traffic, a 

vehicle may not be driven in the center lane except when overtaking and passing another 

vehicle traveling in the same direction when such center lane is clear of traffic within a safe 

distance, or in preparation for making a left turn or where such center lane is at the time 

allocated exclusively to traffic moving in the same direction that the vehicle is proceeding 

and such allocation is designated by official traffic-control devices. 

3. Official traffic-control devices may be erected directing specified traffic to use a 

designated lane or designating those lanes to be used by traffic moving in a particular 

direction regardless of the center of the roadway and drivers of vehicles shall obey the 

directions of every such device. 

4. Official traffic-control devices may be installed prohibiting the changing of lanes on 

sections of roadway and drivers of vehicles shall obey the directions of every such device. 

 

Sec. 24-14-16.  Following too closely. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-18. 

 

39-10-18.  Following too closely. 

1. The driver of a motor vehicle may not follow another vehicle more closely than is 

reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of such vehicles and the traffic 

upon and the condition of the highway. 

2. The driver of any truck or motor vehicle drawing another vehicle when traveling upon a 

roadway outside of a business or residence district and which is following another truck or 

motor vehicle drawing another vehicle shall, whenever conditions permit, leave sufficient 

space so that an overtaking vehicle may enter and occupy such space without danger, 

except that this does not prevent a truck or motor vehicle drawing another vehicle from 

overtaking and passing any vehicle or combination of vehicles. 

3. Motor vehicles being driven upon any roadway outside of a business or residence district in 

a caravan or motorcade whether or not towing other vehicles must be so operated as to 

allow sufficient space between each such vehicle or combination of vehicles so as to enable 

any other vehicle to enter and occupy such space without danger.  This provision does not 

apply to funeral processions. 

 

Sec. 24-14-17.  Driving on divided highway. 



 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-19. 

 

39-10-19.  Driving on divided highway. 

Whenever any highway has been divided into two or more roadways by leaving an intervening 

space or by a physical barrier or clearly indicated dividing section so constructed as to impede 

vehicular traffic, every vehicle must be driven only upon the right-hand roadway, unless directed 

or permitted to use another roadway by official traffic-control devices or police officers.  No 

vehicle may be driven over, across, or within any such dividing space, barrier, or section, except 

through an opening in such physical barrier or dividing section or space or at a crossover or 

intersection as established by public authority, unless such crossing is specifically prohibited and 

such prohibition is indicated by appropriate traffic-control devices. 

 

Sec. 24-14-18.  Restricted access. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-20. 

 

39-10-20.  Restricted access. 

No person may drive a vehicle onto or from any controlled-access roadway except at such 

entrances and exits as are established by public authority. 

 

Sec. 24-14-19.  Closing road because of hazardous condition. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-21.1. 

 

39-10-21.1.  Closing road because of hazardous conditions - Posting of official traffic-control 

devices - Entering closed road prohibited. 

1. The highway patrol or local law enforcement authorities having jurisdiction over a road 

may close a road temporarily due to hazardous conditions for the protection and safety of 

the public.  If such a closing is made, the authority ordering the closing shall make every 

reasonable attempt to notify the public and, when practical, may post appropriate official 

traffic-control devices to advise motorists of the closing. 

2. An individual, while operating a motor vehicle, may not knowingly enter a road closed 

which is posted with an appropriate traffic-control device at the point of entry. 

 

Sec. 24-14-20.  Vehicle approaching or entering intersection. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-22. 

 

39-10-22.  Vehicle approaching or entering intersection. 

1. If a vehicle approaches or enters an intersection that does not have an official 

traffic-control device and another vehicle approaches or enters from a different highway at 



approximately the same time, the driver of the vehicle on the left shall yield the right of 

way to the vehicle on the right.  If the intersection is T-shaped and does not have an 

official traffic-control device, the driver of the vehicle on the terminating street or highway 

shall yield to the vehicle on the continuing street or highway. 

2. If a vehicle approaches an intersection that has traffic-control signals that usually exhibit 

different colored lights and the signals are not lit, the driver of the vehicle shall stop and 

yield as required under subsection 2 of section 39-10-24. 

3. The right-of-way rule declared in this section is modified at through highways and 

otherwise as stated in this chapter. 

 

Sec. 24-14-21.  Vehicle turning left. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-23. 

 

39-10-23.  Vehicle turning left. 

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn to the left within an intersection or into an alley, 

private road, or driveway shall yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite 

direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard. 

 

Sec. 24-14-22.  Stop signs and yield signs. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-24. 

 

39-10-24.  Stop signs and yield signs. 

1. Preferential right of way may be indicated by stop signs or yield signs as authorized in 

section 39-07-03. 

2. Except when directed to proceed by a police officer, every driver of a vehicle approaching 

a stop sign shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, then at the point nearest the 

intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting 

roadway before entering it.  After having stopped, the driver shall yield the right of way to 

any vehicle in the intersection or approaching on another roadway so closely as to 

constitute an immediate hazard during the time when such driver is moving across or 

within the intersection or junction of roadways. 

3. The driver of a vehicle approaching a yield sign shall in obedience to such sign slow down 

to a speed reasonable for the existing conditions and, if required for safety to stop, shall 

stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, before entering the crosswalk on the near side 

of the intersection, or, if none, then at the point nearest the intersecting roadway where the 

driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway before entering it.  

After slowing or stopping, the driver shall yield the right of way to any vehicle in the 

intersection or approaching on another roadway so closely as to constitute an immediate 

hazard during the time such driver is moving across or within the intersection or junction of 

roadways.  Provided, however, that if a driver is involved in a collision with a vehicle in 

the intersection or junction of roadways after driving past a yield sign without stopping, 



such collision is deemed prima facie evidence of the driver's failure to yield the right of 

way. 

 

Sec. 24-14-23.  Vehicle entering roadway. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-25. 

 

39-10-25.  Vehicle entering roadway. 

The driver of a vehicle about to enter or cross a roadway from any place other than another 

roadway shall yield the right of way to all vehicles approaching on the roadway to be entered or 

crossed. 

 

Sec. 24-14-24.  Vehicle to stop or yield the right of way for authorized emergency vehicle or 

vehicle used for maintaining the state highway system. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-26. 

 

39-10-26.  Vehicle to stop or yield the right of way for authorized emergency vehicle or 

vehicle used for maintaining the state highway system - Penalty. 

1. Upon the immediate approach of an authorized emergency vehicle displaying a visible 

flashing, revolving, or rotating blue, white, or red light, the driver of every other vehicle 

shall yield the right of way and shall immediately drive to a position parallel to, and as 

close as possible to, the right-hand edge or curb of the roadway clear of any intersection 

and shall stop and remain in that position until the authorized emergency vehicle has 

passed, except when otherwise directed by a police officer. 

2. If an authorized emergency vehicle is parked or stopped at the scene of an emergency and 

is displaying a flashing, revolving, or rotating blue, white, or red light, approaching traffic 

shall move to the right-hand edge or curb of the roadway and shall stop, but once having 

stopped, traffic may proceed past the scene at its own risk when the roadway is clear, 

except when otherwise directed by a police officer.  If an authorized emergency vehicle is 

otherwise parked or stopped on the interstate system or on a multilane highway outside the 

limits of a city, and the authorized emergency vehicle is displaying a flashing, revolving, or 

rotating amber, blue, white, or red light, the driver of an approaching vehicle shall proceed 

with caution and yield the right of way by moving to a lane that is not adjacent to the 

authorized emergency vehicle if the move may be made with due regard to safety and 

traffic conditions or if not, the driver shall proceed with due caution, reduce the speed of 

the vehicle, and maintain a safe speed for the road conditions. 

3. If a vehicle operated by or under the control of the director used for maintaining the state 

highway system is parked or stopped on the interstate system or on a multilane highway 

outside the limits of a city, and the vehicle is displaying a flashing, revolving, or rotating 

amber or white light, the driver of an approaching vehicle shall proceed with caution and 

yield the right of way by moving to a lane that is not adjacent to the vehicle if the move may 

be made with due regard to safety and traffic conditions or if not, the driver shall proceed 



with due caution, reduce the speed of the vehicle, and maintain a safe speed for the road 

conditions. 

4. This section does not operate to relieve the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle or a 

vehicle operated by or under the control of the director used for maintaining the state 

highway system from the duty to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons using 

the highway. 

5.  a. Any individual who violates subsection 2 and causes an accident with an authorized 

emergency vehicle while the authorized emergency vehicle is displaying a visible 

flashing, revolving, or rotating amber, blue, white, or red light is guilty of an infraction. 

b. An individual who violates subsection 3 and causes an accident with a vehicle operated 

by or under the control of the director used for maintaining the state highway system 

while the vehicle is displaying a visible flashing, revolving, or rotating amber or white 

light is guilty of an infraction. 

 

Sec. 24-14-25.  Highway construction and maintenance. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-26.1. 

 

39-10-26.1.  Highway construction and maintenance. 

1. The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right of way to any authorized vehicle or pedestrian 

actually engaged in work upon a highway within any highway construction or maintenance 

area indicated by official traffic-control devices. 

2. The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right of way to any authorized vehicle obviously and 

actually engaged in work upon a highway wherever such vehicle displays flashing lights 

meeting the requirements of section 39-21-28. 

 

Sec. 24-14-26.  Limitations on turning around. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-36. 

 

39-10-36.  Limitations on turning around. 

1. The driver of any vehicle may not turn such vehicle so as to proceed in the opposite 

direction unless such movement can be made in safety and without interfering with other 

traffic. 

2. No vehicle may be turned so as to proceed in the opposite direction upon any curve, or 

upon the approach to or near the crest of a grade, where such vehicle cannot be seen by the 

driver of any other vehicle approaching from either direction within five hundred feet 

[152.4 meters]. 

 

Sec. 24-14-27.  Starting parked vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-37. 

 



39-10-37.  Starting parked vehicle. 

No person may start a vehicle which is stopped, standing, or parked unless and until such 

movement can be made with reasonable safety. 

 

Sec. 24-14-28.  Turning movements and required signals. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-38. 

 

39-10-38.  Turning movements and required signals. 

1. No person may turn a vehicle or move right or left upon a roadway unless and until such 

movement can be made with reasonable safety without giving an appropriate signal in the 

manner hereinafter provided. 

2. A signal of intention to turn or move right or left when required must be given continuously 

during not less than the last one hundred feet [30.48 meters] traveled by the vehicle before 

turning. 

3. No person may stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first giving an 

appropriate signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately 

to the rear when there is opportunity to give such signal. 

4. The signals required on vehicles by subsection 2 of section 39-10-39 may not be flashed on 

one side only on a disabled vehicle, flashed as a courtesy or "do pass" signal to operators of 

other vehicles approaching from the rear, nor be flashed on one side only of a parked 

vehicle except as may be necessary for compliance with this section. 

 

Sec. 24-14-29.  Stop signs and yield signs. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-44. 

 

39-10-44.  Stop signs and yield signs. 

1. Preferential right of way at an intersection may be indicated by stop signs or yield signs as 

authorized in section 39-07-03. 

2. Every stop sign and every yield sign must be erected as near as practicable to the nearest 

line of the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, if there is no crosswalk, then as 

near as practicable to the nearest line of the intersecting roadway. 

3. Except when directed to proceed by a police officer or traffic control signal, every driver of 

a vehicle approaching a stop intersection indicated by a stop sign shall stop before entering 

the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, in the event there is no crosswalk, shall 

stop at a clearly marked stop line, but if none, then at the point nearest the intersecting 

roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway. 

4. The driver of a vehicle approaching a yield sign if required for safety to stop shall stop 

before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, in the event there is no 

crosswalk, at a clearly marked stop line, but if none, then at the point nearest the 

intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting 

roadway. 

 



Sec. 24-14-30.  Emerging from alley, driveway, private road, or building. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-45. 

 

39-10-45.  Emerging from alley, driveway, private road, or building. 

The driver of a vehicle emerging from an alley, driveway, private road, or building within a 

business or residence district shall stop such vehicle immediately prior to driving onto a sidewalk 

or onto the sidewalk area extending across such alley, building entrance, road, or driveway, or in 

the event there is no sidewalk area, shall stop at the point nearest the street to be entered where the 

driver has a view of approaching traffic thereon. 

 

Sec. 24-14-31.  Overtaking and passing school bus. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-46. 

 

39-10-46.  Overtaking and passing schoolbus. 

1. The driver of a vehicle meeting or overtaking from either direction any schoolbus stopped 

on the highway shall stop the vehicle before reaching the schoolbus when there is in 

operation on the schoolbus the flashing red lights or the stop sign on the control arm 

specified in section 39-21-18, and the driver may not proceed until the schoolbus resumes 

motion, the driver is signaled by the schoolbus driver to proceed, or the flashing red lights 

and the stop sign on the control arm are no longer actuated. 

2. Every schoolbus must bear upon the front and rear thereof plainly visible signs containing 

the word "SCHOOLBUS" in letters not less than eight inches [20.32 centimeters] in height.  

When a schoolbus is being operated upon a highway for purposes other than the actual 

transportation of children either to or from school or for a school-sanctioned activity, all 

markings thereon indicating "SCHOOLBUS" must be covered or concealed. 

3. The operator of a schoolbus equipped with amber caution lights may activate those lights at 

a distance of not less than three hundred feet [91.44 meters] nor more than five hundred 

feet [152.4 meters] from the point where schoolchildren are to be received or discharged 

from the bus. 

4. Every schoolbus must be equipped with a stop sign on a control arm and red visual signals 

meeting the requirements of section 39-21-18, which may only be actuated by the driver of 

the schoolbus whenever the vehicle is stopped on the highway to receive or discharge 

schoolchildren. 

5. The driver of a vehicle upon a highway with separate roadways need not stop upon meeting 

or passing a schoolbus which is on a different roadway or when upon a controlled-access 

highway and the schoolbus is stopped in a loading zone which is a part of or adjacent to 

such highway and where pedestrians are not permitted to cross the roadway. 

6. Every schoolbus must bear on the rear of the bus a plainly visible sign containing the words 

"THIS SCHOOLBUS STOPS AT ALL RAILROAD CROSSINGS". 

 

Sec. 24-14-32.  Permitting use of vehicle to violate section 39-10-46 prohibited. 

 



Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-46.1. 

 

39-10-46.1.  Permitting use of vehicle to violate section 39-10-46 prohibited - Presumption of 

permission - Defense - Dual prosecution prohibited. 

The registered owner of a motor vehicle may not permit that motor vehicle to be operated in 

violation of section 39-10-46.  If a motor vehicle is seen violating section 39-10-46, it is a 

disputable presumption that the registered owner of the motor vehicle permitted that violation.  It 

is a defense to a charge of violating this section that the registered owner of the vehicle was not 

operating the vehicle, if that registered owner identifies the person authorized by that owner to 

operate the motor vehicle at the time of the violation of section 39-10-46, or if that motor vehicle 

had been taken without the registered owner's permission.  A person may not be charged both 

with violating this section and with violating section 39-10-46.  Violation of this section is not a 

lesser included offense of violation of section 39-10-46. 

 

Sec. 24-14-33.  Unattended motor vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-51. 

 

39-10-51.  Unattended motor vehicle. 

No person driving or in charge of a motor vehicle may permit it to stand unattended without 

first stopping the engine, effectively setting the brake thereon, and, when standing upon any grade, 

turning the front wheels to the curb or side of the highway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-34.  Limitations on backing. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-52. 

 

39-10-52.  Limitations on backing. 

1. The driver of a vehicle may not back the same unless such movement can be made with 

safety and without interfering with other traffic. 

2. The driver of a vehicle may not back the same upon any shoulder or roadway of any 

controlled-access highway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-35.  Driving upon sidewalk. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-52.1. 

 

39-10-52.1.  Driving upon sidewalk. 

No person may drive any vehicle upon a sidewalk or sidewalk area except upon a permanent or 

duly authorized temporary driveway. 

 

Sec. 24-14-36.  Obstruction to driver's view or driving mechanism. 



 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-54. 

 

39-10-54.  Obstruction to driver's view or driving mechanism. 

1. No person may drive a vehicle when it is so loaded, or when there are in the front seat such 

a number of persons, exceeding three, as to obstruct the view of the driver to the front or 

sides of the vehicle or as to interfere with the driver's control over the driving mechanism 

of the vehicle. 

2. No passenger in a vehicle may ride in such position as to interfere with the driver's view 

ahead or to the sides, or to interfere with the driver's control over the driving mechanism of 

the vehicle. 

 

Sec. 24-14-37.  Opening and closing vehicle door. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-54.1. 

 

39-10-54.1.  Opening and closing vehicle door. 

No person may open the door of a motor vehicle on the side available to moving traffic unless 

and until it is reasonably safe to do so and can be done without interfering with the movement of 

other traffic, nor may any person leave a door open on the side of a vehicle available to moving 

traffic for a period of time longer than necessary to load or unload passengers. 

 

Sec. 24-14-38.  Coasting prohibited. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-56. 

 

39-10-56.  Coasting prohibited. 

1. The driver of any motor vehicle when traveling upon a downgrade may not coast with the 

gears or transmission of such vehicle in neutral. 

2. The driver of a truck or bus when traveling upon a downgrade may not coast with the 

clutch disengaged. 

 

Sec. 24-14-39.  Following emergency vehicle too closely prohibited. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-57. 

 

39-10-57.  Following emergency vehicle too closely prohibited - Stopping by emergency 

vehicle. 

The driver of a vehicle other than one on official business may not follow closer than five 

hundred feet [152.4 meters] behind an emergency vehicle displaying the appropriate light for that 

vehicle in an emergency.  A driver of a vehicle other than one on official business may not stop 



the vehicle within two hundred feet [60.96 meters] of any emergency vehicle stopped in answer to 

a 911 emergency. 

 

Sec. 24-14-40.  Crossing fire hose. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-58. 

 

39-10-58.  Crossing firehose. 

No vehicle may be driven over any unprotected hose of a fire department when laid down on 

any street, private road, or driveway to be used at any fire or alarm of fire without the consent of 

the fire department official in command. 

 

Sec. 24-14-41.  Garbage, glass, rubbish, and injurious materials on highway prohibited. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-59. 

 

39-10-59.  Garbage, glass, rubbish, and injurious materials on highway prohibited. 

1. An individual may not deposit upon any highway any glass bottle, glass, nails, tacks, wire, 

cans, rubbish, or any other litter.  In addition, an individual may not deposit upon a 

highway any other substance likely to injure a person, animal, or vehicle. 

2. An individual who deposits, or permits to be deposited, upon a highway a destructive or 

injurious material shall immediately remove or cause to be removed the material. 

3. An individual removing a wrecked or damaged vehicle from a highway shall remove any 

glass or other injurious substance dropped upon the highway from the vehicle. 

 

Sec. 24-14-42.  Operation of motor vehicle, tractor, or other vehicle prohibited on flood 

protective works. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-65. 

 

39-10-65.  Operation of motor vehicle, tractor, or other vehicle prohibited on flood protective 

works - Exception - Penalty. 

1. Unless authorized by the authority in charge thereof, no person shall operate a motor 

vehicle, tractor, or other vehicle upon or across any flood protective works, including any 

dike or flood protective works constructed by a state or federal agency, or by any 

municipality or local subdivision of the state. 

2. Any person violating the provisions of this section shall be liable to any person suffering 

injury as a result of the violation; and in addition, shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor. 

 

Sec. 24-14-43.  Stop when traffic obstructed. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-68. 



 

39-10-68.  Stop when traffic obstructed. 

No driver may enter any intersection or a marked crosswalk or drive onto a railroad grade 

crossing unless there is sufficient space on the other side of the intersection, crosswalk, or railroad 

grade crossing to accommodate the vehicle the driver is operating without obstructing the passage 

of other vehicles, pedestrians, or railroad trains notwithstanding any traffic-control signal 

indication to proceed. 

 

Sec. 24-14-44.  Funeral processions. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-72. 

 

39-10-72.  Funeral processions - Traffic regulations. 

1. Notwithstanding any traffic-control device, a law enforcement officer leading a funeral 

procession may proceed through any intersection or make any turns or other movements 

necessary while leading the procession.  The officer, without regard to any traffic-control 

device, may direct other drivers not in the funeral procession to stop, turn, proceed, or 

make other movements.  When leading the funeral procession, the officer must be in a 

marked patrol vehicle and the vehicle's lighted headlamps, taillamps, and top-mounted and 

grill-mounted signal lamps must be displayed at all times during the procession. 

2. Notwithstanding any traffic-control device or provision governing the right of way, 

whenever a law enforcement officer leading a funeral procession enters an intersection, the 

remainder of the vehicles in the funeral procession may follow through the intersection.  

Each vehicle in the procession, however, must exercise reasonable care toward any other 

vehicle or pedestrian on the roadway. 

3. Notwithstanding any traffic-control device or provision governing rights of way and 

subject to the following conditions, vehicles in a funeral procession have the right of way. 

a. All vehicles in a funeral procession must display lighted headlamps, taillamps, and 

flashing emergency lamps. 

b. All vehicles in a funeral procession must follow the preceding vehicle in the procession 

as closely as is safe and practicable. 

c. The driver of a vehicle in a funeral procession shall yield the right of way to an 

approaching emergency vehicle when directed to do so by a law enforcement officer or 

when the vehicle is giving an audible or visual signal. 

d. A vehicle that becomes separated from the funeral procession and the law enforcement 

escort, so that the procession is no longer continuous, must proceed to its destination in 

a safe and prudent manner obeying all traffic signals and general rules of the road. 

4. Other vehicles shall conform to the following rules: 

a. The driver of a vehicle may not drive between the vehicles comprising a funeral 

procession while those vehicles are in motion, except when authorized to do so by a 

law enforcement officer or when such vehicle is an emergency vehicle giving an 

audible or visible signal. 

b. The driver of a vehicle not part of a funeral procession may not join a funeral 

procession for the purpose of securing the right of way granted under subsection 3. 



c. The driver of a vehicle not in a funeral procession may not pass vehicles in such a 

procession on a two-lane highway or roadway. 

d. The driver of a vehicle may pass a funeral procession on its left side on any 

multiple-lane highway whenever such passing can be done safely, unless the 

procession is in the farthest left lane, in which case passing is permissible on the right. 

e. When a funeral procession is proceeding through a red signal as permitted by 

subsection 3, a vehicle that is not in the procession may not enter the intersection unless 

it can do so without crossing the path of the funeral procession.  If the red signal 

changes to green while the funeral procession is still within the intersection, a vehicle 

facing a green signal may proceed, but the funeral procession has the right of way. 

 

Article 15 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 15.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – vehicle equipment and requirements. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-15-1.  Operators must be licensed. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-01. 

 

39-06-01.  Operators must be licensed - Additional licensing - Penalty. 

1. An individual, unless exempted in this section, may not drive any motor vehicle on a 

highway or on public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular 

use in this state unless the individual has a valid license as an operator under this chapter or 

a temporary operator's permit issued under chapter 39-20.  An individual may not receive 

an operator's license unless and until that individual surrenders to the director all operator's 

licenses and permits issued to that individual by any jurisdiction.  If a license issued by 

another jurisdiction is surrendered, the director shall notify the issuing jurisdiction of the 

surrender.  An individual may not have more than one valid operator's license at any one 

time. 

2. An individual licensed as an operator may exercise the privilege granted by the license on 

any highway in this state and may not be required to obtain any other license to exercise the 

privilege by any political subdivision having authority to adopt police regulations, except 

that municipalities may regulate occupations and may regulate the operation of taxicabs 

under subsection 27 of section 40-05-01. 

 

Sec. 24-15-2.  Restricted licenses. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-17. 

 



39-06-17.  Restricted licenses - Penalty for violation. 

1. Upon issuing an operator's license or a temporary restricted operator's license under section 

39-06.1-11, the director may impose restrictions suitable to a licensee's driving ability with 

respect to the type of motor vehicle, special mechanical control devices required on a 

motor vehicle that the licensee may operate, or any other restrictions applicable to the 

licensee as the director may determine to be appropriate to assure the safe operation of a 

motor vehicle by the licensee.  The director may either issue a special restricted class D 

license or may state the restrictions upon the usual license form.  In the same manner, the 

director shall restrict licenses under section 39-16.1-09. 

2. The director may issue a restricted class D license to operate the parent's, guardian's, 

grandparent's, sibling's, aunt's, or uncle's automobile to a minor, who is at least fifteen 

years of age, and otherwise qualified, upon the written recommendation of the parent or 

guardian.  A minor may operate a motor vehicle that is not the parent's or guardian's to 

take the actual ability test.  The parent, guardian, grandparent, sibling, aunt, or uncle at all 

times is responsible for any and all damages growing out of the negligent operation of a 

motor vehicle by a minor.  A restricted class D license may not be issued to a minor unless 

the minor, accompanied by the parent or guardian, appears in person and satisfies the 

director that: 

a. The minor is at least fifteen years of age; 

b. The minor is qualified to operate an automobile safely; 

c. It is necessary for the child to drive the parent's, guardian's, grandparent's, sibling's, 

aunt's, or uncle's automobile without being accompanied by an adult; 

d. The minor has successfully completed an approved driver's education course that 

includes a course of classroom instruction and a course of behind-the-wheel instruction 

acceptable to the director or has successfully completed a course at an approved 

commercial driver training school; and 

e. The minor has accumulated a minimum of fifty hours of supervised, behind-the-wheel 

driving experience in various driving conditions and situations that include night 

driving; driving on gravel, dirt, or aggregate surface road; driving in both rural and 

urban conditions; and winter driving conditions. 

3. The provisions of subsection 2 do not authorize a minor to drive a commercial truck, 

motorbus, or taxicab except the holder of a restricted class D license may drive a farm 

motor vehicle having a gross weight of fifty thousand pounds [22679.62 kilograms] while 

used to transport agricultural products, farm machinery, or farm supplies to or from a farm 

when so operated within one hundred fifty miles [241.40 kilometers] of the driver's farm. 

4. A minor with a restricted class D license issued under subsection 2 may operate the type or 

class of motor vehicle specified on the restricted license under the following conditions: 

a. A restricted license holder must be in possession of the license while operating the 

motor vehicle. 

b. An individual holding a restricted class D license driving a motor vehicle may not carry 

more passengers than the vehicle manufacturer's suggested passenger capacity. 

c. An individual holding a restricted class D license driving a motor vehicle may not 

operate an electronic communication device to talk, compose, read, or send an 

electronic message while operating a motor vehicle that is in motion unless the sole 

purpose of operating the device is to obtain emergency assistance, to prevent a crime 



about to be committed, or in the reasonable belief that an individual's life or safety is in 

danger. 

d. An individual holding a restricted class D license may not operate a motor vehicle 

between the later of sunset or nine p.m. and five a.m. unless a parent, legal guardian, or 

an individual eighteen years of age or older is in the front seat of the motor vehicle or 

the motor vehicle is being driven directly to or from work, an official school activity, or 

a religious activity. 

5. Upon receiving satisfactory evidence of any violation of the restrictions of a license, 

the director may suspend or revoke the license but the licensee is entitled to a hearing as 

upon a suspension or revocation under this chapter. 

6. It is a class B misdemeanor for an individual to operate a motor vehicle in any manner 

in violation of the restrictions imposed under this section except for the restrictions in 

subsection 4. 

7. If a temporary restricted license is issued under section 39-06.1-11 and the underlying 

suspension was imposed for a violation of section 39-08-01 or equivalent ordinance, or 

is governed by chapter 39-20, punishment is as provided in subsection 2 of section 

39-06-42.  Upon receiving notice of the conviction the director shall revoke, without 

opportunity for hearing, the licensee's temporary restricted license and shall extend the 

underlying suspension for a like period of not more than one year. 

8. If the conviction referred to in this section is reversed by an appellate court, the director 

shall restore the individual to the status held by the individual before the conviction, 

including restoration of driving privileges if appropriate. 

 

Sec. 24-15-3.  Unlawful use of license. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-06-40. 

 

39-06-40.  Unlawful use of license - Penalty. 

1. It is a class B misdemeanor for an individual: 

a. To display or cause or permit to be displayed or have in possession any canceled, 

revoked, fictitious, or fraudulently altered operator's license or nondriver photo 

identification card; 

b. To lend that individual's operator's license or nondriver photo identification card to any 

other individual or knowingly permit the use of that individual's operator's license or 

nondriver photo identification card by another individual; 

c. To display or represent as an individual's own any operator's license or nondriver photo 

identification card not issued to that individual; 

d. To fail or refuse to surrender to the director upon demand any operator's license or 

nondriver photo identification card that has been suspended, revoked, or canceled; 

e. To permit any unlawful use of an operator's license or nondriver photo identification 

card issued to that individual; or 

f. To use a false or fictitious name in any application for an operator's license or 

nondriver photo identification card or to knowingly make a false statement or to 

conceal a material fact or otherwise commit a fraud in the application. 



2. Within five days of receiving a record of conviction or other satisfactory evidence of the 

violation of this section, the director shall revoke the individual's operator's license or 

nondriver photo identification card.  The director may set the period of revocation, not to 

exceed six months. 

 

Sec. 24-15-4.  When lighted lamps are required. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-01. 

 

39-21-01. When lighted lamps are required. 

Subject to the exceptions for parked vehicles, every vehicle upon a highway within this state 

must display lighted headlamps, taillamps, and illuminating devices as required in this chapter for 

different classes of vehicles as follows: 

1. At any time from sunset to sunrise, and every farm tractor upon a highway within this state 

at any time from a half hour after sunset to a half hour before sunrise; 

2. At any time when it is raining, snowing, sleeting, or hailing or during other adverse driving 

conditions and these conditions do not render a person or vehicle on the highway clearly 

discernible at a distance of one thousand feet [304.8 meters] ahead; or 

3. At any other time when visibility is impaired by weather, smoke, fog, or other conditions, 

or when there is insufficient light to render a person or vehicle on the highway clearly 

discernible at a distance of one thousand feet [304.8 meters] ahead.  Stoplights, turn 

signals, and other signaling devices must be lighted as prescribed for the use of these 

devices. 

 

Sec. 24-15-5.  Lamp or flag on projecting load. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-13. 

 

39-21-13. Lamp or flag on projecting load. 

Whenever the load upon any vehicle extends to the rear four feet [121.92 centimeters] or more 

beyond the bed or body of the vehicle there must be displayed at the extreme rear end of the load, 

at the times specified in section 39-21-01, a red light or lantern plainly visible from a distance of at 

least six hundred feet [182.88 meters] to the sides and rear. The red light or lantern required under 

this section must be in addition to the red rear light required upon every vehicle. At any other time 

there must be displayed at the extreme rear end of a load a red flag or cloth not less than twelve 

inches [30.48 centimeters] square and so hung that the entire area is visible to the driver of a 

vehicle approaching from the rear. 

 

Sec. 24-15-6.  Muffler - Prevention of noise and smoke. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-37. 

 

39-21-37. Muffler - Prevention of noise and smoke. 



1. Every motor vehicle must at all times be equipped with a muffler in good working order 

and in constant operation to prevent excessive or unusual noise and annoying smoke, and 

no person may use a muffler cutout, bypass, or similar device upon a motor vehicle on a 

highway. 

2. The engine and power mechanism of every motor vehicle must be so equipped and 

adjusted as to prevent the escape of excessive fumes or smoke. 

 

Sec. 24-15-7.  Windshield - Must be unobstructed and equipped with wipers – Tinted 

windows. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-39. 

 

39-21-39. Windshield - Must be unobstructed and equipped with wipers – Tinted windows. 

1. A motor vehicle must be equipped with a windshield. An individual may not drive any 

motor vehicle with any sign, poster, or other nontransparent material upon the front 

windshield, side wings, or side or rear windows which obstructs the driver's clear view of 

the highway or any intersecting highway. 

2. The windshield on a motor vehicle must be equipped with a device for cleaning rain, snow, 

or other moisture from the windshield, which must be constructed as to be controlled or 

operated by the driver of the vehicle. 

3. The windshield wiper upon a motor vehicle must be maintained in good working order. 

4. An individual may not operate a motor vehicle with any object, material, or tinting 

displayed, affixed, or applied on the front windshield or any window unless the object, 

material, or tinting in conjunction with the windshield upon which it is displayed, affixed, 

or applied has a light transmittance of at least seventy percent or the object, material, or 

tinting in conjunction with a window other than the windshield upon which it is displayed, 

affixed, or applied has a light transmittance of at least fifty percent. This subsection does 

not apply to windows behind the operator if the motor vehicle is equipped with outside 

mirrors on both sides that meet the requirements of section 39-21-38. 

 

Sec. 24-15-8.  Child restraint devices. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-41.2. 

 

39-21-41.2. Child restraint devices - Evidence. 

1. If a child, under seven years of age, is present in any motor vehicle, that motor vehicle must 

be equipped with at least one child restraint system for each such child.  However, a child 

under the age of seven who is at least fifty-seven inches [1.45 meters] tall and who weighs 

at least eighty pounds [36.28 kilograms] is not required to use a child restraint system. The 

child restraint system must meet the standards adopted by the United States department of 

transportation for those systems [49 CFR 571.213]. While the motor vehicle is in motion, 

each such child must be properly secured in the child restraint system in accordance with 

the manufacturer's instructions. A child weighing more than forty pounds [18.14 

kilograms] may be restrained by a lap belt if the vehicle is not equipped with lap and 



shoulder belts or if all lap and shoulder belts are in use by other occupants. While the motor 

vehicle is moving, each child of seven through seventeen years of age who is in the motor 

vehicle must be in an approved child restraint system in accordance with the 

manufacturer's instructions or correctly buckled in a seatbelt. Use of child restraint systems 

and seatbelts is not required in motor vehicles that were not equipped with seatbelts when 

manufactured. If a child is being transported in an emergency situation, this section does 

not apply. 

2. Violation of this section is not, in itself, evidence of negligence. The fact of a violation of 

this section is not admissible in any proceeding other than one charging the violation. 

 

Sec. 24-15-9.  Use of safety belts required in certain motor vehicles - Enforcement - 

Evidence. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-21-41.4. 

 

39-21-41.4. Use of safety belts required in certain motor vehicles - Enforcement - Evidence. 

Subject to the limitations of this section and section 39-21-41.5, a driver may not operate 

upon a highway a motor vehicle designed for carrying fewer than eleven passengers, which 

was originally manufactured with safety belts unless each front seat occupant is wearing a 

properly adjusted and fastened safety belt. This section does not apply to a child in a child 

restraint or seatbelt in accordance with section 39-21-41.2; to drivers of implements of 

husbandry; to operators of farm vehicles as defined in subsection 5 of section 39-04-19; to 

rural mail carriers while on duty delivering mail; to an occupant with a medical or physically 

disabling condition that prevents appropriate restraint in a safety belt, if a qualified physician 

states in a signed writing the nature of the condition and the reason restraint is inappropriate; or 

when all front seat safety belts are in use by other occupants. A physician who, in good faith, 

provides a statement that restraint would be inappropriate is not subject to civil liability. A 

violation for not wearing a safety belt under this section is not, in itself, evidence of 

negligence. The fact of a violation of this section is not admissible in any proceeding other than 

one charging the violation. 

 

Article 16 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 16.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – speed. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-16-1.  Basic rule. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-09-01. 

 



39-09-01.  Basic rule - Penalty for violation. 

No person may drive a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the 

conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing.  Consistent with 

the foregoing, every person shall drive at a safe and appropriate speed when approaching and 

crossing an intersection or railroad grade crossing, when approaching and going around a curve, 

when approaching a hill crest, when traveling upon any narrow or winding roadway, and when 

special hazards exist with respect to pedestrians or other traffic or by reason of weather or highway 

conditions.  Any person who drives a vehicle upon a highway or private or public property open 

to the public for the operation of motor vehicles without heed to the requirements or restrictions of 

this section has committed careless driving and must be assessed a fee of thirty dollars.  Any 

person who, by reason of careless driving as herein defined, causes and inflicts injury upon the 

person of an operator of snow removal equipment engaged in snow removal operations or causes 

damage in excess of one thousand dollars to snow removal equipment engaged in snow removal is 

guilty of an infraction.  As used in this section, "snow removal equipment" means a vehicle that is 

operated by a person employed by or on behalf of an authority in charge of the maintenance of the 

highway to perform winter maintenance snow and ice removal, including plowing, hauling away, 

salting, and sanding. 

 

Sec. 24-16-2.  Speed limitation. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-09-02. 

 

39-09-02.  Speed limitations. 

1. Subject to the provisions of section 39-09-01 and except in those instances when a lower 

speed is specified in this chapter, it presumably is lawful for the driver of a vehicle to drive 

the same at a speed not exceeding: 

a. Twenty miles [32.19 kilometers] an hour when approaching within fifty feet 

[15.24meters] of a grade crossing of any steam, electric, or street railway when the 

driver's view is obstructed.  A driver's view is deemed to be obstructed when at any 

time during the last two hundred feet [60.96 meters] of the driver's approach to such 

crossing, the driver does not have a clear and uninterrupted view of such railway 

crossing and of any traffic on such railway for a distance of four hundred feet [121.92 

meters] in each direction from such crossing. 

b. Twenty miles [32.19 kilometers] an hour when passing a school during school recess or 

while children are going to or leaving school during opening or closing hours, unless a 

lower speed is designated or posted by local authorities. 

c. Twenty miles [32.19 kilometers] an hour when approaching within fifty feet [15.24 

meters] and in traversing an intersection of highways when the driver's view is 

obstructed.  A driver's view is deemed to be obstructed when at any time during the 

last fifty feet [15.24 meters] of the driver's approach to such intersection, the driver 

does not have a clear and uninterrupted view of such intersection and of the traffic upon 

all of the highways entering such intersection for a distance of two hundred feet [60.96 

meters] from such intersection. 

d. Twenty miles [32.19 kilometers] an hour when the driver's view of the highway ahead 

is obstructed within a distance of one hundred feet [30.48 meters]. 



e. Twenty-five miles [40.23 kilometers] an hour on any highway in a business district or 

in a residence district or in a public park, unless a different speed is designated and 

posted by local authorities. 

f. Fifty-five miles [88.51 kilometers] an hour on gravel, dirt, or loose surface highways, 

and on paved two-lane county and township highways if there is no speed limit posted, 

unless otherwise permitted, restricted, or required by conditions. 

g. Sixty-five miles [104.61 kilometers] an hour on paved two-lane highways if posted for 

that speed, unless otherwise permitted, restricted, or required by conditions. 

h. Seventy miles [112.65 kilometers] an hour on paved and divided multilane highways, 

unless otherwise permitted, restricted, or required by conditions. 

i. Seventy-five miles [120.70 kilometers] an hour on access-controlled, paved and 

divided, multilane interstate highways, unless otherwise permitted, restricted, or 

required by conditions. 

2. The director may designate and post special areas of state highways where lower speed 

limits apply.  Differing limits may be established for different times of the day within 

highway construction zones which are effective when posted upon appropriate fixed or 

variable speed limit signs. 

3. Except as provided by law, it is unlawful for any person to drive a vehicle upon a highway 

at a speed that is unsafe or at a speed exceeding the speed limit prescribed by law or 

established pursuant to law. 

4. In charging a violation of the provisions of this section, the complaint must specify the 

speed at which the defendant is alleged to have driven and the speed which this section 

prescribes is prima facie lawful at the time and place of the alleged offense. 

 

Sec. 24-16-3.  When local authorities may or shall alter maximum speed. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-09-03. 

 

39-09-03.  When local authorities may or shall alter maximum speed - Limits – Signs posted. 

1. Whenever local authorities in their respective jurisdictions, on the basis of an engineering 

and traffic investigation, determine that the maximum speed permitted under this title is 

greater or less than is reasonable and safe under the conditions found to exist upon a 

highway or part of a highway, the local authority may determine and declare a reasonable 

and safe maximum limit thereon which: 

a. Decreases the limit at intersections; 

b. Increases the limit within an urban district but not to more than fifty-five miles [88.51 

kilometers] per hour; or 

c. Decreases the limit outside an urban district. 

2. Local authorities in their respective jurisdictions shall determine by an engineering and 

traffic investigation the proper maximum speed for arterial streets and shall declare a 

reasonable and safe maximum limit thereon which may be greater or less than the 

maximum speed permitted under this chapter for an urban district. 

3. Any altered limit established as hereinabove authorized shall be effective at all times or 

during hours of darkness or at other times as may be determined when appropriate signs 

giving notice thereof are erected upon such street or highway. 



4. Any alteration of maximum limits on state highways or extensions thereof in a 

municipality by local authorities may not be effective until such alteration has been 

approved by the director. 

5. Not more than six such alterations as hereinabove authorized may be made per mile [1.61 

kilometers] along a street or highway, except in the case of reduced limits at intersections, 

and the difference between adjacent limits may not be more than ten miles [16.09 

kilometers] per hour. 

 

Sec. 24-16-4.  Minimum speed limits. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-09-09. 

 

39-09-09.  Minimum speed limits. 

1. An individual may not drive a motor vehicle at a reduced speed so as to impede the normal 

and reasonable movement of traffic except when reduced speed is necessary for safe 

operation or in compliance with law. 

2. If the director and the superintendent of the highway patrol, acting jointly, or a local 

authority within the authority's jurisdiction, determines on the basis of an engineering and 

traffic investigation that slow speeds on any highway or part of a highway impede the safe, 

normal, and reasonable movement of traffic, the director and superintendent or the local 

authority may determine and declare a minimum speed limit below which an individual 

may not drive a vehicle except when necessary for safe operation or in compliance with 

law, and that limit is effective when posted upon appropriate fixed or variable signs. 

 

Article 17 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 17.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – parking. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-17-1.  Parking privileges for mobility impaired. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-01-15. 

 

(1) Certificate or license plate not prominently displayed. 

(2) Mobility impaired parking. 

 

Article 18 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 18.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – railroads. 

 



The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 

 

Sec. 24-18-1.  Obedience to signal indicating approach of train. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-41. 

 

39-10-41.  Obedience to signal indicating approach of train. 

1. Whenever any person driving a vehicle approaches a railroad grade crossing under any of 

the circumstances stated in this section, the driver of such vehicle shall stop within fifty 

feet [15.24 meters] but not less than fifteen feet [4.57 meters] from the nearest rail of such 

railroad, and may not proceed until the driver can do so safely.  The foregoing 

requirements apply when: 

a. A clearly visible electric or mechanical signal device gives warning of the immediate 

approach of a railroad train; 

b. A crossing gate is lowered or when a human flagman gives or continues to give a signal 

of the approach or passage of a railroad train; 

c. A railroad train approaching within approximately one thousand three hundred twenty 

feet [402.34 meters] of the highway crossing emits a signal audible from such distance 

and such railroad train, by reason of its speed or nearness to such crossing, is an 

immediate hazard; or 

d. An approaching railroad train is plainly visible and is in hazardous proximity to such 

crossing. 

2. No person may drive any vehicle through, around, or under any crossing gate or barrier at a 

railroad crossing while such gate or barrier is closed or is being opened or closed.  No 

person may drive any vehicle past any human flagman at a railroad crossing until the 

flagman signals that the way is clear to proceed. 

 

Sec. 24-18-2.  All vehicles must stop at certain railroad grade crossings. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-42. 

 

39-10-42.  All vehicles must stop at certain railroad grade crossings. 

The department of transportation and local authorities, with respect to highways under their 

respective jurisdiction, are hereby authorized to designate particularly dangerous highway grade 

crossings of railroads and to erect stop signs thereat.  When such stop signs are erected, the driver 

of any vehicle shall stop within fifty feet [15.24 meters] but not less than fifteen feet [4.57 meters] 

from the nearest rail of such railroad and shall proceed only upon exercising due care. 

 

Sec. 24-18-3.  Certain vehicles must stop at all railroad grade crossings. 

 



Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10-43. 

 

39-10-43.  Certain vehicles must stop at all railroad grade crossings. 

1. The driver of a bus carrying passengers, or of any schoolbus, or of any vehicle carrying any 

chlorine, empty or loaded cargo tank vehicles used to transport dangerous articles or any 

liquid having a flashpoint below two hundred degrees Fahrenheit [93.33 degrees Celsius], 

cargo tank vehicles transporting a commodity having a temperature above its flashpoint at 

the time of loading, certain cargo tank vehicles transporting commodities under special 

permits issued by the hazardous materials regulations board, and every motor vehicle 

which must have the following placards:  "explosives", "poison", "flammable oxidizers", 

"compressed gas", "corrosives", "flammable gas", "radioactive", or "dangerous", before 

crossing at grade any track or tracks of a railroad, shall stop such vehicle within fifty feet 

[15.24 meters] but not less than fifteen feet [4.57 meters] from the nearest rail of such 

railroad and while so stopped shall listen and look in both directions along such track for 

any approaching train, and for signals indicating the approach of a train and may not 

proceed until the driver can do so safely.  After stopping as required herein and upon 

proceeding when it is safe to do so, the driver of any said vehicle shall cross only in such 

gear of the vehicle that there will be no necessity for manually changing gears while 

traversing such crossing and the driver may not manually shift gears while crossing the 

track or tracks. 

2. No stop need be made at any such crossing at which traffic is controlled by a police officer.  

For the purposes of this section, a United States marshal must be considered a police 

officer. 

3. No stop need be made at a crossing that the director has designated as an out-of-service 

crossing and which is clearly marked by signs bearing the words "Tracks out of service" or 

"Exempt" in conspicuous places on each side of the crossing. 

4. The designation must be limited to use at crossings where track has been abandoned or its 

use discontinued. 

5. The director shall notify the road authority and any railway company of a crossing under 

the jurisdiction of that railway company which the director has designated as an 

out-of-service crossing under this section and the road authority shall erect signs bearing 

the words "Tracks out of service" or "Exempt" in conspicuous places on each side of the 

crossing. 

6. All signs must conform to the manual on uniform traffic-control devices as provided under 

section 39-13-06. 

 

Article 19 is added to Chapter 24 to read: 

 

Chapter 24 Article 19.  N.D.C.C. Cross-reference – bicycles, motorcycles, snowmobiles and 

off-highway vehicles. 

 

The N.D.C.C. text has been repeated here for reference.  The text was copied on or about June 

15, 2015, unless there is a note listing a later date for a specific section.  The text contained on the 

N.D.C.C. web site is the official version and should be consulted to verify accuracy of the text 

reproduced here. 



 

Sec. 24-19-1.  Clinging to vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.1-04. 

 

39-10.1-04.  Clinging to vehicle. 

No person riding upon any bicycle, coaster, roller skates, sled, or toy vehicle may attach the 

same or the person's self to any vehicle upon a roadway, except a sled being pulled by a 

snowmobile. 

 

Sec. 24-19-2.  Riding on motorcycle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.2-02. 

 

39-10.2-02.  Riding on motorcycle. 

1. A person operating a motorcycle shall ride only upon the permanent and regular seat 

attached thereto, and such operator may not carry any other person nor may any other 

person ride on a motorcycle unless such motorcycle is designed to carry more than one 

person, in which event a passenger may ride upon the permanent and regular seat if 

designed for two persons, or upon another seat firmly attached to the motorcycle at the rear 

or side of the operator. 

2. A person shall ride upon a motorcycle only while sitting astride the seat, facing forward, 

with one leg on each side of the motorcycle. 

3. No person may operate a motorcycle while carrying any package, bundle, or other article 

which prevents the person from keeping both hands on the handlebars. 

4. No operator may carry any person, nor may any person ride in a position that will interfere 

with the operation or control of the motorcycle or the view of the operator. 

 

Sec. 24-19-3.  Operating motorcycles on roadways laned for traffic. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.2-03. 

 

39-10.2-03.  Operating motorcycles on roadways laned for traffic. 

1. All motorcycles are entitled to full use of a lane and no motor vehicle may be driven in such 

a manner as to deprive any motorcycle of the full use of a lane.  This subsection does not 

apply to the operation of motorcycles two abreast in a single lane as authorized in 

subsection 4. 

2. The operator of a motorcycle may not overtake and pass in the same lane occupied by the 

vehicle being overtaken. 

3. No person may operate a motorcycle between lanes of traffic or between adjacent lines or 

rows of vehicles. 

4. Motorcycles may not be operated more than two abreast in a single lane. 



5. Subsections 2 and 3 do not apply to police officers in the performance of their official 

duties. 

 

Sec. 24-19-4.  Clinging to other vehicle. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.2-04. 

 

39-10.2-04. Clinging to other vehicle. 

No person riding upon a motorcycle may attach the person's self or the motorcycle to any other 

vehicle on a roadway. 

 

Sec. 24-19-5.  Footrests. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.2-05. 

 

39-10.2-05.  Footrests. 

Any motorcycle carrying a passenger, other than in a sidecar or enclosed cab, must be 

equipped with footrests for such passenger. 

 

Sec. 24-19-6.  Equipment for motorcycle riders. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-10.2-06. 

 

39-10.2-06.  Equipment for motorcycle riders. 

1. No person under the age of eighteen years may operate or ride upon a motorcycle unless a 

safety helmet meeting United States department of transportation standards is being worn 

on the head of the operator and rider, except when participating in a lawful parade.  If the 

operator of a motorcycle is required to wear a safety helmet, any passenger must also wear 

a safety helmet regardless of the age of the passenger. 

2. This section does not apply to persons riding within an enclosed cab or on a golf cart. 

3. No person may operate a motorcycle if a person under the age of eighteen years is a 

passenger upon that motorcycle and is not wearing a safety helmet as provided in 

subsection 1. 

 

Sec. 24-19-7.  Snowmobile registration - Title certificate - General requirements. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-24-02 and § 39-24-03. 

 

39-24-02. Snowmobile registration - Title certificate - General requirements. 

Except as hereinafter provided, no person may operate any snowmobile unless the snowmobile 

has been registered in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.  Any snowmobile purchased 

after July 1, 1973, must be titled under the provisions of chapter 39-05 in order to be operated 



under the provisions of this section. Any snowmobile purchased prior to July 1, 1973, may be 

titled under the provisions of chapter 39-05. 

 

39-24-03. Registration - Application - Issuance - Fees - Renewal. 

1. Application for registration must be made to the department in a form as the department 

shall prescribe and furnish and must state the name and address of every owner of the 

snowmobile and be signed by at least one owner. A copy of the application must be carried 

on the person when operating and shall serve as evidence of registration for a period of not 

more than thirty days from the date of application. 

2. Upon receipt of the application and the appropriate fee, the department shall register a 

snowmobile and assign a registration number and a certificate of registration. The 

registration number must be at least one and one-half inches [3.81 centimeters] in height 

and of a reflectorized material and must be securely affixed on each side of the snowmobile 

in a position as to provide clear legibility for identification. The certificate of registration 

must include information regarding the make, year, serial number, and name and address 

of the owner. The fee for registration of each snowmobile must be five dollars for any 

portion of the registration period and the registration period is for two years beginning 

October first of each odd-numbered year. The fee for a duplicate or replacement 

registration number or registration card which is lost, mutilated, or becomes illegible may 

not exceed five dollars. For each snowmobile registered under the provisions of this 

chapter, there must be assessed a snowmobile trail tax in the amount of forty-five dollars. 

3. Every owner of a snowmobile shall renew the registration in a manner as the department 

shall prescribe, upon payment of the same registration fees provided in this section. 

4. Upon application for registration as prescribed in this section, any snowmobile dealer as 

defined in section 39-24-01 must be issued registration numbers distinctively marked as 

dealer's registration numbers upon payment of the appropriate fee as prescribed in this 

section. The dealer's registration numbers must be used only on snowmobiles owned by the 

dealership. 

 

Sec. 24-19-8.  Rules for operation of snowmobiles. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-24-09. 

 

39-24-09. Rules for operation of snowmobiles. 

1. No person may operate a snowmobile upon the roadway, shoulder, or inside bank or slope 

of any road, street, or highway in this state except as provided pursuant to this chapter. No 

snowmobile may be operated at any time within the right of way of any interstate highway 

within this state except as provided in this section. 

2. A snowmobile may make a direct crossing of a non-interstate street or highway provided: 

a. The crossing is made at an angle of approximately ninety degrees to the direction of the 

highway and at a place where no obstruction prevents a quick and safe crossing; 

b. The snowmobile is brought to a complete stop before crossing the shoulder or main 

traveled way of the highway; 

c. The driver yields the right of way to all oncoming traffic which constitutes an 

immediate hazard; and 



d. In crossing a divided highway, the crossing is made only at an intersection of such 

highway with another public street or highway. 

3. No snowmobile may be operated unless it is equipped with at least one headlamp, one 

taillamp, and brakes, all in working order, which conform to standards prescribed by rule 

of the director pursuant to the authority vested in the director by this code and this chapter. 

4. The emergency conditions under which a snowmobile may be operated other than as 

provided by this chapter must be such as to render the use of an automobile impractical 

under such conditions at such period of time and location. 

5. It is unlawful for any person to drive or operate any snowmobile in the following ways 

which are declared to be unsafe and a public nuisance: 

a. At a rate of speed greater than reasonable or proper under all the surrounding 

circumstances. 

b. In a careless, reckless, or negligent manner so as to endanger the person or property of 

another or to cause injury or damage to such person or property. 

c. While under the influence of intoxicating liquor or a drug as defined in section 

39-24.1-01, or a combination thereof. 

d. Without a lighted headlamp and taillamp when required for safety. 

e. In any tree nursery or planting in a manner which damages or destroys growing stock. 

f. Without a manufacturer-installed or equivalent muffler in good working order and 

connected to the snowmobile exhaust system. 

g. Upon any private land where the private land is posted by the owner or tenant 

prohibiting trespassing. The name of the person posting the land must appear on each 

sign in legible characters. The posted signs must be readable from the outside of the 

land and must be placed conspicuously at a distance of not more than eight hundred 

eighty yards [804.68 meters] apart, provided further that as to land entirely enclosed by 

a fence or other enclosure, posting of signs at or on all gates through the fence or 

enclosure constitutes a posting of all the enclosed lands. 

6. It is unlawful for any person to operate a snowmobile pursuant to chapter 39-24 without 

having in possession a valid driver's license, except as provided by section 39-24-09.1. 

7. If a snowmobile is operated within the right of way of any road, street, or highway of this 

state under this chapter, during times or conditions that warrant the use of lights, the 

snowmobile operator shall travel in the same direction as the direction of motor vehicles 

traveling on the side of the roadway immediately adjacent to the side of the right of way 

traveled by the snowmobile. An operator of a snowmobile traveling on a snowmobile trail 

maintained by the parks and recreation department which is within the right of way of any 

road, street, or highway of this state is exempted from this rule.  The operator shall wait 

for all traffic to clear the roadway before crossing bridges and other similar structures. 

8. It is unlawful for any person to operate a snowmobile within a highway right of way as 

defined in subsection 38 of section 24-01-01.1 between April first and November first of 

any year. 

9. No snowmobile may be operated at any time within the right of way of any highway within 

this state while towing a sled, skid, or other vehicle, unless the sled, skid, or other vehicle is 

connected to the snowmobile by a hinged swivel and secure hitch. 

10. No person under the age of eighteen years may operate, ride, or otherwise be propelled on 

a snowmobile unless the person wears a safety helmet meeting United States department of 

transportation standards. 



11. A person may not operate a snowmobile, and an owner of a snowmobile may not 

knowingly permit the snowmobile to be operated, upon any property maintained, leased, or 

owned by the state parks and recreation department to which the public has a right of 

access for snowmobile or other vehicular use, without a policy of liability insurance which 

insures the person named, and any person using the snowmobile with the express or 

implied permission of the person named, against loss from the liability imposed by law for 

damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of the snowmobile within this 

state, subject to the following limits, exclusive of interest and costs, with respect to each 

snowmobile: twenty-five thousand dollars because of bodily injury to or death of one 

person in any one accident and, subject to the limit for one person, fifty thousand dollars 

because of bodily injury to or death of two or more persons in any one accident, and 

twenty-five thousand dollars because of injury to or destruction of property of others in any 

one accident. Upon request of a law enforcement officer, a person operating a snowmobile 

shall provide proof of liability insurance to that officer within twenty days. 

12. A snowmobile may not be operated within the right of way of any interstate highway 

within this state except: 

a. For emergency purposes; or 

b. Across an interstate highway on an overpass or underpass, except where otherwise 

prohibited by law or by signing, provided the snowmobile crosses on the extreme right 

side of the overpass or underpass. 

 

Sec. 24-19-9.  Operation by individuals - Minimum age. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-24-09.1. 

 

39-24-09.1. Operation by individuals - Minimum age. 

1. An individual under the age of ten may not operate a snowmobile unless the individual 

operates the snowmobile on private land. An individual ten or eleven years of age may not 

operate a snowmobile unless the individual operates the snowmobile on private land or the 

individual is in the presence of a parent or guardian pursuant to chapter 30.1-27, has 

completed a snowmobile safety training course as prescribed by the director of the parks 

and recreation department pursuant to chapter 28-32, and has received the appropriate 

snowmobile safety certificate issued by the director of the parks and recreation department. 

2. An individual twelve years of age and over may not operate a snowmobile unless the 

individual is in possession of a valid driver's license, operates the snowmobile on private 

land, or unless the individual has completed a snowmobile safety training course as 

prescribed by the director of the parks and recreation department pursuant to chapter 28-32 

and has received the appropriate snowmobile safety certificate issued by the director of the 

parks and recreation department. 

3. The failure of an operator to exhibit a snowmobile safety certificate upon demand to any 

official authorized to enforce this chapter is presumptive evidence that the individual is not 

the holder of the certificate. 

4. Fees collected from each individual receiving certification must be deposited into the 

snowmobile fund for purposes of establishing snowmobile safety programs. 

 



Sec. 24-19-10.  Penalties. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-24-11. 

 

39-24-11. Penalties. 

Any person who violates subsection 12 of section 39-24-09 must be assessed a fee of one 

hundred dollars. Any person who violates subdivision b or g of subsection 5 of section 39-24-09 is 

guilty of a class B misdemeanor. Any person who violates subdivision c of subsection 5 of section 

39-24-09 is guilty of an infraction or a class B misdemeanor as determined by section 39-24.1-07.  

Any person who violates subsection 11 of section 39-24-09 is guilty of a class B misdemeanor and 

must be assessed a fine of at least one hundred dollars. Any person who violates any other 

provision of section 39-24-09 must be assessed a fee of twenty dollars. Any person, unless 

specifically exempted, who fails to register or fails to display a decal as required by sections 

39-24-02 and 39-24-04 must be assessed a fee of fifty dollars. If the person provides proof of 

registration after the violation, the fee may be reduced by one-half. Any person who violates any 

other provision of this chapter for which a specific penalty is not provided must be assessed a fee 

of ten dollars. 

 

Sec. 24-19-11.  Off-highway vehicle registration. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-29-02 and § 39-29-03. 

 

39-29-02. Off-highway vehicle registration. 

Except as provided in this chapter, an individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle 

unless it has been registered under this chapter. 

 

39-29-03. Registration - Application - Issuance - Fees - Renewal. 

1. Application for registration must be made to the department of transportation in the form 

the department prescribes and furnishes. The registration must state the name and address 

of every owner of the off-highway vehicle and be signed by at least one owner. A copy of 

the application is evidence of registration for the first thirty days after the date of 

application. 

2. On receipt of an application and the appropriate fee, the department shall register the 

off-highway vehicle and assign a registration number and a certificate of registration. In 

addition, the department shall issue a decal made of reflectorized material which contains 

the registration number or the department shall issue one distinctive number plate upon the 

request of the owner. The operator of an off-highway vehicle shall securely affix and 

display the decal or the plate in a position as to provide clear legibility for identification. 

The certificate of registration must include information regarding the make, year, serial 

number, and name and address of the owner. 

3. The fee for registration of each off-highway vehicle is five dollars for a registration period 

of two years. For a duplicate or replacement registration number or registration card which 

is lost, mutilated, or becomes illegible, the department may charge a fee of not more than 



five dollars. For each off-highway vehicle registered under this chapter, there is an 

off-highway vehicle trail tax of fifteen dollars. 

4. The owner of an off-highway vehicle shall renew the registration in the manner the 

department prescribes and pay the registration fees and applicable tax provided in 

subsection 3. 

5. On application for registration as prescribed in subsection 2, and on payment of the 

amounts prescribed in subsection 3, an off-highway vehicle dealer is entitled to be issued 

registration numbers distinctively marked as dealer's registration numbers. The dealer's 

registration numbers may be used only on off-highway vehicles owned by the dealership. 

 

Sec. 24-19-12.  Operation of off-highway vehicles. 

 

Citations issued into municipal court under this section are for a violation of N.D.C.C. § 

39-29-09. 

 

39-29-09. Operation of off-highway vehicles. 

1. An individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle on the roadway, shoulder, or inside 

bank or slope of any road, street, or highway except as provided in this chapter.  Except in 

emergencies, an individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle within the right of way 

of any controlled-access highway. An individual may operate a registered off-highway 

vehicle on a gravel, dirt, or loose surface roadway. An individual may operate a registered 

off-highway vehicle on a paved highway designated and posted at a speed not exceeding 

fifty-five miles [88.51 kilometers] per hour. A licensed driver over sixteen years of age 

may operate a registered class III off-highway vehicle on a paved highway designated and 

posted at a speed not exceeding sixty-five miles [104.61 kilometers] per hour.  An 

individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle on a paved highway if the vehicle is 

unable to attain a speed, on a paved level surface, of at least thirty miles [48.28 kilometers] 

per hour. 

2. The operator of an off-highway vehicle may make a direct crossing of a street or highway 

only if: 

a. The crossing is made at an angle of approximately ninety degrees to the direction of the 

highway and at a place where no obstruction prevents a quick and safe crossing; 

b. The off-highway vehicle is brought to a complete stop before crossing the shoulder or 

main traveled way of the highway; 

c. The operator yields the right of way to all oncoming traffic which constitutes an 

immediate hazard; and 

d. In crossing a divided highway, the crossing is made only at an intersection of the 

highway with another public street or highway. 

3. Unless an individual is operating a class I off-highway vehicle, an individual may not 

operate an off-highway vehicle unless it is equipped with at least one headlamp, one 

taillamp, and brakes, all in working order, which conform to standards prescribed by rule 

of the director, except when under the direct supervision of an off-highway vehicle 

instructor teaching a certified off-highway vehicle safety training course, the requirement 

for a headlamp and taillamp may be waived. 



4. The emergency conditions under which an off-highway vehicle may be operated other than 

as provided by this chapter are only those that render the use of an automobile impractical 

under the conditions and at the time and location in question. 

5. An individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle in the following ways, which are 

declared to be unsafe and a public nuisance: 

a. At a rate of speed greater than reasonable or proper under all the surrounding 

circumstances. 

b. In a careless, reckless, or negligent manner so as to endanger the person or property of 

another or to cause injury or damage to another person or the property of another 

person. 

c. While under the influence of intoxicating liquor or a controlled substance. 

d. Without a lighted headlamp and taillamp except when used by an off-highway vehicle 

instructor during a certified off-highway vehicle safety training course. 

e. In any tree nursery or planting in a manner that damages growing stock. 

f. Without a manufacturer-installed or equivalent muffler in good working order and 

connected to the off-highway vehicle's exhaust system. 

g. On any private land where the private land is posted prohibiting trespassing. The name 

and address of the person posting the land and the date of posting must appear on each 

sign in legible characters. The posted signs must be readable from outside the land and 

be placed conspicuously at a distance of not more than eight hundred eighty yards 

[804.68 meters] apart. Land entirely enclosed by a fence or other enclosure is 

sufficiently posted by posting of these signs at or on all gates through the fence or 

enclosure. 

6. Except as provided in section 39-29-10, an individual may not operate an off-highway 

vehicle without having in possession a valid driver's license or permit. 

7. When an off-highway vehicle is operated within the right of way of any road, street, or 

highway, during times or conditions that warrant the use of lights by other motor vehicles, 

the off-highway vehicle must be operated in the same direction as the direction of other 

motor vehicles traveling on the side of the roadway immediately adjacent to the side of the 

right of way traveled by the off-highway vehicle. 

8. An individual may not operate an off-highway vehicle within the right of way of any 

highway while towing a sled, skid, or other vehicle, unless the object towed is connected to 

the off-highway vehicle by a hinged swivel and secure hitch. 

9. An individual under the age of eighteen years may not operate, ride, or otherwise be 

propelled on an off-highway vehicle unless the person wears a safety helmet meeting 

United States department of transportation standards. 

10. An operator of an off-highway vehicle may not carry a passenger while operating the 

vehicle unless the off-highway vehicle is equipped and recommended by the manufacturer 

to carry a passenger and the passenger is carried as recommended by the manufacturer. 

11. Unless otherwise provided by law, an off-highway vehicle may be operated on an 

aggregate road surface only when designated as part of an active off-highway vehicle trail 

by the managing entity. 

12. A person who is performing pest control or survey work for a political subdivision may 

operate an all-terrain vehicle on the bottom, backslope, inside slope, and shoulder of a 

highway other than a controlled-access highway. 

 



Section 105-1-6 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 105-1-6.  Vehicle parking. 

 

Subsection (m) is added to Section 105-1-6 to read: 

 

(m) Commercial vehicles in residential districts.  Parking of commercial vehicles weighing in 

excess of 2.5 tons in residential districts is not allowed, except for deliveries. 

 

Section 105-4-4 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 105-4-4.  F Floodplain District. 

 

(a) Statutory authorization, findings of fact, purpose, and objectives. 

 

(1) Statutory authorization.  This section is adopted pursuant to the provisions of N.D.C.C. 

chs. 40-47 and 61-16.2 to provide regulations designed to promote the public health, safety 

and general welfare of the citizens of the city.  Therefore, the Board of City 

Commissioners of the City of Mandan does ordain as provided in this section. 

 

(2) Findings of fact. 

 

a. The flood hazard areas of the city and its extraterritorial jurisdiction are subject to 

periodic inundation which can endanger life, result in loss of property, create health 

and safety hazards, disrupt commerce and governmental services, cause 

extraordinary public expenditures for flood protection and relief, and impair the tax 

base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety, and general welfare. 

 

b. Flood losses can occur due to increases in flood heights and velocities caused by 

the cumulative effect of obstructions in the special flood hazard areas.  

Inadequately floodproofed, elevated or otherwise unprotected structures also 

contribute to flood losses. 

 

(3) Statement of purpose.  It is the purpose of this section to promote the public health, safety, 

and general welfare, and to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in 

specific areas by provisions designed to: 

 

a. Protect human life and health; 

 

b. Minimize expenditure of public money for costly flood control projects; 

 

c. Minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding that are 

generally undertaken at the expense of the general public; 

 

d. Minimize prolonged business interruptions; 

 



e. Minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, 

electric, telephone and sewer lines, streets and bridges that are located in special 

flood hazard areas; 

 

f. Help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the second use and development of 

special flood hazard areas so as to minimize future flood blight areas; 

 

g. Ensure that potential buyers are notified that property is in a special flood  hazard 

area; and 

 

h. Ensure that those who occupy the special flood hazard areas assume responsibility 

for their actions. 

 

(4) Methods of reducing flood losses.  In order to accomplish its purposes, this section 

includes methods and provisions for: 

 

a. Restricting or prohibiting uses which are dangerous to health, safety and property 

due to water or erosion hazards, or which cause damaging increases in erosion, 

flood heights or flood velocities; 

 

b. Requiring that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities which serve such uses, 

be protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction; 

 

c. Controlling the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels and natural 

protective barriers which help accommodate or channel flood waters; 

 

d. Controlling filling, grading, dredging and other development which may increase 

flood damage; and 

 

e. Preventing or regulating the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally 

divert flood waters or which may increase flood hazards in other areas. 

 

(b) Definitions.  The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall 

have the meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a 

different meaning: 

 

Appeal means a request for a review of the flood administrator’s interpretation of any 

provision of this section or a request for a variance. 

 

Base flood or 100-year flood means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or 

exceeded in any given year. 

 

Base Flood Elevation (BFE) means the height of the base flood or 100-year flood, usually in 

feet above mean sea level. 

 

Basement means any area of the building having its floor below ground level on all sides. 



 

Best Available Data (BAD) means water elevation information from any source used to 

estimate or determine a base flood elevation (i.e. high water mark). 

 

Conveyance or hydraulic conveyance means a geometric characteristic of a river or 

watercourse at a given point that determines the flow-carrying capacity at that point. 

 

Development means any man-made change to land, including, but not limited to, buildings or 

other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations 

located within a special flood hazard area. 

 

Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) means the official map issued by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency where special flood hazard areas are designated as Zone A, AE, AO, AH, 

A1-A30 or A-99. 

 

Flood Insurance Study (FIS) means the official report provided by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency that includes flood profiles, the Flood Insurance Rate Map, and the water 

surface elevation of the base flood. 

 

Flood or flooding means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation 

of normally dry land areas from the overflow of inland or tidal waters and/or from the unusual and 

rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source. 

 

Floodproofing (Dry) means protection provided a portion of a structure to a specific elevation 

in relation to the base flood elevation, together with attendant utilities and sanitary facilities, which 

is watertight with walls that are substantially impermeable to the passage of water. 

 

Floodway or regulatory floodway means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the 

adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively 

increasing the water surface elevation more than one foot. 

 

Lowest floor means the lowest floor of a structure, including the basement. 

 

Manufactured home means a structure transportable in one or more sections, built on a 

permanent chassis and designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when connected 

to the required utilities.  The term “manufactured home” does not include a recreational vehicle or 

travel trailer but does include a mobile home. 

 

Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land 

divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 

 

New construction means structures for which the start of construction commenced on or after 

the effective date of the ordinance from which this section is derived. 

 

Reasonably safe from flooding means base flood waters will not inundate the land or damage 

structures and that any subsurface waters related to the base flood will not damage existing or 



proposed buildings. 

 

Recreational vehicle means a vehicle which is: 

 

(1) Built on a single chassis. 

 

(2) 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projections. 

 

(3) Designed to be self-propelled or towable by a light duty truck. 

 

(4) Designed for use as temporary living quarters for recreational camping, travel, or seasonal 

use, including, but not limited to, travel trailers, trailers on wheels, park-model trailers, and 

other similar vehicles. 

 

Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) means an area of land that would be inundated by a flood 

having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. 

 

Start of construction means and includes substantial improvement and means the date the 

building permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, 

placement, or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date.  The actual start means 

the first placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or 

footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of 

excavation or the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation.  Permanent construction 

does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; the installation of streets or 

walkways; excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary 

forms; or the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not 

occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. 

 

Structure means a walled and roofed building, including a manufactured home, and gas or 

liquid storage tanks that are primarily above ground. 

 

Substantial damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of 

restoring the building to its pre-damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market 

value of the structure before the damage occurred. 

 

Substantial improvement means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a structure, the 

cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure either before the 

improvement or repair is started or, if the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before 

the damage occurred.  For the purposes of this definition substantial improvement is considered 

to occur when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building 

commences, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the structure.  The 

term does not include either any project for improvement of a structure to comply with existing 

state or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which are solely necessary to assure 

safe living conditions; or any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic 

Places or a State Inventory of Historic Places. 

 



Variance means a grant of relief from the requirements of this section which permits 

construction in a manner that would otherwise be prohibited by this section. 

 

(c) General provisions. 

 

(1) Lands to which this section applies.  This section shall apply to all areas of special flood 

hazard within the jurisdiction of the city. 

 

(2) Basis for establishing the special flood hazard areas.  The scientific and engineering 

report entitled "The Flood Insurance Study for the City of Mandan, North Dakota” and 

accompanying Flood Insurance Rate Maps with an effective date of October 16, 2015, 

prepared by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, that identifies the special flood 

hazard areas within the city is hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this 

section.  The scientific and engineering report entitled "The Flood Insurance Study for 

Morton County, North Dakota” and accompanying Flood Insurance Rate Maps with an 

effective date of October 16, 2015, prepared by the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, that identifies the special flood hazard areas within the city’s extraterritorial 

jurisdiction is hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this section.  The 

Flood Insurance Studies are on file at City Hall, 205 2nd Ave. NW, Mandan, North Dakota. 

 

(3) Compliance.  No structure or land shall hereafter be constructed, located, extended, 

converted, or altered without full compliance with the terms of this section and other 

applicable regulations. 

 

(4) Greater restrictions.  This section is not intended to repeal, remedy or impair any existing 

easements, covenants or deed restrictions.  However, where this section and another 

section, ordinance, easement, covenant, or deed restriction conflict or overlap, whichever 

imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail. 

 

(5) Interpretation.  In the interpretation and application of this section, all provisions shall be: 

 

a. Considered as minimum requirements; 

 

b. Liberally construed in favor of the city; and 

 

c. Deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state statutes. 

 

(6) Warning and disclaimer of liability.  The degree of flood protection required by this 

section is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and 

engineering considerations.  Larger floods can and will occur on rare occasions.  Flood 

heights may be increased by manmade or natural causes.  This section does not imply that 

land outside the special flood hazard areas or uses permitted within such areas will be free 

from flooding or flood damages.  This section shall not create liability on the part of the 

city, any officer or employee thereof, or the Federal Emergency Management Agency, for 

any flood damages that result from reliance on this section or any administrative decision 

lawfully made thereunder. 



 

(d) Administration. 

 

(1) Development permit required.  A development permit shall be obtained before any earth 

moving or structure construction begins within any special flood hazard area established in 

subsections (c)(2) or (d)(3)(b) of this section.  Application for a development permit shall 

be made on forms furnished by the city and may include, but not be limited to, plans in 

duplicate drawn to scale showing the nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the 

area in question; existing or proposed structures, fill storage materials and drainage 

facilities; and the location of the foregoing.  Specifically, the following information is 

required: 

 

a. Elevation, in relation to mean sea level, of the lowest floor of all structures; 

 

b. Elevation, in relation to mean sea level, to which any structure has been 

floodproofed; 

 

c. Certification by a registered professional engineer or architect that the 

floodproofing methods for any non-residential structure meet the floodproofing 

criteria in subsection (e)(2)(b) of this section; and 

 

d. Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a 

result of proposed development. 

 

(2) Designation of the flood administrator.  The city administrator shall designate a city staff 

person or contract with a qualified company or person to administer and implement this 

section.  The flood administrator shall be responsible for granting or denying development 

permit applications in accordance with the provisions of this section. 

 

(3) Duties and responsibilities of the flood administrator.  Duties of the flood administrator 

shall include, but not be limited to: 

 

a. Application review. 

 

1. Review all development applications to determine that the requirements of 

this section have been satisfied. 

 

2. Review all development applications to determine that all necessary 

permits have been obtained from those federal, state, or local governmental 

agencies from which prior approval is required. 

 

3. Review all development applications to determine if the proposed 

development is located in the floodway.  If located in the floodway, assure 

that the encroachment provisions of subsection (e)(3)(a) are met. 

 

b. Use of other base flood data.  When base flood elevation data has not been 



provided in accordance with subsection (c)(2) of this section, the flood 

administrator shall obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation 

data and floodway data available from a federal, state, or other source, as criteria 

for requiring that new construction, substantial improvements or other 

development in the floodplain are administered in accordance with subsection 

(e)(2) of this section. 

 

c. Information to be obtained and maintained. 

 

1. Obtain and record the actual elevation, in relation to mean sea level, of the 

lowest floor of all new or substantially improved structures.  Document 

whether or not the structure contains a basement. 

 

2. For all new or substantially improved floodproofed structures: 

 

(i) Obtain and record the actual elevation, in relation to mean sea level, 

to which the structure has been floodproofed; 

 

(ii) Record the base flood elevation, in relation to mean sea level, of the 

site; and 

 

(iii) Maintain the floodproofing certifications required in subsection 

(d)(1)c of this section. 

 

3. Maintain for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of 

this section. 

 

d. Alteration of watercourses.  The flood administrator shall: 

 

1. Notify nearby communities, water resource districts and the North Dakota 

State Engineer, as necessary, prior to any alteration or relocation of a 

watercourse, and submit evidence of such notification to the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency. 

 

2. Require that maintenance is provided within the altered or relocated portion 

of said watercourse so that the flood carrying capacity is not diminished; 

and 

 

3. Notify the appropriate water resource district prior to removal or placement 

of fill within two hundred feet of the bank of a body of water during normal 

flow or stage. 

 

e. Interpretation of flood insurance rate map (FIRM) boundaries.  Make 

interpretation, where needed, as to the exact location of the boundaries of the 

special flood hazard areas.  The flood administrator shall document in writing the 

procedure followed and the criteria applied in making the interpretation.  The 



person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given 30 days to appeal the 

interpretation as provided in subsection (d)(4) of this section. 

 

(4) Appeal and variance procedure. 

 

a. Board of Adjustment. 

 

1. The board of adjustment shall hear and decide appeals and requests for 

variances from the requirements of this section. 

 

2. The board of adjustment shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged 

that there is an error in any requirement, decision, or determination made by 

the flood administrator in the enforcement or administration of this section. 

 

3. Those aggrieved by the decision of the board of adjustment, or any 

taxpayer, may appeal such decision to the district court as provided in 

N.D.C.C. § 40-47-11. 

 

4. In passing upon such appeals, the board of adjustment shall consider all 

technical evaluations, all relevant factors, standards specified in other 

sections of this code; and: 

 

(i) The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the 

injury of others; 

 

(ii) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage; 

 

(iii) The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood 

damage and the effect of such damage on the individual owner; 

 

(iv) The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to 

the community; 

 

(v) The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where 

applicable; 

 

(vi) The availability of alternative locations for the proposed use which 

are not subject to flooding or erosion damage; 

 

(vii) The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated 

development; 

 

(viii) The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and 

floodplain management program for that area; 

 

(ix) The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary 



and emergency vehicles; 

 

(x) The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment 

transport of the floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if 

applicable, expected at the site; and 

 

(xi) The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood 

conditions, including maintenance and repair of public utilities and 

facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems, and 

streets and bridges. 

 

b. Variances. 

 

1. Variances may be issued for new construction and substantial 

improvements to be erected on a lot of one-half acre or less in size 

contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing structures constructed 

below the base flood level, provided that the items in subsection (d)(4)a.4 of 

this section have been fully considered.  As the lot size increases beyond 

one-half acre, the technical justification required for issuing the variance 

increases. 

 

2. Upon consideration of the factors in subsection (d)(4)a.4 of this section and 

the purposes of this section, the board of adjustment may attach such 

conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to further the 

purposes of this section. 

 

c. Conditions for variances. 

 

1. Variances may be issued for the reconstruction, rehabilitation, or 

restoration of structures listed on the National Register of Historic Places or 

the State Inventory of Historic Places, without regard to the procedures set 

forth in the remainder of this section. 

 

2. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any 

increase in flood levels during the base flood discharge would result. 

 

3. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the 

minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief. 

 

4. Variances shall only be issued upon: 

 

(i) A showing of good and sufficient cause; 

 

(ii) A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in 

exceptional hardship to the applicant; and 

 



(iii) A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in 

increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, cause 

fraud on or victimization of the public as identified in subsection 

(d)(4)a.4 of this section, or conflict with existing local laws or 

ordinances. 

 

5. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 

that the structure will be permitted to be built with a lowest floor elevation 

below the base flood elevation and that the cost of flood insurance will be 

commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest 

floor elevation. 

 

d. Documentation and notification.  The flood administrator shall maintain the 

records of all appeal actions and report any variances to the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency upon request 

 

(e) Provisions for flood hazard reduction. 

 

(1) General standards.  In all areas of special flood hazard, the following standards are 

required: 

 

a. Anchoring. 

 

1. All new construction and substantial improvements, including additions, 

shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the 

structure. 

 

2. All manufactured homes must be elevated and anchored to resist flotation, 

collapse or lateral movement.  Methods of anchoring may include, but are 

not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.  This 

requirement is in addition to applicable State and local anchoring 

requirements for resisting wind forces. 

 

b. Construction materials and methods. 

 

1. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed 

with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage. 

 

2. All new and substantial improvements shall be constructed using methods 

and practices that minimize flood damage. 

 

3. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed 

with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing and air conditioning 

equipment and other service facilities that are designed or located so as to 

prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during 

conditions of flooding. 



 

c. Utilities. 

 

1. All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to 

minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system; 

 

2. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to 

minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and 

discharge from the systems into flood waters; and 

 

3. On-site waste disposal systems shall be located to avoid impairment to them 

or contamination from them during flooding. 

 

d. Subdivision proposals. 

 

1. All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize 

flood damage; 

 

2. All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as 

sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems located and constructed to 

minimize flood damage; 

 

3. All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce 

exposure to flood damage; and 

 

4. Base flood elevation data shall be provided for all subdivision proposals. 

 

(2) Specific standards.  In all areas of special flood hazard where base flood elevation data 

have been provided as set forth in subsections (c)(2) or (d)(3)(b) of this section, the 

following provisions are required: 

 

a. Residential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement of any 

residential structure shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to at 

least two feet above the base flood elevation. 

 

b. Nonresidential construction.  Construction and substantial improvement of any 

nonresidential structure shall either have the lowest floor, including basement, 

elevated to at least one foot above the base flood elevation or, together with 

attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall: 

 

1. Be floodproofed to at least two feet above the base flood elevation, so that 

below this elevation the structure is watertight with walls substantially 

impermeable to the passage of water; 

 

2. Have structural components capable of resisting hydrostatic and 

hydrodynamic loads and effects of buoyancy; and 



 

3. Be certified in a stamped, signed and dated document by a registered 

professional engineer or architect that the standards of this subsection are 

satisfied. 

 

c. Manufactured Homes. 

 

1. Manufactured homes shall be anchored in accordance with subsection 

(e)(1)a,2 of this section. 

 

2. All manufactured homes or those to be substantially improved shall be 

elevated on a permanent foundation such that the lowest floor of the 

manufactured home is elevated to at least two feet above the base flood 

elevation, and is securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation 

system. 

 

(3) Floodways.  Located within the special flood hazard areas established in subsection (c)(2) 

of this section are areas designated as floodways.  Since the floodway is an extremely 

hazardous area due to the velocity of flood waters which carry debris, potential projectiles, 

and erosion potential, the following provisions apply: 

 

a. Prohibit encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements 

and other development, unless certification by a registered professional engineer or 

architect is provided demonstrating that encroachments will not result in any 

increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood discharge. 

 

b. If subsection (e)(3)a of this section is satisfied, all new construction and substantial 

improvements shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions 

of subsection (e) of this section. 

 

(f) Violations; penalties. 

 

(1) Violation of the provisions of this section or failure to comply with any of its requirements, 

including violations on conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of 

variances, shall constitute a Class B misdemeanor.  Any person who violates this section 

or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished 

as specified in Section 1-9 of this code.  In addition, the defendant may be required to pay 

costs and expenses involved in the case.  Each day such violation continues shall be 

considered a separate offense. 

 

(2) Nothing herein contained shall prevent the city from taking such other lawful action as is 

necessary to prevent or remedy any violation. 

 

Section 111-2-1 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 111-2-1.  Adoption of code. 



 

There is adopted by reference that certain building code known as the state building code, as 

developed by the state, as now or hereafter amended.  The purpose of the building code is to 

establish rules and regulations of erection, construction, enlargement, alteration, repair, moving, 

removal, demolition, conversion, occupancy, equipment, uses, height, area, and maintenance of 

buildings and structures.  A copy of the current edition of the state building code shall be kept on 

file in the offices of the building official.  The State Building Code, adopted by the provisions of 

this chapter, and all subsequent editions, is amended, changed and altered as follows: 

 

(1) IRC Section 108.2 Schedule of Permit Fees, is amended by adding the following sentence 

to the end of the paragraph; 

 

The fees for any building permit, amendments to permits or required inspections shall be 

established by resolution of the Board of City Commissioners. 

 

(2) IBC Section 1603.1.3 Roof snow load is amended to insert a minimum snow load design 

requirement of thirty pounds per square foot. 

 

(3) Section 1807 Footings and Foundations of the International Building Code, as adopted by 

the State Building Code, is amended by adding the following requirements relating to 

Minimum Requirements for Foundations for Stud Bearing Walls (as depicted in the table 

below), which shall supersede any of the alternate foundation provisions of Section 1807 

of the International Building Code.  Those provisions of Section 1807 of the International 

Building Code which conflict with the minimum requirements established herein by the 

City may apply, provided the building official approves their application due to unique soil 

conditions or building materials and provides a written statement verifying the applicable 

section. 

 

TABLE NO. 1807.1.6.2(1) 

FOUNDATIONS FOR STUD BEARING WALLS 

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 

 

NUMBER 

OF 

STORIES 

THICKNESS OF 

FOUNDATION WALL 

WIDTH OF 

FOOTINGS 

THICKNESS 

OF 

FOOTINGS 

DEPTH OF 

FOUNDATION 

BELOW GRADE 

 (Inches) (Inches) (Inches) (Feet) 

 Concrete Unit 

Masonry 

   

1 8 8 16 8 4 

2 8 8 16 8 4 

3 10 10 18 10 4 

 

 

(4) Foundation walls up to four feet high shall be eight inches wide and reinforced with (2) No. 

4 rebar. 

 



(5) Foundation walls over four feet high up to 10 feet high shall be reinforced as follows:  

horizontal rebar--two No. 4 rebar within twelve inches of top of foundation, two No. 4 

rebar in the lowest twelve inches of the wall, one No. 4 rebar in the middle one-third of the 

wall height.  Any foundation wall that exceeds 10 foot in height needs plans stamped by 

an engineer. 

 

(6) All footings shall bear on undisturbed soil or engineered fill and be designed to distribute 

sufficiently the super-imposed loads to the particular type of soil upon which they bear and 

shall be reinforced with a minimum of (2) No. 4 rebar continuous. 

 

(7) Detached garage foundations may be constructed on concrete slabs, providing such slabs 

are at least four inches thick and thickened to at least twelve inches at all edges, and such 

thickened edges having a horizontal width of at least eight inches at their bottom and shall 

be reinforced with a minimum of (2) No. 4 rebar. 

 

(8) In addition to all other requirements, each building permit shall require that off-street 

parking areas and the driveways leading from the street thereto shall be graded and drained 

to dispose of all surface water accumulated within the area and paved with Portland 

cement, concrete or plant-mixed bituminous surface in accordance with the specifications 

therefore promulgated by the city engineer. 

 

(9) For determining value of a construction job for purposes of calculating a permit fee, the 

most current chart from the “International Code Council Building Valuation Data” shall be 

used with the following additions to the chart: 

 

a. U Utility: Carports, Decks, Pole Barns, Sheds, Misc. = ½ value of Utility line 

b. Crawl Space = $15.00 per sq. ft. 

c. Finished Basement = $30.00 per sq. ft. 

d. Single and Two Family second story = ½ value of main cost per sq. ft. 

e. Manufactured Home: 

i. New on owned lot – Actual cost of home value 

ii. Used – under 10 yrs. Old = $50.00 per sq. ft. 

iii. Used – Over 10 yrs. Old = $25.00 per sq. ft. 

iv. MH Court – set permit fee by resolution. 

 

Section 111-2-10 is amended to read: 

 

Sec. 111-2-10.  Building construction rules. 

 

In addition to the provisions of this chapter, the following provisions shall apply to all work in 

connection with the erection, alteration, removal or demolition of buildings or structures and shall 

supersede any conflicting provisions of the State Building Code, as adopted by this chapter. 

 

(1) A Storm Water Management Plan must be approved by the Engineering and Planning 

Department before any land development or land disturbing is done. 

 



(2) A building Permit will not be issued until street curb and gutter and a street surface 

approved by the City Engineering and Planning Department is in place. 

 

(3) Temporary street signs, approved by the Fire Chief, shall be installed to identify all streets 

for Emergency Services before a building permit is issued. 

 

(4) All individual construction sites shall be required to have construction garbage containers 

or dumpsters on site to keep materials and garbage from blowing off site.  On windy days 

garbage containers shall be tarped. 

 

(5) All Fire Hydrants shall be in working order. 

 

(6) No Certificate of Occupancy will be issued until completion of at least the first lift of 

asphalt pavement or concrete street and concrete driveway apron. 

 

(7) All construction sites shall have the Building Permit displayed at all times.  Address 

numbers shall be painted on wall sheathing after the building is framed. 

 

(8) Suitable toilet facilities shall be provided for the use of workers during the construction of 

any building.  These toilet facilities shall be maintained in sanitary condition. 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 1208 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AND REENACT SECTION 21-03-02 

OF THE MANDAN CODE OF ORDINANCES RELATING TO 

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES AND ZONING MAP. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED By the Board of City Commissioners of the City of Mandan, 

Morton County, North Dakota, as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.  AMENDMENT.  Section 21-03-02 of the Mandan Code of Ordinances is 

amended to read as follows: 

 

The Lakewood 8th Addition to the City of Mandan, Morton County, North 

Dakota shall be excluded from the A district and included in the R7 and R3.2 districts.  

Lot 1, Block 1; Lots 1-3, Block 2 and Lots 1-5, Block 4 shall be zoned R7.  Lots 4-39, 

Block 2 and Lots 1-22, Block 3 shall be zoned R3.2. 

 

SECTION 2.  RE-ENACTMENT.  Section 21-03-02 of the Mandan Code of 

Ordinances is hereby re-enacted as amended.  The city principal planner is authorized and 

directed to make the necessary changes upon the official zoning map of the city in 

accordance with this section.   

 

 

________________________________ 

President, Board of City Commissioners 

Attest: 

 

________________________________                                             

City Administrator 

 

Public Hearing:      July 7, 2015   

First Consideration:      July 21, 2015   

Second Consideration and Final Consideration:  July 21, 2015   

Recording Date:      ___________    

 

 

Resolutions and Ordinances No. 2 



Board of City Commissioners 

Agenda Documentation 

Meeting Date: July 21, 2015 

Subject: Rezoning for Lakewood 8th Addition 

Page 2 of 2 

 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 1212 

 

 An Ordinance to Amend and Re-enact  

 Section 20-14-23(7) of the Mandan Code of Ordinances  

Relating to Parking of Certain Vehicles and  

Unattached Trailers Restricted 

 

Be it Ordained by the Board of City Commissioners as follows: 

 

Section 20-14-23 of the Mandan Code of Ordinances is hereby amended and 

re-enacted to read as follows: 

 

Section 20-14-23 Parking of Certain Vehicles and Unattached Trailers Restricted 

   

 7. A person may park or leave standing any trailer or vehicle described in 

subsections 5 and 6 of this section on a street for the limited purpose of loading and 

unloading provided that the period of loading and unloading does not exceed twelve  

hours.  For the time from May 15
th

 to September 15
th

 a trailer or vehicle may be parked on 

a street for a period not to exceed seventy-two hours. 

 

 

By:___________________________________ 

President, Board of City Commissioners  

 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

City Administrator 

 

 

 

First Consideration:   July 7, 2015   

Second Consideration  

 and Final Passage:  July 21, 2015   

Res. & Ord. No. 3 


	Agenda July 21, 2015
	Minutes July 7, 2015
	Public Hearing - Adoption of new City Code - Ord. No. 1207
	Bids related to improvements to Beanery
	Variance for 1501 4th Ave. NE
	Pledge of Securities Reports
	Mandan Senior Center road closure requests
	Engineering Service Agreement with Stantec for SID 199
	Safe Routes to Schools Sidewalk Project Engineering Service Supplementary Agreement
	Advertisement of bids for sale of old meters
	Bond Counsel Agreement
	Extra Mile Day Proclamation
	Law Enforcement Center (LEC) Improvement requests
	New Corporation liquor license application
	New Rules and Regulations at Mandan Union Cemetery - proposed by Cemetery Task Force Cmte.
	Introduction of new Police Department employees
	Appointment of Morton Mandan Public Library (MMPL) Board of Trustees members
	Recycling proposal options
	Joint Powers Agreement, City & Park District
	Ord. 1207 - Adopting New City Code
	Ord. 1208 Lakewood 8th Rezoning
	Ord. 1212 Parking of Certain Vehicles and Unattached Trailers restricted



